Diversity and Mechanisms of State-Dependent Regulation of Synaptic Plasticity

by

Carlos Puentes-Mestril

A dissertation submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy (Neuroscience) in the University of Michigan 2020

Doctoral Committee:

Associate Professor Sara J. Aton, Chair Professor Anthony Hudetz Professor Geoff Murphy Assistant Professor Natalie Tronson Professor Michael Sutton Carlos Puentes-Mestril

puentesm@umich.edu

ORCID iD: 0000-0002-8733-7727

© Carlos Puentes-Mestril 2020

DEDICATION

I dedicate this work to my family, whose sacrifices and unswerving support have made all my accomplishments possible. To my parents, Carlos and Ileana, who left behind their lives in Cuba so that their children could have greater opportunities. To my grandparents, Universo and Ancy Isabel, who soon followed and have been bedrocks of love. To my aunt, Mariuska, whose enthusiasm and selflessness have been constant sources of inspiration. And to my sister, whose tenacity and strong will are enviable. This work is a testament to their love.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

There are many whose support have made my dissertation possible. I would first like to acknowledge my advisor, Sara J. Aton, for her incredible mentorship. Her kindness and empathy were indispensable in keeping me on course. Her scientific intuitiveness is bar none and a constant source of inspiration. I would also like to acknowledge my dissertation committee, Sara J. Aton, Natalie Tronson, Geoff Murphy, Anthony Hudetz, and Michael Sutton, for their insightful advice and guidance while completing my dissertation work. And all members of the Aton Lab, whose comradery and collaboration kept me grounded and forward moving.

I would also like to acknowledge the friends and family that comprised my support structure. My friends, who not only made graduate school fun but whose support was critical during stressful times. My family, whose continual love and support made this work a possibility to begin with. And lastly, my girlfriend, Lijing, whose support, love, and encouragement kept me afloat and focused during stressful times. Without her selflessness and kindness, I would not have finished this dissertation.

I am lucky to have had you all as part of my graduate school career.

iii

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Dedication	ii	
Acknowledgements	iii	
List of Abbreviations	vii	
List of Figures	ix	
List of Tables	xi	
Abstract	xii	
CHAPTER I. Introduction		
1.1 The role of sleep in cognition: an unsolved mystery	1	
1.2 The synaptic homeostasis hypothesis	2	
1.3 A counterpoint to SHY - a role for synaptic strengthening in the cognitive benefits of sleep	25	
1.4 The function of sleep-dependent "replay" of network activity patterns	35	
1.5 Summary, future directions, and dissertation outline	39	
1.6 References	44	
CHAPTER II. Sleep Loss Drives Brain Region- and Cell Type-Specific Alterations in Ribosome-Associated Transcripts Involved in Synaptic Plasticity and Cellular Timekeeping		

2.1 Abstract	57
2.2 Introduction	58
2.3 Materials and Methods	60
2.4 Results: TRAP-based characterization of ribosome-associated transcripts in Camk2a+ and PV+ neuronal populations	67

2.5 Results: SD-driven changes in ribosome-associated plasticity-related mRNAs vary with cell type and brain structure	68
2.6 Results: SD differentially affects abundance of ribosome-associated mRNAs encoding activity-dependent transcription regulators based on cell type in hippocampus vs. neocortex	72
2.7 Results: Subregion- and layer-specific effects of SD on mRNA abundance in PV+ and non-PV+ neurons	72
2.8 Results: Cell type- and region-specific effects of SD on ribosome-associated transcripts involved in circadian timekeeping	81
2.9 Discussion	84
2.10 Supplementary Material	95
2.11 References	98

CHAPTER III. How Rhythms of the Sleeping Brain Tune Memory and Synaptic Plasticity

3.1 Abstract	104
3.2 Introduction: Crescendo or diminuendo? The role of sleep in tuning synaptic strength in the brain	104
3.3 A symphony of NREM sleep rhythms, and their role in synaptic plasticity	108
3.4 Adagio: Slow wave activity (SWA)	110
3.5 Messa di voce: Thalamocortical sleep spindles	114
3.6 Molto vivace: Hippocampal sharp wave ripples (SWRs)	117
3.7 Polymeter: Nested NREM rhythms	119
3.8 Cambiare: REM	122
3.9 Alla marcia: Hippocampal theta rhythm	124
3.10 Bravura: Pontine-geniculate-occipital (PGO) waves	127
3.11 How the brain listens to sleep's symphony of rhythms - toward a unifying theory for sleep's role in synaptic plasticity	128

3.12 References

CHAPTER IV. Effects of NREM Slow Wave Activity on Neocortical Gene Expression and Visual Memory Consolidation

4.1 Abstract	146
4.2 Introduction	146
4.3 Materials and Methods	150
4.4 Results: Mice constitutively expressing ChR2 show sleep-like decreases in plasticity-related gene expression after optogenetic generation of SWA	153
4.5 Results: Virally-transduced mice show no changes in gene expression associated with optogenetic generation of SWA	155
4.6 Optogenetic mimicry of SWA alters visual recognition memory	159
4.7 Discussion	164
4.8 References	172
CHAPTER V. Conclusion	
5.1 Cell type- and region-specific variation in SD transcript regulation	176
5.2 Sleep brain rhythm regulation of plasticity-regulated transcripts and memory storage	184
5.3 Conclusion	191
5.4 References	193

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

- **REM** Rapid Eye Movement
- **NREM** Non-Rapid Eye Movement
- SWS Slow Wave Sleep
- **EEG** Electroencephalogram
- EMG Electromyogram
- LFP Local Field Potential
- LGN Lateral Geniculate Nucleus
- **TRN** Thalamic Reticular Nucleus
- V1 Primary Visual Cortex
- TC Thalamocortical
- **CT** Corticothalamic
- SHY Synaptic Homeostasis Hypothesis
- **OSRP** Orientation Specific Response Potentiation
- LTP Long Term Potentiation
- **SD** Sleep Deprivation
- PCA Principal Components Analysis
- **PSD** Power Spectral Density
- **FR** Firing Rate
- **CT0/CT12** Circadian Time 0 / Circadian Time 12
- ChR2 Channelrhodopsin-2

ArchT	Archaerhodopsin-T
GFP	Green Fluorescent Protein
TRAP	Translating Ribosome Affinity Purification
ZT0/ZT12	Zeitgeber Time 0/12
НС	Hippocampus
DG	Dentate Gyrus
SWA	Slow Wave Activity

LIST OF FIGURES

CHAPTER I

1.1 Observed pre- and post-synaptic changes attributed to sleep-dependent synaptic weakening, and potential sleep-dependent mechanisms.	24
1.2 Observed pre- and post-synaptic changes attributed to sleep-dependent synaptic strengthening, and potential sleep-dependent mechanisms.	34
CHAPTER II	
2.1 Experimental design and validation of TRAP	69
2.2 SD increases ribosome-associated plasticity effector transcripts in a cell type- and region-specific manner.	71
2.3 SD increases ribosome-associated transcripts encoding immediate-early transcription regulators in a cell type- and region-specific manner.	73
2.4 Layer-specific induction of IEG expression increases in neocortex after SD	75
2.5 Cell type- and region-specific changes in hippocampal IEG expression after SD	77
2.6 SD increases the proportion of IEG+ PV+ interneurons in neocortex, but not hippocampus	79
2.7 SD alters neuronal Pvalb mean fluorescence intensity in a region- and subregion-specific manner	80
2.8 SD alters ribosome-associated transcripts encoding core clock genes in a cell type and region-specific manner	82
2.9 SD differentially alters circadian clock modifiers in Camk2a+ and PV+ neocortical populations	83
2.S1 Total sleep time in freely-sleeping mice	95

2.S2 Strategy for quantification of fluorescence in situ signals 96

2.S3 Mean <i>Pvalb</i> mRNA expression is similar between freely-sleeping and SD mice	97
CHAPTER III	
3.1 Overview of observed and hypothetical changes to neurons across sleep	107
3.2 Rhythms of NREM sleep, and their effects on neural circuits	109
3.3 Rhythms of REM sleep	126
3.4 Resonance-based mechanisms for sleep-dependent plasticity	130
CHAPTER IV	
4.1 Experimental design	154
4.2 Optogenetic stimulation of neocortex at SWA frequencies offsets SD-driven changes in gene expression	156
4.3 Optogenetic stimulation of neocortex at 0.5 Hz does not alter SD-driven changes in gene expression	157
4.4 Effects of rhythmic light delivery at SWA frequencies in virally-transduced and constitutively-expressing mice	158
4.5 Optogenetic stimulation of neocortex at 1 Hz does not alter SD-driven changes in gene expression in virally-transduced mice	160
4.6 Experimental design for testing effects of SD and SWA on visual recognition memory	162
4.7 Effects of SD and SWA-frequency optogenetic stimulation of V1 on visual recognition memory.	163
CHAPTER V	
5.1 Optogenetic disruption of SWA	188
5.2 Future experimental design	190

LIST OF TABLES

CHAPTER I

1.1. Summary of evidence in support of sleep-associated synaptic weakening, and sleep-associated synaptic strengthening	42
CHAPTER II	
2.1 Housekeeping pairs used for RiboTag conditions	89
2.2 SD induced changes in ribosome-associated transcript abundance within Camk2a:RiboTag mice	90
2.3 SD induced changes in ribosome-associated transcript abundance within PV:RiboTag mice	91
2.4 Primer Designs	92
2.5 Housekeeping stability analysis for Camk2a::RiboTag samples	93
2.6 Housekeeping stability analysis for PV::RiboTag samples	94
CHAPTER IV	

4.1 Housekeeping pairs used for all conditions. Change in gene expression presented as ratio1 and fold change	169
4.2 Effect of SWA mimicry on IEG expression in constitutively expressing and AAV transduced Ntsr1-ChR2 mice	169
4.3 Effect of SWA mimicry on IEG expression in stimulated and non-stimulated hemispheres	170
4.4 Effect of SWA mimicry on IEG expression in mice with and without a history of seizures	171
4.5 Primer designs	171

ABSTRACT

The Synaptic Homeostasis Hypothesis (SHY) posits that a fundamental sleep function lies in regulating synaptic strengths through synaptic weakening. However, the mechanistic details underlying this process, and how extensively it occurs in the mammalian brain, are largely unknown. Studies have focused on specific neocortical regions and excitatory synapses. And it is unclear how inhibitory neurons respond to sleep and sleep loss or whether synapses across all brain regions undergo sleep-dependent weakening. Nevertheless, SHY continues to significantly impact sleep research, with many designing their experiments and interpreting their data under the framework that sleep is a global and uniform process. My thesis work challenges this assumption, working from an overarching hypothesis that sleep dependent synaptic plasticity varies as function of brain region, cell type, and prior experience, and thus pushes the field to consider how sleep may engender divergent plasticity mechanisms across the brain.

In my thesis, I interrogated cell type and region-specific changes in gene expression following sleep deprivation (SD). I used translating ribosome purification (TRAP) to isolate ribosome-associated mRNA from either Camk2a-expressing (excitatory) neurons or parvalbumin-expressing (PV+; inhibitory) interneurons of *ad lib* sleeping or sleep deprived (SD) mice. To look at region-specific changes in transcript abundance after sleep vs. sleep loss, mRNA was isolated from these cell populations in the neocortex and hippocampus. Using quantitative PCR (qPCR), we found significant cell type- and region-specific alterations in immediate early gene (IEG) and clock

xii

transcript abundance following SD. We found hippocampal populations to be substantially less responsive to SD, an effect heightened within parvalbumin cells. We used fluorescence *in situ* hybridization (FISH) on brain tissues from sleeping and sleep deprived mice to quantify changes in IEG expression in parvalbumin (identified by *Pvalb* mRNA expression) and non-parvalbumin (lacking *Pvalb* expression) cells. These results supported the TRAP findings and revealed layer-specific subregional differences in neocortical and hippocampal expression Overall, the data suggests that synaptic weakening across sleep (and strengthening across wake) is a variable phenomenon, dependent on both brain region and cell type.

To test whether slow wave activity (SWA) plays a causal role in sleep dependent synaptic plasticity and visual memory consolidation, I optogenetically stimulated the visual cortices of mice expressing ChR2 in layer 6 corticothalamic neurons (*Ntsr1::ChR2*). Doing so allowed experimental mimicry of SWA in SD mice. I then collected the affected neocortical tissue to determine whether SWA mimicry results in sleep-like activity dependent gene expression. Our preliminary results are inconclusive but promising. While stimulating SD mice constitutively expressing ChR2 blocked SD-driven increases in *Arc* and *Homer1a* expression, we were unable to replicate these findings with AAV-transduced mice. Similarly, while we found that SWA mimicry improved performance of *Ntsr1::ChR2* mice in a sleep dependent visual recognition task, we found no difference in performance between non-stimulated *ad lib* sleep and SD *Ntsr1::ChR2* mice. Nevertheless, SWA mimicry appeared to improve visual recognition, suggesting that SWA mimicry during SD may partially rescue visual memory consolidation.

xiii

My thesis work contributes to the sleep field in two significant ways: (1) it challenges SHY's conception of a global and uniform sleep-associated plasticity mechanism and (2) it provides preliminary causal evidence for the role of SWA in sleep-induced gene expression and visual memory consolidation. In challenging this framework, it suggests that future studies should view sleep effects on the brain as inherently heterogenous, opening new avenues of research.

CHAPTER I

Introduction

<u>Contains excerpts from</u>: **Puentes-Mestril C** & Aton SJ (2017) *Linking network activity to synaptic plasticity during sleep: hypotheses and recent data.* Frontiers in Neural Circuits, 11(61): DOI: 10.3389/fncir.2017.00061

1.1: The role of sleep in cognition: an unsolved mystery.

Nearly a hundred years of behavioral research indicates a role for sleep in human cognition. Short-term (i.e., hours-long) sleep deprivation (SD) is known to lead to deficits in performance on memory, sustained attention, and perceptual tasks in human subjects [1,2]. Longer-term (i.e., days-long) SD can cause profound cognitive disruption [3]. In animal models, various neurocognitive performance deficits have been described following SD [4,5]. This has led to the hypothesis that at least some forms of synaptic plasticity associated with these cognitive processes occur preferentially during sleep. Recent evidence from both animal models and human subjects has supported this idea. For example, both anatomical [6,7] and functional [8,9,10] remodeling of cortical circuitry after a novel experience occurs selectively during sleep, and is blocked by SD.

Thus for neuroscientists, a critical question is: how does sleep promote nervous system plasticity? Addressing this question has proven difficult. First, as we will discuss here, sleep may promote different forms of plasticity under different environmental circumstances. Thus the effects of sleep (and SD) on the brain may vary with the cognitive

demands of an animal's present circumstances. Second, the underlying mechanisms driving sleep-dependent plasticity have been elusive. In part, this is because sleep and wake states alter so many aspects of brain physiology simultaneously - neurotransmission, neuromodulation, transcription, translation, neuronal and network activity, interstitial space and ion concentration, etc. [4]

1.2 The synaptic homeostasis hypothesis

What is the synaptic homeostasis hypothesis? Few hypothetical mechanisms have been proposed with an aim toward explaining the many neurocognitive effects of sleep and SD. One notable exception is the sleep and synaptic homeostasis hypothesis (SHY) [11]. SHY has been proposed as an all-encompassing mechanism to explain why cognitive deficits result from sleep loss. SHY proposes that during wake net synaptic strength increases throughout the brain as a function of experience-dependent plasticity; over time this leads to alterations in energy utilization, reductions in space for further plasticity, and disrupted information processing by neurons. SHY further posits that during sleep, synapses throughout the brain are globally reduced in strength (i.e., "downscaled") to offset wake-associated synaptic potentiation. This process is hypothesized to conserve energy, improve the signal-to-noise ratio in neural circuits, avoid saturation of synaptic strength, and prevent pathological levels of excitation in neurons (e.g., epilepsy); it has thus been touted as "the price of plasticity" [12] by proponents of SHY.

Here we discuss SHY in the context of what is currently known regarding the physiology of the brain during sleep. We will review recent data which either support a

SHY-based mechanism for sleep-dependent plasticity, or provide a potential counterpoint to SHY. We also discuss other hypothetical sleep-specific mechanisms which could support brain plasticity.

What is the evidence for sleep-dependent reductions in synaptic strength? Since SHY was first proposed, data to support the hypothesis have come from biochemical [13], electrophysiological [14], and anatomical [15] studies of the effects of brief SD or ad lib sleep. These data are outlined in **Table 1** and **Figure 1**, and are described in detail below. Gene expression: Early studies that aimed to clarify the functions of sleep in the brain focused on gene expression changes following brief (i.e., hours-long) periods of sleep or SD. These studies assessed changes in mRNA levels in different parts of the brain hypothalamus [16], neocortex [17,18], cerebellum [17], and hippocampus [19] - using microarray analysis. Across these studies, a consistent finding is that the expression of genes involved in RNA, protein, and lipid biosynthetic pathways, the unfolded protein response (UPR), and synaptic plasticity change as a function of sleep and wake. More specifically, sleep is associated with increased expression of genes associated with protein and lipid synthesis, while SD is associated with increased expression of genes involved in mRNA transcription, cellular stress and the UPR. In support of SHY, in many of these studies, sleep decreases and wake increases expression of a subset of genes thought to be involved in activity-mediated synaptic plasticity - including arc, cfos, bdnf, narp, and homer1a. More recently, the Allen Brain Institute has made microarray and in situ hybridization data available from numerous regions in sleeping and sleep-deprived animals, revealing a more complex picture of gene regulation (i.e., across the entire brain)

during different behavioral states [20]. These gene expression data have been used as support for the idea that activity-mediated synaptic plasticity is widespread in the brain during wake, and generally reduced during sleep.

Synaptic protein expression: A critical unresolved question is whether the levels of protein translated from sleep- and wake-regulated mRNAs are similarly altered by state. Changes in protein levels appear to track transcript level changes in some of the cases where it has been carefully investigated [21,22]. However, state-dependent changes in protein synthesis [23] may compensate for some changes in gene expression during SD. For example, in the hippocampus, levels of *arc* and *hspa5/BiP* mRNA increase across a brief period of SD; however, due to alterations in translation rates during wake, levels of Arc and Hspa5/BiP protein abundance remain unchanged [24].

Despite these caveats, recent studies have found evidence in support of SHY based on synaptic protein expression. In rats, for example, expression of GluA1 and active (phosphorylated) CaMKII is increased by roughly 20-40% in cortical and hippocampal synaptoneurosomes following a 6-h period of SD, relative to a similar period of sleep [13]. A more recent study [25] reported a similar ~20% decrease in GluA1 and GluA2 content in mouse forebrain synaptosomes during the circadian sleep phase relative to the wake phase. Critically, however, the authors were unable to replicate the previously-reported effects of SD on these targets (i.e., synaptic GluA1 and GluA2 levels were identical with sleep, SD, and SD + recovery sleep). Nonetheless, the authors

concluded based on these data that a global downscaling mechanism acts on synapses during sleep [25].

Synaptic morphology: Effects of sleep have also been seen at the level of dendritic structure in the developing brain. Yang and Gan [26] recently used in vivo imaging of layer 5 pyramidal neurons' dendrites in the somatosensory cortex of juvenile mice, to investigate the effects of brief (i.e., 2-h) periods of sleep and SD on spine turnover. The authors found that across 2 h of SD, total dendritic spine/filopodia density increased by ~5%, while across 2 h of ad lib sleep, it decreased by ~5%. The difference was apparently due to increased elimination rates for existing spines and filopodia during sleep (there was no difference in the rate of new spine formation between sleep and wake). More recently, serial scanning electron microscopy (SEM) was used to reconstruct and measure dendritic spines (and apposed axon termini) in layer 2 of primary motor and somatosensory cortex of juvenile mice after periods of wake (spontaneous or enforced) vs. sleep [15]. By quantifying the surface area of thousands of individual contacts between axon terminals and spines, the authors concluded that sleep leads to a small (~10-15%) but significant decrease in synaptic contact area. This effect is heterogeneous, with the largest synaptic contacts unaffected by sleep vs. wake. More modest effects of sleep are seen on the size of dendritic spines themselves (e.g. spine volume), with only a small subset of spines quantified showing any effect of sleep vs. wake. While the functional consequence of these changes remains unclear, proponents of SHY have pointed to these findings as the most direct evidence that synaptic strength is reduced during sleep.

Neuronal activity levels and excitatory/inhibitory balance: Numerous recent studies have used neuronal firing rates in freely behaving animals as a surrogate measure for (or potential functional readout of) synaptic strength. While this measure is indirect, and can also be affected by changes in the intrinsic excitability, many laboratories have used it as a potential indicator of overall synaptic strength [9,14,27,28,29]. For example, Vyazovskiy et al. tracked firing rates of rat barrel cortex neurons across periods of sleep and wake, and across the circadian day [14]. In this study, the authors found that neurons tended to fire at a lower rate at the end of the day (when "sleep pressure" - i.e., the propensity to fall asleep - is low) compared with the beginning of the day (when sleep pressure is high). Assuming that firing rate was directly proportional to (excitatory) synaptic strength, the authors concluded that these data indicated that greater synaptic strength is associated with greater sleep pressure, and that sleep reduces synaptic strength (in support of SHY). Importantly however, while these effects on firing rate were present both at the level of multiunit activity and in single neurons identified by the authors as fast-spiking interneurons, they were not statistically significant in putative pyramidal neurons. Nonetheless, this was the first demonstration of a functional change in neural circuits that could be related to the proposed mechanism in SHY.

If we assume (based on these findings) differential effects of sleep on firing in fastspiking interneurons and pyramidal neurons, one possibility is that excitatory/inhibitory balance (i.e., the ratio of activity in glutamatergic and GABAergic neurons) is the major feature of cortical physiology that changes with sleep pressure. In support of this idea, a recent study of the hippocampal neurons' firing across states found the highest ratio of

interneuron firing -to- pyramidal neuron firing during active wake [30]. Vanini et al. [31] recently demonstrated that the rate of GABA release in the cortex increases steadily across periods of sustained wake. Another recent study found that while glutamate release in rat somatosensory and motor cortex also increases across brief periods of spontaneous wake, with SD, extracellular glutamate levels initially rise (over a period of 30 min- 2 h) and then fall [32]. This supports the idea that sustained wake leads to a gradual decrease in excitatory/inhibitory balance associated with increasing inhibitory neurotransmission.

Synaptic physiology: Additional evidence suggests that synaptic function *per se* may be altered after sleep vs. wake. For example, Liu et al. recently measured the frequency and amplitude of mEPSCs in layer 2/3 pyramidal neurons of juvenile rat and mouse frontal cortex after periods of sleep and wake [33]. While the authors concluded that a 4-h period of SD significantly increased both mEPSC amplitude and frequency, it is worth noting that values for both sleep and wake groups were highly variable. For example, depending on the set of experiments in the study, sleep deprived and sleeping groups' mEPSC frequencies were either quite distinct, or completely overlapped [33]. Furthermore, while frequency changes (presumably reflecting effects on presynaptic release of glutamate) were relatively large, mEPSC amplitude changes (which would be affected by postsynaptic changes in receptor expression) were minimal across sleep vs. wake or SD. However, to date, this is the most direct evidence of functional synaptic weakening across a period of sleep.

Caveats regarding the evidence supporting SHY. The data outlined above has been interpreted by proponents of SHY as evidence of sleep-dependent downscaling, which renormalizes synapses following changes in neural circuits (i.e., synaptic potentiation) caused by wake-associated learning. One major caveat regarding this interpretation is that many of the studies described above (and all of the studies describing anatomical changes) were carried out in adolescent animals (see **Table 1.1**). As is true for humans [34], the rate of synapse elimination in both adolescent rats (corresponding to postnatal weeks 5-9 [35]) and mice (corresponding to postnatal weeks 4-8 [36,37,38]) is maximal, and significantly higher than that seen in the adult brain. An unanswered question is whether sleep plays a special role in promoting developmentally-regulated synapse downscaling and elimination in adolescence, or whether sleep-dependent synaptic effects are present across the lifespan. Effects of sleep on synaptic structure and function in the adult brain are still far from clear.

A second caveat is that in many of the studies supporting SHY, comparisons between sleeping and awake animals are confounded by one of two factors. Either 1) samples come from animals spontaneously asleep or awake at different circadian times, or 2) SD animals used for comparison have been deprived of sleep through environmental enrichment (e.g., novel object or running wheel presentation) that was not provided to sleeping animals (see footnotes in **Table 1.1**).

A third major caveat is that while SHY proponents have used a global downscaling mechanism to explain neural network performance improvement using computational

models [39], biological data have not supported the idea of global downscaling during sleep. For example, cortical and hippocampal neurons show non-uniform changes in firing rate across bouts of sleep [30,40]. Specifically, neurons with the highest baseline firing rates (including interneurons) show decreases in spontaneous activity across periods of NREM sleep, while neurons with lower baseline firing rates show either no change, or an increase, in spontaneous firing across a period of sleep. This indicates that functionally, not all neurons are equally affected by sleep, and it stands to reason that not all synapses are equally affected. Indeed, as described above the available anatomical evidence indicates that only a subset of synapses show a reduction in size across a period of sleep [15]. Based on these new findings, the use of the term "synaptic downscaling" may itself be questionable, as sleep does not appear to have truly global effects with regard to reducing synaptic strength (i.e., "scaling" may not be present).

For this reason, more recent descriptions of SHY have proposed that sleep leads to a decrease in the strength *of only a subset* of synapses, while preserving the strength of others. This preservation would be highly desirable for processes involved in learning and long-term memory formation, where information encoded by neural circuits prior to sleep needs to be retained or reinforced. Given these findings, a critical question is why during sleep, some synapses (and possibly some neurons) are apparently unaffected, while others undergo an apparent reduction in strength.

Finally, in none of these studies were the observed changes linked with sleepdependent cognitive function. The animals under study were housed in standard (i.e.,

non-enriched, and presumably non-challenging) conditions, and were not being trained on specific learning tasks. While sleep affects numerous aspects of cognition (including experience-dependent sensory plasticity and memory consolidation, described in detail below) that are affected by sleep, sleep's effects on these processes have not been linked to synaptic weakening. Thus while converging data suggest that under steady-state conditions, *modest* weakening *of at least some* synapses can been observed in multiple brain areas across periods of sleep, the function of this for information processing in the brain (if any) is still unknown.

What sleep-dependent mechanisms could mediate synaptic weakening? A past major criticism of SHY is the lack of a specific, sleep-dependent, cellular mechanism mediating the observed biochemical and electrophysiological changes [41]. Here we critically evaluate some hypothetical cellular and network mechanisms (see **Figure 1**) for these observations.

Neuromodulatory biasing of spike timing-dependent plasticity (STDP): Recent computational modeling studies from the Tononi lab [42,43] invoked a modified STDP rule to explain reductions in synaptic strength during sleep, and the effects of this process on memory. The STDP rule employed dictated that during learning in the wake state, synapses with temporally correlated pre- and postsynaptic firing would be strengthened, while synapses with non-correlated firing would either be unaffected, or would be weakened. In contrast, during sleep, synapses with temporally correlated pre- and postsynaptic firing would be preserved), while

synapses with non-correlated firing would be weakened. In the earlier study, this was implemented computationally by simply inverting the sign of STDP normally seen the cortex [44]. As implemented in this scheme, the same spike timing would cause LTD instead of LTP, for the same pre-post activity pairing, if it was present in sleep instead of wake. The authors argued that the presence or absence of neuromodulators (a function of brain state) would result in the same pattern of firing having differential effects on synapses in the two states. This model was meant to illustrate the benefits of sleep-dependent reductions in synaptic strength, rather than to clarify the cellular mechanisms in operation *in vivo*. However, it is necessary to point out that the proposed cellular mechanism is at odds with neurobiological data in two important ways.

First, sleep and wake are not monolithic with regard to neuromodulation, nor is the neuromodulation state of the cortex binary. Dopamine, serotonin, acetylcholine, and norepinephrine release rates are differentially regulated by state, and these effects vary according to where in the brain release is being measured [45,46,47,48]. Second and more importantly, the effects of the state-regulated neuromodulators dopamine, acetylcholine, and norepinephrine on STDP do not support the notion that STDP rules "flip" between wake and NREM sleep. Each neuromodulator has distinct effects on the relationship between spike timing and synaptic strength changes [49], however, none of these effects fit with the assumptions of the model's modified STDP rule. For example, acetylcholine (with cortical release highest during wake, intermediate during REM and lowest during NREM) [47] can block timing-based LTP and promote timing-based LTD of glutamatergic synapses in cortical pyramidal neurons [50]. In contrast, noradrenergic

signaling (with cortical release highest during wake, intermediate during NREM and lowest during REM) promotes timing-based LTP in both cortical pyramidal neurons and interneurons. These effects are independent of the relative timing of action potentials and EPSPs - i.e., neuromodulator tone, but not the ordering of pre- and post-synaptic activity, determines the outcome of spike pairing. Taken together, available data suggest that higher norepinephrine and acetycholine levels during wake would lower the threshold for inducing *both* STDP-based LTP *and LTD*. It is therefore unlikely that changes in neuromodulation alone would bias plasticity in favor of LTD during sleep.

Homeostatic synaptic downscaling: Central to SHY is the concept of a globally-acting homeostatic mechanism which maintains synaptic strengths within a set physiological range. Homeostatic synaptic downscaling is a mechanism of plasticity that is thought to function in exactly this way, to counteract the network-level effects of excessive neuronal activity and synaptic excitation. Homeostatic downscaling differs from Hebbian synaptic weakening (e.g., LTD) with regard to both mechanism of induction and function. While LTD induction requires appropriately timed pre- and post-synaptic firing, and can lead to functional changes within minutes to hours, homeostatic downscaling appears to require increased neuronal firing and acts over a slower timescale of several hours to days. Homeostatic downscaling was first described *in vitro* by Turrigiano et al. (1998), who described divisive shifts in neurons' mEPSC amplitude distributions in response to long-term increases in firing. Specifically, the authors found that 48 h of exposure to the GABAA receptor antagonist bicuculline led to a global reduction in neurons' mEPSC amplitude distribution (to ~66% of baseline) [51]. This study, along with numerous others

since its publication, have led our current understanding of downscaling, wherein perturbations in either neuronal firing rate or neurotransmission leads to a global reduction of post synaptic strength over several hours to days. Functional decreases in synaptic strength due to downscaling are accompanied by decreases in glutamatergic receptor (e.g. AMPAR) expression and spine volume [51,52,53].

Only recently has sleep been implicated in regulating molecular pathways involved in homeostatic downscaling. Homeostatic reductions in AMPA receptor expression are mediated through multiple cellular pathways, and there is evidence that these pathways may be affected in parallel by sleep. Recent phosphoproteome profiling indicates that a kinase critical for downscaling, cyclin dependent kinase 5 (CDK5), is more active in the brain during the sleep phase of the rodent circadian cycle [25]. CDK5 activity is increased in the nucleus of neurons in response to increased network activity [54], and is implicated in numerous cellular pathways that could promote synaptic downscaling. Within the nucleus CDK5 phosphorylates many targets including MeCP2. This phosphorylation event is critical for decreasing *gluA2* mRNA expression in response to an increase in neuronal activity. CDK5 also interacts with polo like kinase 2 (PLK2) to promote downscaling via downstream effects on the Rap GTPase pathway. This leads to regulation of Rap-mediated changes in AMPA receptor trafficking and dendritic growth [55,56].

A second pathway which has received significant attention as a possible link between sleep and homeostatic downscaling is the Homer1a pathway. *Homer1a* is an

immediate early gene and the short isoform of constitutively active Homer proteins. The constitutive Homer proteins act as scaffolds which bring together a complex including NMDA receptors and mGluR5 receptors at the post-synaptic density. In response to increased neuronal activity, the shorter Homer1a protein acts as a dominant negative isoform, which can disrupt this complex [57]. Loss of Homer1a disrupts homeostatic downscaling [58], and restoring its expression leads to decreased AMPA and metabotropic glutamate receptor expression at the post-synaptic density [59]. Recent gene expression studies have shown that homer1a expression increases across the brain in response to SD [18,60] and the genetic locus for homer1a has been implicated in the homeostatic regulation of NREM slow wave activity [61]. Diering et al. [25] recently found that Homer1a protein abundance at synapses rapidly increases during SD. If we assume that Homer1a localization at the synapse results in downscaling, this finding would suggest that downscaling occurs during wake. However, the authors also reported that reductions in synaptic GluA1 and GluA2 during the sleep phase of the circadian cycle were dependent on Homer1a. To reconcile these findings, the authors hypothesized that Homer1a mobilization to the synapse is gated by both norepinephrine and adenosine levels. They speculated that during wake, high levels of norepinephrine maintain Homer1a outside the synapse; reduced norepinephrine and increased adenosine levels lead to delivery of Homer1a to the post-synaptic density during sleep. In support of this idea, treating mice with the norepinephrine reuptake inhibitor d-amphetamine (or an A1 adenosine receptor antagonist) reduced synaptic Homer1a levels, while treating them with norepinephrine receptor antagonists increased synaptic Homer1a [25]. The authors of the study argued that this represented a plausible mechanism whereby prolonged

wakefulness could lead to subsequent synaptic downscaling during sleep. However, it is worth noting that in this study, the observed sleep-associated reduction in GluA1 levels preferentially occurred among spines with the highest baseline levels (i.e., it was not global). Indeed, some spines showed increases in GluA1 levels. Taken together with other evidence showing that synaptic weakening is heterogeneous during sleep [15], these data actually argue *against* true synaptic downscaling as a mechanism for sleepdependent synaptic changes.

Intriguingly, sleep and wakefulness may have differential effects on so-called "upscaling" - which globally increases synaptic strengths in response to decreased network activity. Hengen et al. evoked homeostatic plasticity in freely behaving mice via monocular lid suture, leading to reduced visual cortex activity. The authors found that homeostatic increases in spontaneous firing rate after this treatment were primarily expressed across bouts of wake, with longer wake epochs resulting in greater firing rate increases [28]. The authors concluded that cellular mechanisms responsible for upscaling are active during wake, and inhibited by sleep. Whether downscaling adheres to this wake/sleep cycle remains unknown but would have important implications for the role of downscaling in SHY.

Although intuitive, homeostatic downscaling as the driver of SHY comes with a significant caveat, it has almost exclusively been studied in-vitro, under conditions that don't reflect wakefulness or sleep. As mentioned above, to induce downscaling researchers have had to create dramatic network perturbations by inhibiting GABBA

receptors for period of up to 48 hours. Whether less protracted and robust activity patterns, reflective of sleep, can induce downscaling is unknown.

Homeostatic maintenance of excitatory/inhibitory (E/I) balance: Numerous studies have indicated that homeostatic responses to increased network activity may also involve modifications to GABAergic synapses, effecting a change in the balance of network excitation and inhibition. Following periods of overactivity, inhibitory synapses on pyramidal neurons have been shown to undergo presynaptic and postsynaptic enhancements, including increases in presynaptic GAD65 and GABAA receptor surface expression [62,63]. Recent data suggest that GABAA receptor surface expression is increased on cortical pyramidal neurons in vivo in response to brief SD [64]. Homeostatic increases in GABAA receptor expression have recently been linked to changes in the localization of gephyrin, a scaffolding protein that anchors GABAA receptors to the inhibitory PSD [65]. Flores et al. found that the number and size of gephyrin clusters increase in pyramidal neurons following prolonged network activity. These clusters colocalize with GAD67 and are accompanied by increases in miniature inhibitory postsynaptic current (mIPSC) amplitude and frequency in response to prolonged depolarization of pyramidal neurons. Recent data suggest that this mechanism may be directly affected by sleep vs. wake. For example, gephyrin mRNA levels are higher in the brain after a period of sleep relative to a period of wake [17] Gephyrin is stabilized at the synapse by phosphorylation by CDK5 [66], which as mentioned above may be activated preferentially during sleep [25].

Glutamatergic synapses on inhibitory interneurons may also be potentiated in response to increased network activity, leading to increased feedback inhibition within the network. Chang et al. found that network overactivity results in significantly increased expression of the immediate early gene Narp and NARP protein in pyramidal neurons. The authors found that subsequently, NARP is released presynaptically in parvalbuminexpressing interneurons, causing increases in surface expression of GluA4 containing AMPA receptors [67]. Narp expression is increased throughout the brain after a period of wakefulness [17]. Given the differential regulation of *Narp* and *gephyrin* expression by wakefulness/sleep, it is possible they maintain network stability by modulating inhibitory activity at different time points to alter E/I balance. Whether these pathways are evoked in vivo as a consequence of learning-associated synaptic potentiation is unknown. However, sleep-associated changes in the number of inhibitory synapses have been observed in the cortex, as described above [64]. Taken together, there are numerous alternate pathways by which sleep could regulate homeostatic changes in neural circuits in response to augmented network activity.

NREM oscillation-driven synaptic weakening: Proponents of SHY have speculated that synaptic weakening is mechanistically linked to the synchronous, low-frequency rhythms (slow wave activity; SWA) that synchronize thalamocortical and hippocampo-cortical activity patterns during NREM sleep [68,69]. They argue that, like synaptic strength, SWA is homeostatically regulated. With increased time spent awake (and according to the hypothesis, more opportunity for synaptic potentiation), SWA during subsequent NREM sleep is significantly enhanced. After an initial period of recovery

sleep, this enhanced SWA returns to baseline - a process which is speculated to reflect a renormalization of synaptic strength to levels seen before waking experience. Thus according to SHY proponents, SWA homeostasis and synaptic homeostasis go hand in hand. Beyond this, numerous studies have also indicated that NREM SWA is selectively enhanced in cortical areas that are preferentially activated (e.g., by learning) during prior wake periods. Conversely, SWA is selectively decreased in cortical areas that are less active during prior waking experience [70,71]. In the context of SHY, this has been interpreted as evidence for a causal role of SWA thalamocortical activity patterns in promoting synaptic weakening.

There is evidence that experimentally-generated firing patterns (analogous to those occurring during SWA) can cause LTD of glutamatergic synapses *in vitro*. A variety of paradigms have been used to emulate the activity patterns seen in thalamocortical and hippocampal circuits during NREM. One of these is low frequency stimulation - trains of single spikes or short bursts, occurring at frequencies between 1 and 3 Hz. This rhythmic pattern of activity mimics that generally seen in both hippocampal and cortical circuits during NREM SWA *in vivo*. However, numerous labs have reported that low frequency stimulation (i.e., 1 Hz trains or burst stimuli, which can induce LTD of *in vitro*) is insufficient for *in vivo* LTD induction in either the hippocampus [72,73] or cortex [74,75]. In contrast, higher-frequency stimulation can reliably induce LTP in hippocampal and thalamocortical circuits *in vivo* [76,77,78].

It is unclear why many stimulation protocols induce LTD less robustly in vivo, while LTP is more easily induced. In neural circuits where it has been studied, the level of spontaneous activity (which varies with brain state) seems to be a critical variable for both LTD induction and maintenance. For example, LTD can be induced more reliably in the cortex in vivo if animals are deeply anesthetized [75]. This effect of anesthesia can be blocked by stimulation of the pedunculopontine (PPT) nucleus (which is wake-active, and provides cholinergic input to the thalamus) [79]. Because PPT activity is generally low during NREM relative to wake [80,81], and because spontaneous thalamocortical activity is generally lower in NREM than in REM or wake [14], it is tempting to speculate that NREM sleep provides ideal (and necessary) state conditions for *in vivo* LTD induction. NREM thalamocortical activation patterns also provide another feature that might be ideally suited for inducing LTD - burst mode firing. Bursts of presynaptic action potentials paired with postsynaptic EPSPs reliably induce LTD of cortical glutamateric synapses in vitro [82,83]. Bursts of action potentials with no postsynaptic EPSPs may also reduce subsequent glutamatergic neurotransmission by driving elimination of postsynaptic calcium-permeable AMPA receptors [84]. EPSP-paired bursting can elicit LTD at any time of day (after periods of more sleep or more wake), while unpaired bursting can elicit synaptic depression throughout the day. This suggests that at least two forms of activitydependent LTD may be expressed at cortical synapses, and these are differentially affected by sleep history. Since these studies were carried out ex vivo, and in cortical slices taken from juvenile animals, future studies will have to address how these mechanisms are affected in vivo and into adulthood (when rates of synaptic pruning are generally reduced).

There is also evidence that over the long term (24 h, vs. minutes for inducing LTD), low-frequency stimulation may also activate the same cellular pathways involved in homeostatic synaptic downscaling. Goold and Nicoll (2010) recently demonstrated that prolonged optogenetic low-frequency stimulation of individual hippocampal neurons led to both cell-autonomous downscaling of NMDA and AMPA receptor-mediated currents, and dramatic synaptic pruning. These effects were mediated postsynaptically (i.e., in optogenetically-stimulated neurons) via CaMKK and CaMKIV, and removal of GluA2containing AMPA receptors and NMDA receptors [85].

Despite these data, it is worth noting that NREM sleep is characterized by other network activity features in addition to SWA. In thalamocortical circuits, sleep spindles emerge as 7-15 Hz coherent network oscillations, which are expressed as discrete waxing-and-waning events during NREM [86]. Recent *ex vivo* studies have aimed at mimicking patterns of activity during NREM spindles to determine effects on synaptic strength. Rosanova and Ulrich recorded activity from neurons in somatosensory cortex during spindles, and used this pattern to drive presynaptic activity in layer 2/3 while recording postsynaptic responses in layer 5 [87]. The authors found that when this pattern was repeated at a frequency similar to the frequency of NREM spindle activity pattern (presynaptic bursts delivered at 10 Hz) likewise drove postsynaptic LTP. Thus NREM network oscillations of different frequencies may have divergent effects on synaptic strength in cortical circuits.

REM-associated reductions in neural network activity: Proponents of SHY have emphasized the potential mechanistic link between NREM SWA and synaptic weakening. However, most measurements of molecular, functional and structural synaptic changes have been measured after periods of sleep, which includes REM. REM sleep constitutes roughly 10-30% of total sleep time in adult mammals, depending on species. Intriguingly, the proportion of time spent in REM sleep across species has been linked to brain mass [88,89]. Studies evaluating sleep time across phylogeny have not found a similar link between NREM sleep time and brain size. This begs the question - could REM, rather than NREM SWA, mediate synaptic weakening across intervals of sleep? There are some experimental data that would suggest that this is possible. Firing rates in both cortical [8,40] and hippocampal neurons [30,90] decrease consistently across bouts of REM. Firing decreases are proportional to REM bout duration in the cortex [40] and to the amplitude of locally-generated theta (4-12 Hz) oscillations in the hippocampus [30,90]. A recent fMRI study [91] indicated that overnight decreases in amygdala functional responses to an emotionally arousing task are related to REM-associated EEG activity. More recently, a study measuring overall levels of cortical neural activity (with wide-field imaging of calcium signals) found that activity is globally reduced in the cortex (in all cortical layers) across bouts of REM [92]. In support of the idea that these functional changes are related to synaptic weakening, a recent in vivo imaging study demonstrated that the selective elimination of newly-formed dendritic spines is blocked by REM-targeted SD (but not NREM disruption) [93]. What features of REM could mediate synaptic weakening? Recent calcium imaging data indicates that the relative activity of fast spiking
interneurons to pyramidal neurons is significantly higher during REM relative to NREM and wake [92]. Thus REM may alter the E/I balance of neural networks, which could bias plasticity at glutamatergic synapses, to favor synaptic weakening. Alternatively, the relative high levels of cortical and hippocampal acetylcholine release (and simultaneous relative low levels of norepinephrine, serotonin and dopamine release) during REM may bias circuit plasticity in favor of spike timing-based LTD (see above).

Glial regulation of synaptic function: Multiple lines of evidence have indicated that the biological support system surrounding neurons is significantly affected by sleep and wake states. Recent studies focused on the so-called "glymphatic" system have shown that interstitial space in the cortex increases significantly during NREM sleep, over a timescale of minutes [94]. This process, mediated by astrocytic regulation of peri-arterial flow rates, is thought to promote both delivery of nutrients, and clearance of potentially harmful metabolic waste from the brain. Such a mechanism could affect synaptic function in myriad ways. For example, levels of extracellular glucose decline across bouts of wake and REM, and increase at the transition from wake to NREM sleep [95]. At the same time, lactate accumulates in the brain (as a product of glycolysis) during wake (and also during REM sleep) [96] and is cleared by the glymphatic system during NREM sleep [97]. Because at high enough concentrations lactate can potentiate NMDA receptor-mediated currents, leading to downstream changes in the expression of plasticity-related genes in the brain [98], this mechanism could potentially mediate sleep-dependent synaptic weakening.

Sleep changes not only the volume of the brain's interstitial space, but also its ionic content. A more recent study demonstrated that the extracellular concentrations of calcium, magnesium, and protons increases (and the concentration of potassium decreases) in the cortex as animals transition from wake to NREM sleep [99]. As might be expected, such changes directly impact the mode of firing in cortical neurons (and ECoG activity), but it remains unclear whether they also directly impact synaptic function and synaptic strength. Available data suggests that changes in the concentrations of these ions (like those that accompany wake-to-sleep transitions) can lead either to a selective increase in excitatory transmission (resulting in increased E/I balance) [100] or to synaptic potentiation [101,102,103,104]. Intriguingly, these extracellular ion concentration changes could all be mediated by astrocytes [105] and could in turn impact the activity pattern of surrounding neurons [99]. Indeed, recent experimental data has shown that optogenetic hyperpolarization of astrocytes leads to changes in local field potential (LFP) activity similar to that seen as animals transition to NREM sleep [106].

While the precise cellular mechanisms underlying all of these effects are generally unknown, it is clear from studies using cell type-specific mRNA profiling (i.e., translating ribosome affinity purification; TRAP) that sleep and wake affect a variety of cellular processes in both astrocytes [107] and oligodendrocytes [108]. One speculative mechanism is based on the fact that ATP released from neurons during heightened network activity activates purinergic receptors on microglia, leading to release of interleukin 1 (IL1) and tumor necrosis factor-alpha (TNF α) [109,110]. Because IL1 and TNF α can induce NREM sleep, this signaling mechanism has been hypothesized to



<u>Figure 1.1.</u> Observed pre- and post-synaptic changes attributed to sleep-dependent synaptic weakening, and potential sleep-dependent mechanisms.

mediate both sleep homeostasis after extended wake, and local, use-dependent changes in NREM thalamocortical oscillations [111]. Some have speculated that this same signaling pathway may also mediate sleep-associated synaptic weakening. However, because the *in vitro* effects of TNF α on glutamatergic [112,113] and GABAergic [114,115] synapses are diverse, it remains unclear whether glial-derived TNF α signaling offers a plausible molecular mechanism for synaptic weakening during sleep.

<u>1.3 A counterpoint to SHY - a role for synaptic strengthening in the cognitive</u> benefits of sleep

An increasing body of data has presented counterpoints to SHY (see **Table 1.1**). These studies have primarily been aimed at investigating the neurobiological correlates of sleep-dependent learning and memory storage, following novel learning experiences during wake. Surprisingly, many of these investigations have found evidence of synaptic strengthening, not weakening, across periods of post-learning sleep (see **Table 1.1** and **Figure 1.2**). Thus one possibility, which we put forth here, is that different types of synaptic plasticity (not synaptic weakening alone) may be promoted during sleep, depending on the circumstances of an animal's prior waking experience. Here we will briefly describe what is known about some example cases in which synaptic strengthening occurs during sleep, leading to adaptive changes in brain function.

Contextual fear memory (CFM): CFM is a well-studied form of long-lasting memory, which can last days or even months in mice following a single learning experience. As such, it has been described as analogous to episodic memory in humans. CFM

consolidation is disrupted by SD in the hours following single-trial contextual fear conditioning (CFC) [116,117]. CFM consolidation relies on neural activity in hippocampal area CA1 during the same window of time post-CFC [118]; a reasonable conclusion is that network activity patterns in CA1 during sleep play an essential role in memory storage. Recent work from our lab [119] has demonstrated that during this window of time, CA1 neuronal firing and the amplitude of network oscillations are enhanced; these changes from baseline are present during both NREM and REM sleep. Furthermore, functional connectivity relationships between CA1 neurons (quantified based on relative spike timing among stably-recorded neurons) are selectively enhanced during NREM sleep following learning. This change is present across NREM over the entire 24 hours between CFC and fear memory testing - suggesting a plausible neural substrate for memory storage. More recently, we found an experimental strategy to disrupt the post-CFC enhancement in NREM and REM CA1 oscillations - by selective inhibition of parvalbumin-expressing (PV+) interneurons in the hours following CFC. We found that pharmacogenetic inhibition of PV+ interneurons disrupts both stabilization of functional connectivity patterns in CA1 during NREM, and CFM consolidation [120]. By optogenetically activating PV+ interneurons in a rhythmic fashion (mimicking rhythms enhanced during post-CFC sleep), we were able to both stabilize and strengthen functional connectivity relationships between neurons across CA1. Taken together, this suggests that sleep oscillations which are augmented in the hippocampus after learning promote long-term memory formation via synaptic strengthening, rather than synaptic weakening. CFM consolidation is linked mechanistically to LTP of glutamatergic synapses in CA1, for several reasons. First, behavioral manipulations such as SD that interfere with

CFM consolidation also disrupt Schaeffer collateral LTP in CA1 [121]. Second, disruption of intracellular pathways required for LTP in CA1 also disrupt CFM consolidation [7,121,122,123]. Third, intracellular pathways required for LTP are activated in the hippocampus immediately following CFM [122]. Finally, experimental manipulations that enhance hippocampal LTP also enhance CFM consolidation [124]. Thus all available evidence suggests that in the case of CFM consolidation, sleep activates cellular pathways in the hippocampus to induce synaptic potentiation (not downscaling), in order to promote memory formation. Taken together, these data present a clear non-SHY synaptic mechanism underlying specific cognitive benefits of sleep.

Motor cortex plasticity after learning: A large number of studies using human subjects have shown benefits of sleep for sensorimotor performance following learning a new sensorimotor task [125,126]. Depending on the specific motor task involved, these studies have linked the benefits of sleep on motor performance to changes in local slow wave and spindle oscillations in supplementary motor cortical areas following learning [127], changes in SWA in parietal cortical areas involved in multisensory spatial information processing [70], and total post-learning NREM sleep time [128]. Additionally, experimental disruption of cortical SWA following learning has been shown to disrupt consolidation of at least some forms of sensorimotor learning [129].

Recent studies using repeated functional brain imaging during motor task acquisition demonstrated that a correlate of sleep-dependent performance enhancement is an increase in task-related brain activity in corticostriatal and cerebellar motor systems

following a period of sleep [130,131]. This increase in task representation in the brain after a period of post-learning sleep is suggestive of synaptic strengthening, insofar as BOLD signal changes reflect changes in the extent of synaptic activity. A more definitive demonstration of sleep-dependent synaptic strengthening (or at least synaptic growth) during NREM sleep occurs following motor learning in mouse primary motor cortex (M1) [6]. In their recent study, Yang and colleagues demonstrated that SD (but not REMselective SD) disrupted formation of new dendritic spines in M1 layer 5 (i.e., output) pyramidal neurons in the hours after a period of motor learning.

Ocular dominance plasticity (ODP) and orientation-specific response potentiation (OSRP) in the visual cortex: There are multiple examples of synaptic strengthening during sleep from the visual system following novel visual experiences. One is the effect that sleep has in the primary visual cortex (V1) in the context of ocular dominance plasticity (ODP) - a well-studied form of cortical response plasticity initiated by loss of visual input to the cortex from one of the two eyes. ODP is an adaptive response that shifts V1 neurons' visual responsiveness from binocularity to favoring the spared eye. The role of sleep in promoting this process has been studied for nearly two decades. In 2001, Frank et al. initially reported that during a sensitive period of postnatal development, a modest shift in visual responses occurs in cat V1 following a brief (6-h) period of monocular visual experience [132]. This shift is effectively reversed by a subsequent 6-h period of SD (without visual input) but is significantly augmented by 6 h of subsequent *ad lib* sleep. The mechanism mediating this sleep-dependent enhancement of ODP involves activation of LTP-mediating kinase pathways, relies on NMDA receptor activation and

protein synthesis, and causes an enhancement of V1 neurons' firing rate responses to spared-eye stimulation [10,133,134]. These changes are associated with changes in V1 network activity during sleep in the hours following monocular experience - including reduced fast-spiking interneuron firing (which occurs specifically in cortical areas representing the spared eye), increased principal neuron firing, and increased neuronal firing coherence with both slow wave and spindle oscillations in NREM sleep [9,10].

While ODP 1) is induced by a loss of visual input, and 2) is most robustly induced during a relatively brief postnatal window, orientation-specific response potentiation (OSRP) is expressed in adulthood in mouse V1 in response to specific patterns of visual input [135]. Our laboratory has shown that following a brief period of exposure to an oriented grating stimulus (lasting 30-60 min), OSRP is expressed in V1 neurons as an enhanced response to stimuli of the same orientation. This response change is not present immediately following the visual experience, but is only seen after 6-12 h of subsequent sleep [8,27]. OSRP is blocked by post-stimulus SD, and is proportional to post-stimulus NREM and REM sleep time [8,27]. As is true for both CFM consolidation and ODP in V1, OSRP consolidation is associated with an increase in firing rate among V1 neurons in the hours following experience (which apparently occurs across bouts of NREM and REM, not wake) [8], and is proportional to an increase in phase-locking of V1 neuronal firing to NREM oscillations [27]. The expression of OSRP is linked to clear, stimulus-selective enhancement in firing rate responses to visual stimulation in V1 neurons, suggestive of synaptic potentiation [8]. This interpretation is consistent with studies of the underlying mechanisms of OSRP. For example, OSRP is blocked by

interference with cellular pathways required for LTP of glutamatergic synapses [135]. Further, *in vivo* thalamocortical LTP induction (with high-frequency LGN stimulation) occludes subsequent induction of OSRP, and OSRP induction occludes subsequent LTP between LGN and V1 [78]. Together, these data suggest a common mechanism between LTP of thalamic relay synapses in the cortex and sleep-dependent OSRP consolidation.

A data-driven alternative to SHY: What do all of these exceptions to SHY have in common? In all cases, the animal is being trained on a novel task, or having a novel experience, immediately prior to sleep. Based on available data, we propose an alternative to SHY - an alternative that applies to situations where sleep follows a learning experience in wake. In this scenario, we propose that circuit-specific changes in gene expression and protein translation during wake lead to subsequent changes in network activity during subsequent sleep. These changes in network activity support strengthening of at least a subset of network glutamatergic synapses (see Figure 1.2). We speculate that, consistent with the examples described above, sleep-dependent synaptic strengthening is essential for the cognitive benefits of sleep. In contrast (and in contradiction to SHY) sleep-associated synaptic weakening may not play a critical role in promoting cognitive function. Thus far, there is scant evidence to suggest that sleep-dependent learning and memory processes are related to synaptic weakening, and none to suggest an association with homeostatic downscaling.

The forms of sleep-dependent plasticity described above have several features in common. They are all associated with circuit-specific changes in network activity

including: 1) increases in neuronal firing rate, 2) amplified NREM (and occasionally, REM) oscillations, and 3) phase-locking of neuronal firing to these oscillations. Current data suggest that these changes are the direct result of learning experience during prior wakefulness. We speculate that while synaptic weakening may occur across sleep in the absence of learning (e.g., for mice housed in standard conditions), post-learning changes to network activity in the sleeping brain can support synaptic strengthening.

Synaptic strengthening in NREM sleep: SHY proponents have linked synaptic weakening during sleep to NREM oscillations. In the cases described above, however, NREM oscillations (and neuronal firing coherence with them) have been linked to synaptic strengthening and growth, resulting in memory consolidation, adaptive sensory plasticity, or motor learning. Might NREM oscillations differentially affect synaptic strength (bringing it either up or down within a given circuit) depending on prior experience? This is a possibility. Indeed, work from our own lab suggests that this may be the case. One example of this is the firing rate changes that occur in individual V1 neurons after a period in of dark exposure (i.e., no visual experience) vs. patterned visual experience. In the former case, an increase is seen across bouts of wake, no change across NREM bouts, and a decrease across REM bouts; in the latter, firing rates increase selectively during NREM and REM sleep bouts (but not wake). Another example comes from the rat somatosensory cortex, where prior experience with a spatio-tactile task (novel object exploration) led to selective increases in firing rate during the next 3 h of subsequent sleep [136].

The idea that NREM oscillations play a critical role in patterning brain plasticity was recently reinforced by findings from a study using optogenetics to mimic NREM slow wave oscillations (with simultaneous 2 Hz stimulation of mouse somatosensory and motor cortex) following training on a somatosensory perceptual task [137]. The authors found that synchronous stimulation of the two areas rescued perceptual learning in mice from deficits induced by post-learning SD. Chauvette et al. [138] recently attempted to clarify the immediate effects of NREM slow wave oscillations on synaptic strength in the cat cortex, in vivo and in vitro. The authors found that cortical evoked potentials were enhanced selectively across periods of NREM sleep (but not across periods of wake or REM). They also found that presynaptic stimulation patterned to mimic that seen in SWA (but not stimulation patterned to mimic wake activity) led to long-term increases in EPSP amplitude in cortical neurons. A more recent study [139] showed that in the hippocampus, neuronal firing in the context of a sharp wave ripple oscillation can directly promote LTP in vitro. A reasonable conclusion is that the firing patterns evoked by NREM oscillations are conducive to synaptic potentiation.

Synaptic strengthening in REM sleep: The majority of recent work focused on sleepdependent plasticity has emphasized a role for NREM sleep in the process. However, it is worth noting that a number of findings have suggested that synaptic strengthening can occur specifically in REM sleep. For example, either brief (i.e. hours-long) or long term (days-long) periods of REM-targeted SD, can disrupt subsequent induction and maintenance of hippocampal CA1 LTP [140,141]. Related to this deficit, brief REMtargeted SD in the hours following learning is sufficient to disrupt some forms of

hippocampally-mediated memory consolidation [140,142]. These effects are related to changes in PKA and CREB signaling, and changes in the expression of Arc and BDNF, in the hippocampus and in other areas involved in mnemonic processing [143,144]. While the systems- and network-level mechanisms responsible for REM's influence on hippocampal LTP and hippocampally-mediated memory formation are still largely unknown, memory consolidation in some REM-dependent tasks is correlated with the occurrence of pontine-geniculate-occipital (PGO) waves (which occur preferentially at the transition from NREM to REM and during REM). Activation of pontine circuitry that promotes PGO waves (leading to increased PGO wave occurrence) can rescue certain forms of REM-dependent memory in the context of REM SD [145]. More recently, REM sleep was also shown to play a critical role in the consolidation of ODP in cat V1. The shift in visual responses in favor of the spared eye was greatly reduced when REM sleep was selectively deprived in the hours following monocular visual experience [146]. REM SD also disrupted visual experience-induced enhancements in LTP-mediating kinase (i.e., ERK) activity in V1 during post-experience sleep. Furthermore, neuronal firing rates are increased during post-learning REM, in both mouse hippocampus in the hours after single-trial CFC [119,120], and in mouse V1 following induction of OSRP [8,27]. Indeed, changes in firing rate in V1 neurons increase more across bouts of REM than across bouts of NREM in the hours following novel visual experience [8]. These changes, like changes in the occurrence of PGO waves, and the expression of many immediate-early genes involved in synaptic potentiation, are dependent on experience during prior wake [8,27,119,144,147].



<u>Figure 1.2.</u> Observed pre- and post-synaptic changes attributed to sleep-dependent synaptic strengthening, and potential sleep-dependent mechanisms.

1.4 The function of sleep-dependent "replay" of network activity patterns

What is replay? A great deal of recent data suggest that reactivation of task-associated neuronal ensemble activity patterns occurs during subsequent sleep, leading to speculation that this reactivation drives sleep-dependent memory consolidation. One barrier to our understanding of the function of reactivation in neural circuits is that it has been defined using a variety of conceptual and quantitative means. Early studies by Pavlides and Winston [148] defined task-associated activity as temporally-correlated firing among neuron pairs during experience. Using this definition, Pavlides and Winston (and others) first described sleep-dependent reactivation of place cells following exploration of new environments [148,149]. Other recent studies have described stabilization of functional communication patterns (based on spike timing between neurons) during NREM sleep following single-trial learning [119,120] or selective reactivation during REM sleep of neurons activated by novel sensory experience [146]. Because such network-level changes occur during sleep following a single learning event, they are plausible substrates for promoting synaptic plasticity.

In recent years, however, the term "replay" has been used in reference to precise sequential reactivation of neurons engaged sequentially during a spatial task. For technical reasons, the majority of these studies have focused on the reactivation of hippocampal place cells — neurons with spatially selective receptive fields. As an animal traverses an environment, place cell neurons fire to encode its changing location, creating sequential patterns of activation that reflect its trajectory. Using this sequence as a template, one can quantify replay events during subsequent REM or NREM sleep

[150,151]. An essential component of experiments measuring sleep-associated sequential replay is the generation of a reliable, repeatable behavioral sequence. In studies using rodents, this usually requires weeks of repetitive training on a spatial task. Because the animals in these studies are carrying out a familiar (rather than new) task prior to measurements of replay events, the relationship between sequence reactivation and new memory formation is not generally clear.

What causes replay? How does sequential replay occur? One parsimonious interpretation of data involving highly trained animals engaged in a repetitive spatial task is that the sequence of neuronal activation is simply "hard-wired" due to the strength of connections between neurons in the ensemble. This might explain the fact that replay, relative to sequential activation during behavior, tends to be time-compressed. If neurons in the ensemble were synaptically connected and played a strong causal role in driving one another's firing, they would fire sequentially during spontaneous activity with minimal synaptic delays. It would also explain the fact that replay events can occur in practically any brain state (with reports of replay in NREM, REM, and wake)[152]. Finally, if the neurons were reciprocally connected, this interpretation could also explain the occurrence of reverse replay events (where the sequence of neuronal activation is opposite that seen during behavior) [153]. A related mechanism that has been proposed (the so-called "lingering excitability model") [154] is based on the relative excitability of place cells, where neurons that have been most recently activated (i.e., by the animal's recent presence in their respective place fields) are more likely to initiate a sequential (forward or reverse) replay event. This would explain the apparent hysteresis of replay events. For

example, sequences of activity that have occurred more frequently in an animal's recent past (during behavior) are more likely to replay when the behavior ends [154]. Furthermore, during pauses in a run, replay sequences are most likely to initiate with the firing of the place cell representing the space that the animal currently occupies [154]. However, neither of these explains another phenomenon related to replay - the occurrence of sequential activity patterns *before* a set of place cells is sequentially activated during behavior (so-called "preplay"). Preplay maps of place field activation have been reported to predict future trajectories, *despite occurring prior to actual experience*. Recently, a study by the Foster lab questioned the occurrence of preplay events, suggesting that they may result from a statistical anomaly. Using a larger sample of neurons, and slightly different quantitative methods, the authors were unable to find evidence of preplay events [155]. Nonetheless, reports of reverse replay and preplay, which can at times represent never before experienced behavioral sequences, brings into question the hypothesis that replay promotes memory consolidation.

Does replay play a role in memory consolidation? Despite the caveats outlined above, various arguments have been put forward in support of the idea that sequential replay could promote memory consolidation, particularly in the context of post-learning sleep. During replay events, sequential patterns of neuronal activation are compressed to a time scale compatible with STDP. Such compressed replay occurrences preferentially occur during sharp wave ripple events, which 1) occur preferentially in the hippocampus during NREM sleep and 2) have themselves been linked to memory formation [156]. Thus it has been argued that replay offers an instructive mechanism for promoting formation of

specific memories, by altering the strength of connections between neurons sequentially engaged during waking experience. Coordinated replay between brain areas (typically hippocampus and cortex) during sleep is proposed to be a critical mediator of systems memory consolidation [4,157]. Sequential replay of neuronal activity patterns has been seen in cortical structures like the prefrontal cortex following spatial task performance [158], and coordinated hippocampal and cortical sequential replay has been described in the context of spatial learning (i.e., maze running)[150]. However, there is currently no evidence that such sequence reactivation is temporally associated with, or critical for, de novo memory formation. In contrast, there are suggestions that sleep-dependent, coordinated reactivation of specific neuronal populations in hippocampus and cortex may promote information transfer between the two structures. For example, a recent study using dual-site recording found that NREM sharp wave ripple events in hippocampus triggered reactivation of neuronal ensembles in prefrontal cortex that were co-activated during prior spatial task learning [159]. Intriguingly, while early data suggested preferential information flow from hippocampus to cortex during NREM sharp wave ripple events [160,161], more recent findings suggest that activity patterns in the cortex can inform the activation pattern in the hippocampus during these events [162]. Because during NREM, hippocampal sharp wave ripples are coordinated with neocortical slow waves [68,163], this suggests that during NREM-associated oscillations there is a true dialogue between neurons in hippocampal and thalamocortical circuits. Such a dialogue may promote the formation of widely distributed memory traces in the context of consolidation.

A major unresolved question for the field is whether replay or reactivation promotes synaptic plasticity and long-term memory formation. Because the memories in question are associated with activity in sparsely-distributed neuronal populations, direct measurement of functional connectivity (i.e., mEPSC amplitude or frequency) or anatomical plasticity (i.e., spine size or density) associated with memory consolidation is a technical challenge. A few studies have attempted to resolve whether replay events can be disrupted by NMDA receptor antagonism *in vivo* [155,164]. These studies are illuminating for multiple reasons. First, such antagonism is almost universally amnestic for the types of (episodic or spatial) memories typically under study with respect to replay. Second, since many forms of Hebbian plasticity rely on NMDA receptor signaling, this treatment should disrupt any events relying on, for example, LTP. Data from these studies suggests that replay/reactivation events related to newly-learned trajectories or locations is lost in the absence of NMDA receptor signaling [155,164]. This suggests that replay occurrence is at least related to new memory formation.

1.5 Thesis Goals and Summary

It is clear that sleep is critical for memory consolidation and increasingly more studies suggest that it facilitates the expression of several plasticity mechanisms. However, how sleep engenders the changes described above remains unclear. And, whereas sleep is often viewed as a unidirectional and globally uniform phenomenon, several studies suggest that there is significant heterogeneity in sleep-dependent processes. In this thesis, I investigate cell and region-specific responses to sleep loss and present preliminary data assessing the role NREM slow wave activity in sleep-dependent

weakening. In addition, I review the current literature on neuronal oscillations during sleep and present a theory of how oscillations may enact plasticity mechanisms during sleep. These goals are addressed in the chapters outlined below.

Chapter II: Sleep loss drives brain region- and cell type-specific alterations in ribosomeassociated transcripts involved in synaptic plasticity and cellular timekeeping

In this chapter I use translating ribosome affinity purification (TRAP) to isolate Camk2a+ and Parvalbumin+ neurons from the neocortex of sleep deprived (SD) and sleeping mice. I then interrogate how SD impacts the ribosome associated transcript abundance of particular immediate early genes and clock genes. I confirm these results and quantify additional regional differences in SD driven gene expression with fluorescence *in situ* hybridization.

Chapter III: How rhythms of the sleeping brain tune memory and synaptic plasticity

In this chapter I provide a thorough overview of what we know regarding sleep oscillations and their role in sleep-dependent synaptic plasticity and memory consolidation. I also present a unifying theory of oscillatory mediated synaptic plasticity.

Chapter IV: Effects of NREM slow wave activity on neocortical gene expression and visual memory consolidation

In this chapter I interrogate the role of SWA in sleep dependent synaptic weakening by optogenetically mimicking this oscillation in sleep deprived mice. I then compare the expression of several immediate early genes from SD, ad lib sleep, and

SD with stimulation mice to determine whether SWA is sufficient in blocking SD-driven increases in IEG expression. Using this experimental paradigm, I then test whether mimicking SWA is sufficient to rescue performance in a sleep dependent visual recognition task.

<u>Table 1.1.</u> Summary of evidence in support of sleep-associated synaptic weakening, and sleep-associated synaptic strengthening.

Evidence for synaptic weakening during sleep:									
<i>Manipulation</i> Biochemistry:	Key findings	Species	Age	Brain area	Reference				
5 h sleep vs. SD ¹	induction of <i>arc</i> , <i>fos</i> , and <i>creb</i> during SD	mouse	2-4 months	hippocampus	[19]				
3-12 h sleep vs. SD ¹	narp, fos, and bdnf induced during SD in cortex	mouse	10 weeks	cortex (somatosensory and motor) and hypothalamus	[18]				
sleep (ZT8), 8 h SD ² (ending at ZT 8), wake (ZT20)	during wake and SD, bdnf and narp induced in cortex and cerebellum; homer1a, fos, and arc induced in cortex	rat	unknown	cortex (unknown areas) and cerebellum	[17]				
sleep (ZT6), 6 h SD ³ (ending at ZT 6), wake (ZT18)	during wake and SD, ~20% increase in GluA1, pCaMKIIa, and pSer845-GluA in synaptoneurosomes from both areas	rat	12-14 weeks	cortex (unknown areas) and hippocampus (synaptoneurosomes)	[13]				
sleep (ZT4), 4 h SD ⁴ (ending at ZT 4), wake (ZT16)	~20% increase in postsynaptic GluA1, pSer845-GluA, and PKA at ZT16 relative to ZT4, no changes with SD	mice	8-10 weeks	forebrain (synaptosomes)	[25]				
<u>Anatomy:</u> 2 h sleep vs. SD⁵	spine/filopodia formation equal between sleep and SD, elimination increased ~10% across sleep relative to SD	mouse	3 weeks	somatosensory cortex, layer 5 pyramidal neurons	[26]				
sleep (ZT6), 6 h SD (ending at ZT 6), wake (ZT18) ⁶	during wake and SD, axon spine interface size increased ~10- 15% (only affected smaller spines; largest unaffected)	mouse	4 weeks	primary motor and somatosensory cortex	[15]				
Electrophysiology: ZT1 vs ZT5-6, 4 h SD (ending at ZT4) ⁷	decreased firing rates in fast-spiking interneurons at ZT5-6 vs. ZT0, increased multiunit firing after SD	rat	13-16 weeks	barrel cortex and frontal cortex	[14]				
4 h sleep vs. SD ¹	increased mEPSC amplitudes and frequencies after SD	mouse/rat	3-4 weeks/4-8 weeks	frontal cortex	[33]				
spontaneous sleep and wake bouts	firing rates increase across wake and decrease across sleep; ratio of interneuron-to- pyramidal neuron firing higher during wake than sleep	rat	unknown (adult)	hippocampal area CA1 sleen:	[30]				
Manipulation Biochomistry	Key findings	Species	Age	Brain area	Reference				
1 h sleep vs. SD ⁸ following monocular visual experience	increased synaptic BDNF protein levels during sleep (but not	cat	postnatal day P28-40	primary visual cortex (homogenate and synaptoneurosomes)	[134]				

	1 or 2 h sleep vs. SD ⁸ following monocular visual	SD); decreased Arc protein levels after SD 5-10 fold increase in pCaMKIIa, pERK, and pSer831-GluA1 during	cat	postnatal day P28-40	primary visual cortex (homogenate)	[10]			
	1, 3, or 6 h of <i>ad lib</i> sleep following two- way active avoidance or sham training	steep (but not SD) post-training increases in pCREB, BDNF and Arc protein proportional to post- training increases in REM PGO wave density	rat	unknown (adult)	hippocampus, amygdala, frontal and occipital cortex (homogenate)	[143]			
	<u>Anatomy:</u> 5 h sleep vs. SD ⁸	~20% decrease in	mouse	2-3 months	hippocampal area	[7]			
		spine density after SD			CA1 pyramidal				
	~7 h sleep vs. SD ¹ following motor learning	~50% decrease in spine formation across period of SD relative to sleep	mouse	unknown (adult)	M1 layer 5 pyramidal neurons	[6]			
	Electrophysiology:								
	spontaneous sleep and wake bouts	increased amplitude evoked field potential responses following NREM sleep	cat	unknown (adult)	somatosensory cortex	[138]			
	3 or 5 h sleep vs. SD ⁹	disruption of PKA- dependent forms of LTP after SD	mouse	2-4 months	hippocampal area CA1	[117,121]			
	6 h sleep vs. SD ⁹ following novel visual experience	selective firing rate responses increased after sleep (but not SD); neuronal firing rates increase across bouts of NREM and BEM (but net worke)	mouse	1-4 months	primary visual cortex	[8]			
 ¹ SD via tactile stimulation ² SD via air puffs, exposure to novel objects ³ SD via exposure to novel objects ⁴ SD via cage change ⁵ SD via exposure to novel objects and gentle touch ⁶ during both SD and wake phase (not sleep phase) mice were given access to a running wheel and exposed to novel objects ⁷ SD via exposure to novel objects and acoustic stimuli ⁸ SD via novel objects, acoustic stimuli, tactile stimulation, and floor rotation ⁹ SD via cage tapping, shaking, and nest disturbance 									

1.6 References

- 1.Krause AJ, Simon EB, Mander BA, Greer SM, Saletin JM, et al. (2017) The sleepdeprived human brain. Nat Rev Neurosci 18: 404-418.
- 2.Killgore WD (2010) Effects of sleep deprivation on cognition. Prog Brain Res 185: 105-129.
- 3.Meyhofer I, Kumari V, Hill A, Petrovsky N, Ettinger U (2017) Sleep deprivation as an experimental model system for psychosis: Effects on smooth pursuit, prosaccades, and antisaccades. J Psychopharmacol 31: 418-433.
- 4.Aton SJ (2013) Set and setting: How behavioral state regulates sensory function and plasticity. Neurobiol Learn Mem 106: 1-10.
- 5.Havekes R, Abel T (2017) The tired hippocampus: the molecular impact of sleep deprivation on hippocampal function. Curr Opin Neurobiol 44: 13-19.
- 6.Yang G, Lai CS, Cichon J, Ma L, Li W, et al. (2014) Sleep promotes branch-specific formation of dendritic spines after learning. Science 344: 1173-1178.
- 7.Havekes R, Park AJ, Tudor JC, Luczak VG, Hansen RT, et al. (2016) Sleep deprivation causes memory deficits by negatively impacting neuronal connectivity in hippocampal area CA1. eLife 5: pii: e13424.
- 8.Durkin J, Aton SJ (2016) Sleep-Dependent Potentiation in the Visual System Is at Odds with the Synaptic Homeostasis Hypothesis. Sleep 39: 155-159.
- 9.Aton SJ, Broussard C, Dumoulin M, Seibt J, Watson A, et al. (2013) Visual experience and subsequent sleep induce sequential plastic changes in putative inhibitory and excitatory cortical neurons. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 110: 3101-3106.
- 10.Aton SJ, Seibt J, Dumoulin M, Jha SK, Steinmetz N, et al. (2009) Mechanisms of sleep-dependent consolidation of cortical plasticity. Neuron 61: 454-466.
- 11.Tononi G, Cirelli C (2003) Sleep and synaptic homeostasis: a hypothesis. Brain Res Bull 62: 143-150.
- 12.Tononi G, Cirelli C (2014) Sleep and the price of plasticity: From synaptic and cellular homeostasis to memory consolidation and integration. Neuron 81: 12-34.
- 13.Vyazovskiy VV, Cirelli C, Pfister-Genskow M, Faraguna U, Tononi G (2008) Molecular and electrophysiological evidence for net synaptic potentiation in wake and depression in sleep. Nature Neuroscience 11: 200-208.

- 14.Vyazovskiy VV, Olscese U, Lazimy YM, Faraguna U, Esser SK, et al. (2009) Cortical firing and sleep homeostasis. Neuron 63: 865-878.
- 15.de Vivo L, Bellesi M, Marshall W, Bushong EA, Ellisman H, et al. (2017) Ultrastructural evidence for synaptic scaling across the wake/sleep cycle. Science 355: 507-510.
- 16.Terao A, Steininger TL, Hyder K, Apte-Deshpande A, Ding J, et al. (2003) Differential increase in the expression of heat shock protein family members during sleep deprivation and during sleep. Neuroscience 116: 187-200.
- 17.Cirelli C, Gutierrez CM, Tononi G (2004) Extensive and divergent effects of sleep and wakefulness on brain gene expression. Neuron 41: 35-43.
- 18.Mackiewicz M, Shockley KR, Romer MA, Galante RJ, Zimmerman JE, et al. (2007) Macromolecule biosynthesis - a key function of sleep. Physiol Genomics 31: 441-457.
- 19.Vecsey CG, Peixoto L, Choi JH, Wimmer M, Jaganath D, et al. (2012) Genomic analysis of sleep deprivation reveals translational regulation in the hippocampus. Physiol Genomics 44: 981-991.
- 20.Wang H, Liu Y, Briesemann M, Yan J (2010) Computational analysis of gene regulation in animal sleep deprivation. Physiol Genomics 42 427-436.
- 21.Cirelli C, Pompeiano M, Tononi G (1996) Neuronal gene expression in the waking state: a role for the locus coeruleus. Science 274: 1211-1215.
- 22.Simor A, Györffy BA, Gulyássy P, Völgyi K, Tóth V, et al. (2017) The short- and longterm proteomic effects of sleep deprivation on the cortical and thalamic synapses. Mol Cell Neurosci 79: 64-80.
- 23.Ramm P, Smith CT (1990) Rates of cerebral protein synthesis are linked to slow-wave sleep in the rat. PhysiolBehav 48: 749-753.
- 24.Tudor JC, Davis EJ, Peixoto L, Wimmer ME, van Tilborg E, et al. (2016) Sleep deprivation impairs memory by attenuating mTORC1-dependent protein synthesis. Sci Signal 9: ra41.
- 25.Diering GH, Nirujogi RS, Roth RH, Worley PF, Pandey A, et al. (2017) Homer1a drives homeostatic scaling-down of excitatory synapses during sleep. Science 355: 511-515.
- 26.Yang G, Gan WB (2012) Sleep contributes to dendritic spine formation and elimination in the developing mouse somatosensory cortex. Dev Neurobiol 72: 1391-1398.

- 27. Aton SJ, Suresh A, Broussard C, Frank MG (2014) Sleep promotes cortical response potentiation following visual experience. Sleep 37: 1163-1170.
- 28. Hengen KB, Pacheco AT, McGregor JN, Van Hooser SD, Turrigiano GG (2016) Neuronal firing rate homeostasis is inhibited by sleep and promoted by wake. Cell 165: 180-191.
- 29. Hengen K, Lambo M, SD VH, DB K, Turrigiano G (2013) Firing rate homeostasis in visual cortex of freely behaving rodents. Neuron 80: 335-342.
- 30. Miyawaki H, Diba K (2016) Regulation of Hippocampal Firing by Network Oscillations during Sleep. Curr Biol 26: 893-902.
- 31. Vanini G, Lydic R, Baghdoyan HA (2012) GABA-to-ACh ratio in basal forebrain and cerebral cortex varies significantly during sleep. Sleep 35: 1325-1334.
- 32. Dash MB, Douglas CL, Vyazovskiy VV, Cirelli C, Tononi G (2009) Long-term homeostasis of extracellular glutamate in the rat cerebral cortex across sleep and waking states. J Neurosci 29: 620-629.
- Liu Z-W, Faraguna U, Cirelli C, Tononi G, Bao X-B (2010) Direct evidence for wakerelated increases and sleep-related decreases in synaptic strength in rodent cortex. J Neurosci 30: 8671-8675.
- 34. Tang G, Gudsnuk K, Kuo S-H, Cotrina ML, Rosoklija G, et al. (2014) Loss of mTOR-Dependent Macroautophagy Causes Autistic-like Synaptic Pruning Deficits. Neuron 83: 1131-1143.
- 35. Drzewiecki CM, Willing J, Juraska JM (2016) Synaptic number changes in the medial prefrontal cortex across adolescence in male and female rats: A role for pubertal onset. Synapse 70: 361-368.
- 36. Zuo Y, Lin A, Chang P, Gan WB (2005) Development of Long-Term Dendritic Spine Stability in Diverse Regions of Cerebral Cortex. Neuron 46: 181-189.
- 37. Bian WJ, Miao WY, He SJ, Qiu Z, Yu X (2015) Coordinated Spine Pruning and Maturation Mediated by Inter-Spine Competition for Cadherin/Catenin Complexes. Cell 162: 808-822.
- 38. Zuo Y, Yang G, Kwon E, Gan WB (2005) Long-term sensory deprivation prevents dendritic spine loss in primary somatosensory cortex. Nature 436: 261-265.
- 39. Hill S, Tononi G, Ghilardi MF (2008) Sleep improves the variability of motor performance. Brain Res Bull 76: 605-611.

- 40. Watson BO, Levenstein D, Green JP, Gelinas JN, Buzsaki G (2016) Network homeostasis and state dynamics of neocortical sleep. Neuron 90: 839-852.
- 41. Frank MG (2013) Why I am not shy: a reply to Tononi and Cirelli. Neural Plast 2013: 394946.
- 42. Nere A, Hashmi A, Cirelli C, Tononi G (2013) Sleep-dependent synaptic downselection (I): modeling the benefits of sleep on memory consolidation and integration. Front Neurol 4: 143.
- 43. Olcese U, Esser SK, Tononi G (2010) Sleep and Synaptic Renormalization: A Computational Study. J Neurophysiol 104: 3476-3493.
- 44. Feldman DE (2000) Timing-Based LTP and LTD at Vertical Inputs to Layer II/III Pyramidal Cells in Rat Barrel Cortex. Neuron 27: 45-56.
- 45. Lena I, Parrot S, Deschau O, Muffat-Joly S, Sauvinet V, et al. (2005) Variations in extracellular levels of dopamine, noradrenaline, glutamate, and aspartate across the sleep--wake cycle in the medial prefrontal cortex and nucleus accumbens of freely moving rats. J Neuosci Res 81: 891-899.
- 46. Portas CM, Bjorvatn B, Fagerland S, Grnli J, Mundal V, et al. (1998) On-line detection of extracellular levels of serotonin in dorsal raphe nucleus and frontal cortex over the sleep.wake cycle in the freely moving rat. Neuroscience 83: 807-814.
- 47. Marrosu F, Portas C, Mascia MS, Casu MA, Faa M, et al. (1995) Microdialysis measurement of cortical and hippocampal actylcholine release during sleep-wake cycle in freely moving cats. Brain Research 671: 329-332.
- 48. de Saint Hilaire Z, Orosco M, Rouch C, Python A, Nicolaidis S (2000) Neuromodulation of the prefrontal cortex during sleep: a microdialysis study in rats. Neuroreport 11: 1619-1624.
- 49. Pawlak V, Wickens JR, Kirkwood A, Kerr JN (2010) Timing is not Everything: Neuromodulation Opens the STDP Gate. Front Synaptic Neurosci 2: 146.
- 50. Seol GH, Ziburkus J, Huang S, Song L, Kim IT, et al. (2007) Neuromodulators control the polarity of spike-timing-dependent synaptic plasticity. Neuron 55: 919-929.
- 51. Turrigiano GG, Leslie KR, Desai NS, Rutherford LC, Nelson SB (1998) Activitydependent scaling of quantal amplitude in neocortical neurons. 391: 892-896.
- 52. Keck T, Toyoizumi T, Chen L, Doiron B, Feldman DE, et al. (2017) Integrating Hebbian and homeostatic plasticity: the current state of the field and future research directions. Philos Trans R Soc Lond B Biol Sci 372: pii: 20160158.
- 53. Fernandes D, Carvalho AL (2016) Mechanisms of homeostatic plasticity in the excitatory synapse. J Neurochem 139: 973-996.

- 54. Liang Z, Ye T, Zhou X, Lai KO, Fu AK, et al. (2015) Cdk5 Regulates Activity-Dependent Gene Expression and Dendrite Development. J Neurosci 35: 15127-15135.
- 55. Seeburg DP, Feliu-Mojer M, Gaiottino J, Pak DT, Sheng M (2008) Critical role of CDK5 and Polo-like kinase 2 in homeostatic synaptic plasticity during elevated activity. Neuron 58: 571-583.
- 56. Lee KJ, Lee Y, Rozeboom A, Lee JY, Udagawa N, et al. (2011) Requirement for Plk2 in orchestrated ras and rap signaling, homeostatic structural plasticity, and memory. Neuron 69: 957-973.
- 57. Kammermeier PJ, Worley PF (2007) Homer 1a uncouples metabotropic glutamate receptor 5 from postsynaptic effectors. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 104: 6055-6060.
- 58. Siddoway B, Hou H, Xia H (2014) Molecular mechanisms of homeostatic synaptic downscaling. Neuropharmacology 78: 38-44.
- 59. Hu JH, Park JM, Park S, Xiao B, Dehoff MH, et al. (2010) Homeostatic scaling requires group I mGluR activation mediated by Homer1a. Neuron 68: 1128-1142.
- 60. Nelson SE, Duricka DL, Campbell K, Churchill L, Krueger JM (2004) Homer1a and 1bc levels in the rat somatosensory cortex vary with the time of day and sleep loss. Neurosci Lett 367: 105-108.
- 61. Mackiewicz M, Paigen B, Naidoo N, Pack AI (2008) Analysis of the QTL for sleep homeostasis in mice: Homer1a is a likely candidate. Physiol Genomics 33: 91-99.
- 62. Rannals MD, Kapur J (2011) Homeostatic strengthening of inhibitory synapses is mediated by the accumulation of GABA(A) receptors. J Neurosci 31: 17701-17712.
- 63. Peng YR, Zeng SY, Song HL, Li MY, Yamada MK, et al. (2010) Postsynaptic spiking homeostatically induces cell-autonomous regulation of inhibitory inputs via retrograde signaling. J Neurosci 30: 16220-16231.
- 64. Del Cid-Pellitero E, Plavski A, Mainville L, Jones BE (2017) Homeostatic Changes in GABA and Glutamate Receptors on Excitatory Cortical Neurons during Sleep Deprivation and Recovery. Front Syst Neurosci 11: 17.
- 65. Flores CE, Nikokenko I, Mendez P, Fritschy JM, Tyagarajan SK, et al. (2015) Activitydependent inhibitory synapse remodeling through gephyrin phosphorylation. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 112: E65-72.
- 66. Kalbouneh H, Schlicksupp A, Kirsch J, Kuhse J (2014) Cyclin-dependent kinase 5 is involved in the phosphorylation of gephyrin and clustering of GABAA receptors at inhibitory synapses of hippocampal neurons. PLoS ONE 9: e104256.

- 67. Chang MC, Park JM, Pelkey KA, Grabenstatter HL, Xu D, et al. (2010) Narp regulates homeostatic scaling of excitatory synapses on Parvalbumin interneurons. Nat Neurosci 13: 1090-1097.
- 68. Sirota A, Csicsvari J, Buhl D, Buzsaki G (2003) Communication between neocortex and hippocampus during sleep in rodents. PNAS 100: 2065-2069.
- 69. Buzsaki G, Buhl DL, Harris KD, Csicsvari J, Czeh B, et al. (2003) Hippocampal network patterns of activity in the mouse. Neuroscience 116: 201-211.
- 70. Huber R, Ghilardi MF, Massimini M, Tononi G (2004) Local sleep and learning. Nature 430: 78-81.
- 71. Huber R, Ghilardi MF, Massimini M, Ferrarelli F, Riedner BA, et al. (2006) Arm immobilization causes cortical plastic changes and locally decreases sleep slow wave activity. Nat Neurosci 9: 1169-1176.
- 72. Errington ML, Bliss TV, Richter-Levin G, Yenk K, Doyere V, et al. (1995) Stimulation at 1-5 Hz does not produce long-term depression or depotentiation in the hippocampus of the adult rat in vivo. J Neurophysiol 74: 1793-1799.
- 73. Abraham WC, Mason-Parker SE, Logan B (1999) Low-frequency stimulation does not readily cause long-term depression or depotentiation in the dentate gyrus of awake rats. Brain Res 722: 217-221.
- 74. Jiang B, Akaneya Y, Hata Y, Tsumoto T (2003) Long-term depression is not induced by low-frequency stimulation in rat visual cortex in vivo: A possible preventing role of endogenous brain-derived neurotrophic factor. J Neurosci 23: 3761-3770.
- Hager AM, Dringenberg HC (2010) Assessment of different induction protocols to elicit long-term depression (LTD) in the rat visual cortex in vivo. Brain Res 1318: 33-41.
- 76. Heynen AJ, Bear MF (2001) Long-Term Potentiation of Thalamocortical Transmission in the Adult Visual Cortex In Vivo. JNeurosci 21: 9801-9813.
- 77. Whitlock JR, Heynen AJ, Shuler MG, Bear MF (2006) Learning induces long-term potentiation in the hippocampus. Science 313: 1093-1097.
- 78. Cooke SF, Bear MF (2010) Visual experience induces long-term potentiation in the primary visual cortex. J Neurosci 30: 16304-16313.
- 79. Stewart MR, Dringenberg HC (2016) Potential Role of Synaptic Activity to Inhibit LTD Induction in Rat Visual Cortex. Neural Plast 2016: 1401935.

- 80. Jones BE (2005) From waking to sleeping: neuronal and chemical substrates. Trends Pharmacol Sci 26: 578-586.
- 81. Mena-Segovia J, Sims HM, Magill PJ, Bolam JP (2008) Cholinergic brainstem neurons modulate cortical gamma activity during slow oscillations. J Physiol 586: 2947-2960.
- 82. Birtoli B, Ulrich D (2004) Firing mode-dependent synaptic plasticity in rat neocortical pyramidal neurons. J Neurosci 24: 4935-4940.
- 83. Czarnecki A, Birtoli B, Ulrich D (2007) Cellular mechanisms of burst firing-mediated long-term depression in rat neocortical pyramidal cells. J Physiol 578: 471-479.
- Lante F, Toledo-Salas JC, Ondrejcak T, Rowan MJ, Ulrich D (2011) Removal of synaptic Ca²+-permeable AMPA receptors during sleep. J Neurosci 31: 3953-3961.
- 85. Goold CP, Nicoll RA (2010) Single-cell optogenetic excitation drives homeostatic synaptic depression. Neuron 68: 512-528.
- 86. Clawson BC, Durkin J, Aton SJ (2016) Form and function of sleep spindles across the lifespan. Neural Plast 2016: 6936381.
- 87. Rosanova M, Ulrich D (2005) Pattern-specific associative long-term potentiation induced by a sleep spindle-related spike train. J Neurosci 25: 9398-9405.
- 88. Lesku JA, Roth II TC, Amlaner CJ, Lima SL (2006) A phylogenetic analysis of sleep architecture in mammals: The integration of anatomy, physiology, and ecology. Am Nat 168: 441-453.
- 89. Lesku JA, Roth TC, Rattenborg NC, Amlaner CJ, Lima SL (2008) Phylogenetics and the correlates of mammalian sleep: a reappraisal. Sleep Medicine Reviews 12: 229-244.
- 90. Grosmark AD, Mizuseki K, Pastalkova E, Diba K, Buzsaki G (2012) REM sleep reorganizes hippocampal excitability. Neuron 75: 1001-1007.
- 91. van der Helm E, Yao J, Dutt S, Rao V, Saletin JM, et al. (2011) REM sleep depotentiates amygdala activity to previous emotional experiences. . Curr Biol 21: 2029-2032.
- 92. Niethard N, Hasegawa M, Itokazu T, Oyanedel CN, Born J, et al. (2016) Sleep-Stage-Specific Regulation of Cortical Excitation and Inhibition. Curr Biol 26: 2739-2749.
- 93. Li W, Ma L, Yang G, Gan WB (2017) REM sleep selectively prunes and maintains new synapses in development and learning. Nat Neurosci 20: 427-437.

- 94. Xie L, Kang H, Xu Q, Chan MJ, Liao Y, et al. (2013) Sleep drives metabolite clearance from the adult brain. Science 342: 373-377.
- 95. Dash MB, Bellesi M, Tononi G, Cirelli C (2013) Sleep/wake dependent changes in cortical glucose concentrations. J Neurochem 124: 79-89.
- 96. Naylor E, Aillon DV, Barrett BS, Wilson GS, Johnson DA, et al. (2012) Lactate as a biomarker for sleep. Sleep 35: 1209-1222.
- 97. Lundgaard I, Lu ML, Yang E, Peng W, Mestre H, et al. (2017) Glymphatic clearance controls state-dependent changes in brain lactate concentration. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab 37: 2112-2124.
- 98. Yang J, Ruchti E, Petit JM, Jourdain P, Grenningloh G, et al. (2014) Lactate promotes plasticity gene expression by potentiating NMDA signaling in neurons. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 111: 12228-12233.
- 99. Ding F, O'Donnell J, Xu Q, Kang N, Goldman N, et al. (2016) Changes in the composition of brain interstitial ions control the sleep-wake cycle. Science 352: 550-555.
- Meeks JP, Mennerick S (2004) Selective Effects of Potassium Elevations on Glutamate Signaling and Action Potential Conduction in Hippocampus. J Neurosci 24: 197-206.
- 101. Hess G (2002) Calcium-induced long-term potentiation in horizontal connections of rat motor cortex. Brain Res 952: 142-145.
- 102. Harsanyi K, Friedlander MJ (1997) Transient synaptic potentiation in the visual cortex. II. Developmental regulation. J Neurophysiol 77: 1284-1293.
- 103. Du J, Reznikov LR, Prince MP, Zha XM, Lu Y, et al. (2014) Protons are a neurotransmitter that regulates synaptic plasticity in the lateral amygdala. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 111: 8961-8966.
- 104. Abumaria N, Yin B, Zhang L, Li XY, Chen T, et al. (2011) Effects of elevation of brain magnesium on fear conditioning, fear extinction, and synaptic plasticity in the infralimbic prefrontal cortex and lateral amygdala. J Neurosci 31: 14871-14881.
- 105. Verkhratsky A, Nedergaard M (2014) Astroglial cradle in the life of the synapse. Philos Trans R Soc Lond B Biol Sci 369: 20130595.
- 106. Poskanzer KE, Yuste R (2016) Astrocytes regulate cortical state switching in vivo. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 113: E275-284.

- 107. Bellesi M, De Vivo L, Tononi G, Cirelli C (2015) Transcriptome profiling of sleeping, waking, and sleep deprived adult heterozygous Aldh1L1 - eGFP-L10a mice. Genom Data 6: 114-117.
- 108. Bellesi M, Pfister-Genskow M, Maret S, Keles S, Tononi G, et al. (2013) Effects of sleep and wake on oligodendrocytes and their precursors. J Neurosci 33: 14288-14300.
- 109. Shieh CH, Heinrich A, Serchov T, van Calker D, Biber K (2014) P2X7-dependent, but differentially regulated release of IL-6, CCL2, and TNF-α in cultured mouse microglia. Glia 62: 592-607.
- 110. Hide I, Tanaka M, Inoue A, Nakajima K, Kohsaka S, et al. (2000) Extracellular ATP triggers tumor necrosis factor-alpha release from rat microglia. J Neurochem 75: 965-972.
- 111. Kreuger JM, Clinton JM, Winters BD, Zielinski MR, Taishi P, et al. (2011) Involvement of cytokines in slow wave sleep. Prog Brain Res 193: 39-47.
- 112. Karrer M, Lopez MA, Meier D, Mikhail C, Ogunshola OO, et al. (2015) Cytokineinduced sleep: Neurons respond to TNF with production of chemokines and increased expression of Homer1a in vitro. Brain Behav Immun 47: 188-192.
- 113. Beattie EC, Stellwagen D, Morishita W, Bresnahan JC, Ha BK, et al. (2002) Control of Synaptic Strength by Glial TNFalpha. Science 295: 2282-2285.
- 114. Stellwagen D, Beattie EC, Seo JY, Malenka RC (2005) Differential regulation of AMPA receptor and GABA receptor trafficking by tumor necrosis factor-alpha. J Neurosci 25: 3219-3228.
- 115. Pribiag H, Stellwagen D (2013) TNF-α downregulates inhibitory neurotransmission through protein phosphatase 1-dependent trafficking of GABA(A) receptors. J Neurosci 33: 15879-15893.
- 116. Graves LA, Heller EA, Pack AI, Abel T (2003) Sleep deprivation selectively impairs memory consolidation for contextual fear conditioning. Learn Mem 10: 168-176.
- 117. Prince TM, Wimmer M, Choi J, Havekes R, Aton S, et al. (2014) Sleep deprivation during a specific 3-hour time window post-training impairs hippocampal synaptic plasticity and memory. Neurobiol Learn Mem 109: 122-130.
- 118. Daumas S, Halley H, Frances B, Lassalle JM (2005) Encoding, consolidation, and retrieval of contextual memory: differential involvement of dorsal CA3 and CA1 hippocampal subregions. Learn Mem 12: 375-382.

- 119. Ognjanovski N, Maruyama D, Lashner N, Zochowski M, Aton SJ (2014) CA1 hippocampal network activity changes during sleep-dependent memory consolidation. Front Syst Neurosci 8: 61.
- 120. Ognjanovski N, Schaeffer S, Mofakham S, Wu J, Maruyama D, et al. (2017) Parvalbumin-expressing interneurons coordinate hippocampal network dynamics required for memory consolidation. Nature Communications 8: 15039.
- 121. Vecsey CG, Baillie GS, Jaganath D, Havekes R, Daniels A, et al. (2009) Sleep deprivation impairs cAMP signalling in the hippocampus. Nature 461: 1122-1125.
- 122. Atkins CM, Selcher JC, Petraitis JJ, Trzaskos JM, Sweatt DJ (1998) The MAPK cascade is required for mammalian associative learning. Nat Neurosci 1: 602-609.
- 123. Abel T, Nguyen PV, Barad M, Deuel TA, Kandel ER, et al. (1997) Genetic demonstration of a role for PKA in the late phase of LTP and in hippocampus-based long-term memory. Cell 88: 615-626.
- 124. Abrari K, Rashidy-Pour A, Semnanian S, Fathollahi Y, Jadid M (2009) Post-training administration of corticosterone enhances consolidation of contextual fear memory and hippocampal long-term potentiation in rats. Neurobiol Learn Mem 91: 260-265.
- 125. Doyon J (2008) Motor sequence learning and movement disorders. Curr Opin Neurol 21: 478-483.
- 126. King BR, HoedImoser K, Hirschauer F, Dolfen N, Albouy G (2017) Sleeping on the Motor Engram: The Multifaceted Nature of Sleep-Related Motor Memory Consolidation. Neurosci Biobehav Rev 80: 1-22.
- 127. Tamaki M, Huang TR, Yotsumoto Y, Hamalainen M, Lin FH, et al. (2013) Enhanced spontaneous oscillations in the supplementary motor area are associated with sleep-dependent offline learning of finger-tapping motor-sequence task. J Neurosci 33: 13894-13902.
- 128. Robertson EM, Pascual-Leone A, Press DZ (2004) Awareness modifies the skilllearning benefits of sleep. Curr Biol 14: 208-212.
- 129. Landsness EC, Crupi D, Hulse BK, Peterson MJ, Huber R, et al. (2009) Sleepdependent improvement in visuomotor learning: a causal role for slow waves. Sleep 32: 1273-1284.
- 130. Debas K, Carrier J, Orban P, Barakat M, Lungu O, et al. (2010) Brain plasticity related to the consolidation of motor sequence learning and motor adaptation. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 107: 17839-17844.

- 131. Fogel S, Albouy G, King BR, Lungu O, Vien C, et al. (2017) Reactivation or transformation? Motor memory consolidation associated with cerebral activation time-locked to sleep spindles. PLoS ONE 12: e0174755.
- 132. Frank MG, Issa NP, Stryker MP (2001) Sleep enhances plasticity in the developing visual cortex. Neuron 30: 275-287.
- 133. Dumoulin MC, Aton SJ, Watson AJ, Renouard L, Coleman T, et al. (2015) Extracellular Signal-Regulated Kinase (ERK) Activity During Sleep Consolidates Cortical Plasticity In Vivo. Cereb Cortex 25: 507-515.
- 134. Seibt J, Dumoulin M, Aton SJ, Coleman T, Watson A, et al. (2012) Protein synthesis during sleep consolidates cortical plasticity in vivo. Curr Biol 22: 676-682.
- 135. Frenkel MY, Sawtell NB, Diogo AC, Yoon B, Neve RL, et al. (2006) Instructive effect of visual experience in mouse visual cortex. Neuron 51: 339-349.
- 136. Ribeiro S, Shi X, Engelhard M, Zhou Y, Zhang H, et al. (2007) Novel experience induces persistent sleep-dependent plasticity in the cortex but not in the hippocampus. Front Neurosci 1: 43-55.
- 137. Miyamoto D, Hirai D, Fung CC, Inutsuka A, Odagawa M, et al. (2016) Top-down cortical input during NREM sleep consolidates perceptual memory. Science 352: 1315-1318.
- 138. Chauvette S, Seigneur J, Timofeev I (2012) Sleep oscillations in the thalamocortical system induce long-term neuronal plasticity. Neuron 75: 1105-1113.
- 139. Sadowski JH, Jones MW, Mellor JR (2016) Sharp-Wave Ripples Orchestrate the Induction of Synaptic Plasticity during Reactivation of Place Cell Firing Patterns in the Hippocampus. Cell Reports 14: 1916-1929.
- 140. Ravassard P, Hamieh AM, Joseph MA, Fraize N, Libourel PA, et al. (2016) REM Sleep-Dependent Bidirectional Regulation of Hippocampal-Based Emotional Memory and LTP. Cereb Cortex 26: 1488-1500.
- 141. Ishikawa A, Kanayama Y, Matsumura H, Tsuchimochi H, Ishida Y, et al. (2006) Selective rapid eye movement sleep deprivation impairs the maintenance of long term potentiation in the rat hippocampus. Eur J Neurosci 24: 243-248.
- 142. Datta S, O'Malley MW (2013) Fear extinction memory consolidation requires potentiation of pontine-wave activity during REM sleep. J Neurosci 33: 4561-4569.
- 143. Ulloor J, Datta S (2005) Spatio-temporal activation of cyclic AMP response elementbinding protein, activity-regulated cytoskeletal-associated protein and brainderived nerve growth factor: a mechanism for pontine-wave generator activation

bdependent two-way active-avoidance memory processing in the rat. Journal of Neurochemistry 95: 418-428.

- 144. Ribeiro S, Goyal V, Mello CV, Pavlides C (1999) Brain gene expression during REM sleep depends on prior waking experience. Learn Mem 6: 500-508.
- 145. Mavanji V, Datta S (2003) Activation of the phasic pontine-wave generator enhances improvement of learning performance: a mechanism for sleep-dependent plasticity. Eur J Neurosci 17: 359-370.
- 146. Bridi MCD, Aton SJ, Seibt J, Renouard L, Coleman T, et al. (2015) Rapid eye movement sleep promotes cortical plasticity in the developing brain. Science Advances 1: 1-8.
- 147. Datta S (2000) Avoidance task training potentiates phasic pontine-wave density in the rat: A mechanism for sleep-dependent plasticity. Journal of Neuroscience 20: 8607-8613.
- 148. Pavlides C, Winson J (1989) Influences of hippocampal place cell firing in the awake state on the activity of these cells during subsequent sleep. Journal of Neuroscience 9: 2907-2918.
- 149. Wilson MA, McNaughton BL (1994) Reactivation of hippocampal ensemble memories during sleep. Science 265: 676-682.
- 150. Ji D, Wilson MA (2007) Coordinated memory replay in the visual cortex and hippocampus during sleep. Nat Neurosci 10: 100-107.
- 151. Louie K, Wilson MA (2001) Temporally structured replay of awake hippocampal ensemble activity during rapid eye movement sleep. Neuron 29: 145-156.
- 152. Sadowski JH, Jones MW, Mellor JR (2011) Ripples Make Waves: Binding Structured Activity and Plasticity in Hippocampal Networks. Neural Plast 2011: 960389.
- 153. Diba K, Buzsaki G (2007) Forward and reverse hippocampal place-cell sequences during ripples. Nat Neurosci 10: 1241-1242.
- 154. Atherton LA, Dupret D, Mellor JR (2015) Memory trace replay: the shaping of memory consolidation by neuromodulation. Trends Neurosci 38: 560-570.
- 155. Silva D, Feng T, Foster DJ (2015) Trajectory events across hippocampal place cells require previous experience. Nat Neurosci 18: 1772-1779.
- 156. Girardeau G, Benchenane K, Wiener SI, Buzsaki G, Zugaro MB (2009) Selective suppression of hippocampal ripples impairs spatial memory. Nat Neurosci 12: 1222-1223.

- 157. Aton SJ, Seibt J, Frank MG (2009) Sleep and memory. Encyclopedia of Life Science. Chichester: John Wiley and Sons, Ltd.
- 158. Euston DR, Tatsuno M, McNaughton BL (2007) Fast-forward playback of recent memory sequences in prefrontal cortex during sleep. Science 318: 1147-1150.
- 159. Peyrache A, Khamassi M, Benchenane K, Wiener SI, Battaglia F (2009) Replay of rule-learning related neural patterns in the prefrontal cortex during sleep. Nat Neurosci 12: 919-926.
- 160. Buzsaki G (1996) The hippocampo-neocortical dialogue. Cerebral Cortex 6: 81-92.
- 161. Wierzynski C, Lubenov E, Gu M, Siapas A (2009) State-dependent spike-timing relationships between hippocampal and prefrontal circuits during sleep. Neuron 61: 587-596.
- 162. Rothschild G, Eban E, Frank LM (2017) A cortical–hippocampal–cortical loop of information processing during memory consolidation. Nat Neurosci 20: 251-259.
- 163. Molle M, Yeshenko O, Marshall L, Sara SJ, Born J (2006) Hippocampal Sharp Wave-Ripples Linked to Slow Oscillations in Rat Slow-Wave Sleep. J Neurophysiol 96: 62-70.
- 164. Dupret D, O'Neill J, Pleydell-Bouverie B, Csicsvari J (2010) The reorganization and reactivation of hippocampal maps predict spatial memory performance. Nat Neurosci 13: 995-1002.

CHAPTER II

Sleep Loss Drives Brain Region- and Cell Type-Specific Alterations in Ribosome-Associated Transcripts Involved in Synaptic Plasticity and Cellular Timekeeping

<u>This chapter includes the publication</u>: **Puentes-Mestril C**, Delorme J, Wang L, Donnelly M#, Popke D#, Jiang S, Aton SJ. Sleep loss drives brain region- and cell type-specific alterations in ribosome-associated transcripts involved in synaptic plasticity and cellular timekeeping. Submitted to <u>Journal of Neuroscience</u>

2.1 Abstract

Sleep and sleep loss are thought to impact synaptic plasticity, and recent studies have shown that sleep and sleep deprivation (SD) differentially affect gene transcription and protein translation in the mammalian forebrain. However, much less is known regarding how sleep and SD affect these processes in different microcircuit elements within the hippocampus and neocortex - for example, in inhibitory vs. excitatory neurons. Here we use translating ribosome affinity purification (TRAP) and in situ hybridization to characterize the effects of sleep vs. SD on abundance of ribosome-associated transcripts in Camk2a-expressing (Camk2a+) pyramidal neurons and parvalbumin-expressing (PV+) interneurons in mouse hippocampus and neocortex. We find that while both Camk2a+ neurons and PV+ interneurons in neocortex show concurrent SD-driven increases in ribosome-associated transcripts for activity-regulated effectors of plasticity and transcriptional regulation, these transcripts are minimally affected by SD in hippocampus. Similarly we find that while SD alters several ribosome-
associated transcripts involved in cellular timekeeping in neocortical Camk2a+ and PV+ neurons, effects on circadian clock transcripts in hippocampus are minimal, and restricted to Camk2a+ neurons. Taken together, our results indicate that SD effects on transcripts destined for translation are both cell type- and brain region-specific, and that these effects are substantially more pronounced in the neocortex than the hippocampus. We conclude that SD-drivenalterations in the strength of synapses, excitatory-inhibitory balance, and cellular timekeeping are likely more heterogeneous than previously appreciated. ;;

2.2 Introduction

Sleep is essential for optimal brain function, but the underlying biological mechanisms are largely unknown. Prior work aimed at addressing this question has used molecular profiling of mRNA and protein abundance, in a number of brain areas, to characterize changes caused by experimental SD (Cirelli et al., 2004; Mackiewicz et al., 2007; Noya et al., 2019; Poirrier et al., 2008; Vecsey et al., 2012). Transcriptomic changes reported after SD in the brain have led to specific hypotheses regarding the biological underpinnings of cognitive disruptions associated with sleep loss (Belenky et al., 2003; Dinges et al., 1997; Mednick et al., 2003; Stickgold, 2005). For example, the synaptic homeostasis hypothesis (Tononi and Cirelli, 2006) proposes that synapses throughout the brain are strengthened during periods of wake and weakened during periods of sleep. The proposal of this hypothesis was initially based on results from transcriptomic studies in mice, showing higher expression of both immediate early genes (IEGs) and several other genes involved in synaptic plasticity after periods of SD vs. sleep (Cirelli et al., 2004; Cirelli et al., 1996; Cirelli and Tononi, 2000).

However, there may be more heterogeneity in responses to SD across the brain than previously thought. For example, SD-driven transcript changes may vary between different brain structures (Mackiewicz et al., 2007; Terao et al., 2006; Vecsey et al., 2012). We have recently shown that while SD increases expression of the plasticity-mediating IEG Arc and Arc protein abundance in neocortical areas (e.g., primary somatosensory cortex; S1), it simultaneously decreases *de novo* synthesis of Arc in the hippocampal dentate gyrus (DG). Indeed, recent data have suggested that SD could differentially impact neuronal activity and dendritic spine density in hippocampal vs. neocortical structures (de Vivo et al., 2017; Havekes and Aton, 2020; Havekes et al., 2016; McDermott et al., 2003; Ognjanovski et al., 2018; Raven et al., 2019; Vyazovskiy et al., 2009). Because cognitive processes reliant on the hippocampus, such as episodic memory consolidation (Havekes and Abel, 2017; Saletin and Walker, 2012), seem particularly susceptible to disruption by SD, a critical unanswered question is whether SD differentially impacts network activity and plasticity in the two structures. Beyond this, within brain structures, there may be heterogeneity in the responses of different neuronal subtypes to SD. For example, within the neocortex, fast-spiking interneurons, or neurons with greater firing rates, appear to have differential firing rate changes across periods of sleep (Clawson et al., 2018; Vyazovskiy et al., 2009). Consistent with this idea, synaptic excitatory-inhibitory (E-I) balance was recently shown to vary in neocortex over the course of the day in a sleep-dependent manner (Bridi et al., 2020). Moreover, while most neocortical neurons fire at lower rates during slow wave sleep (SWS) vs. wake, some

subclasses of neocortical neurons are selectively sleep-active (Gerashchenko et al., 2008).

Here we aimed to better characterize brain region- and cell type-specific changes evoked in the nervous system during SD. We used cell type-specific translating ribosome affinity purification (TRAP) (Sanz et al., 2019) to profile SD-mediated changes in ribosome-associated mRNAs in two prominent hippocampal and neocortical cell types -Camk2a+ pyramidal neurons and PV+ interneurons. Because interactions between these two cell types are critical for mediating state-dependent sensory plasticity and memory consolidation (Aton et al., 2013; Kuhlman et al., 2013; Ognjanovski et al., 2018; Ognjanovski et al., 2017), we characterized SD-driven changes in ribosome-associated transcripts encoding transcription-regulating IEGs, plasticity effector proteins, and circadian clock components in these two cell types. We find that SD generally causes more modest changes to these transcripts in hippocampal vs. neocortical circuits, and in PV+ interneurons vs. Camk2a+ neurons. Together our data suggest that the effects of SD on the brain are more heterogeneous than previously thought, and indicate regionand cell type-dependent differences in SD's impact which may have important implications for brain function.

2.3 Materials and Methods

Mouse handling and husbandry

All animal procedures were approved by the University of Michigan Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee (PHS Animal Welfare Assurance number D16-00072

[A3114-01]). Animals were maintained on a 12:12h light/dark cycle (lights on at 8AM) with food and water provided ad lib. Mice expressing Cre recombinase in Camk2a+ neurons or PV+ interneurons (B6.Cg-Tg(Camk2a-cre)T29-1Stl/J or B6;129P2-Pvalbtm1(cre)Arbr/J; Jackson) were crossed to RiboTag mice (B6N.129-Rpl22^{tm1.1Psam}/J; Jackson) to express HA-tagged Rpl22 protein in these neuron populations. 3-5 month old mice were individually housed one week prior to all experiments (with beneficial enrichment), and were habituated to handling for five days prior to experiments. Following habituation, and beginning at lights on (ZT0), mice were either allowed ad lib sleep in their home cage or were sleep deprived by gentle handling (Delorme et al., 2019; Durkin and Aton, 2016; Durkin et al., 2017). For sleeping animals, sleep behavior was visually scored at 5-min or 2-min intervals (for 6-h and 3-h SD, respectively), based on immobility and assumption of characteristic sleep postures. Previous research from our lab has shown that wake time over the final 45 min of the experiment correlates with Arc IEG expression in neocortex (Delorme et al., 2019). Thus to reduce the probability of confounding results from freelysleeping mice, mice in the Sleep groups that spent > 60% of the final 45 min of the experiment in wake were excluded from subsequent analysis. All mice were sacrificed with an overdose of pentobarbital (Euthasol) prior to tissue harvest.

Translating Ribosome Affinity Purification (TRAP)

TRAP was performed using methods described in prior studies (Sanz et al., 2009), with minor modifications. Following 3-6 h of *ad lib* sleep or SD, animals were euthanized with an overdose of pentobarbitol (Euthasol), their brains extracted, and hippocampi/cortices dissected in dissection buffer (1x HBSS, 2.5 mM HEPES [pH 7.4], 4

mM NaHCO₃, 35 mM glucose, 100 µg/ml cycloheximide). Tissue was then transferred to glass dounce column containing 1 mL of homogenization buffer (10 mM HEPES [pH 7.4], 150 mM KCl, 10 mM MgCl₂, 2 mM DTT, cOmplete[™] Protease Inhibitor Cocktail [Sigma-Aldrich, 11836170001], 100 U/mL RNasin® Ribonuclease Inhibitors [Promega, N2111], and 100 µg/mL cycloheximide) and manually homogenized on ice. Homogenate was transferred to a 1.5 mL LoBind tubes (Eppendorf) and centrifuged at 1000×g at 4°C for 10 min. Supernatant was then transferred to a new tube, 90 µL of 10% NP40 was added, and samples were allowed to incubate for 5 min. Following this step, the supernatant was centrifuged at maximum speed for 10 min at 4°C, transferred to a new tube, and mixed with 10 µl of HA-antibody (Abcam, ab9110) (Jiang et al., 2015; Shigeoka et al., 2018). Antibody binding proceeded by incubating the homogenate-antibody solution for 1.5 hours at 4°C with constant rotation. During the antibody rinse, 200 µl of Protein G Dynabeads (ThermoFisher, 10009D) were washed 3 times in 0.15 M KCI IP buffer (10mM HEPES [pH 7.4], 150 mM KCl, 10 mM MgCl₂, 1% NP-40) and incubated in supplemented homogenization buffer (10% NP-40). Following this step, supplemented buffer was removed, the homogenate-antibody solution was added directly to the Dynabeads, and the solution incubated for 1 h at 4°C with constant rotation. After incubation, the RNAbound beads were washed four times in 900 µL of 0.35 M KCI (10 mM HEPES [pH 7.4], 350 mM KCl, 10 mM MgCl₂, 1% NP40, 2 mM DTT, 100 U/mL RNasin® Ribonuclease Inhibitors [Promega, N2111], and 100 µg/mL cycloheximide). During the final wash, beads were placed onto the magnet and moved to room temperature. After removing the supernatant, RNA was eluted by vortexing the beads vigorously in 350 µL RLT (Qiagen, 79216). Eluted RNA was purified using RNeasy Micro kit (Qiagen).

Quantitative real-time PCR (qPCR) and stability analysis

Quantitative real-time PCR (qPCR) experiments were performed as described previously (Delorme et al., 2019). Briefly, purified mRNA samples were quantified by spectrophotometry (Nanodrop Lite; ThermoFisher) and diluted to equal concentrations. 20-500 ng of mRNA was used to synthesize cDNA using iScript's cDNA Synthesis Kit (Bio-Rad), cDNA diluted 1:10 in RNAse-free H₂O, and measured using a CFX96 Real-Time System. Primers were designed for these studies, with the exception of Homer1a, for which sequences were established in a prior study (Mikhail et al., 2017). Primer specificity was confirmed using NIH Primer Blast (see **Table 2.4** for primer sequences). Three technical replicates were used for each sample. Relative changes in gene expression between sleep and SD were quantified using the $\Delta\Delta$ CT method, and these fold changes are presented on a log scale (log₂ transformed value equivalent to $\Delta\Delta$ CT) with propagated errors. All statistical analyses were performed on Δ CT values.

Reference (housekeeping) genes for normalization were chosen for each experiment based on three measures: intragroup variability, intergroup variability, and an overall stability measure derived from total variance. Special emphasis was placed on selecting pairs of reference transcripts with countervailing intergroup differences. These measures were calculated using Normfinder (Andersen et al., 2004) and RefFinder (Xie et al., 2012) software. Because Normfinder is better suited for large sample sizes, RefFinder was used to validate Normfinder rankings and ensure genes with low (or opposite-direction) intergroup variability were chosen as housekeeping pairs. Stability measures were calculated for each sleeping condition, region, and mRNA population and

repeated for mRNAs purified from *PV::RiboTag* and *Camk2a::Ribotag* mice (**Table 2.1**). The arithmetic mean of each housekeeping pair was then used to normalize target gene expression. As a final measure of housekeeping stability, we calculated each pairs' fold change between mice in SD and Sleep groups.

RNAScope *in situ* hybridization

Fluorescent *in situ* hybridization was performed on 14- m coronal sections taken from fixed-frozen brains of Sleep (n = 6) and SD (n = 6) mice. Section coordinates (1-3.0)mm lateral, -1.4 to -2.8 mm posterior to Bregma) were similarly distributed between Sleep and SD conditions (Figure S2C). The RNAScope Multiplex Fluorescent Reagent Kit v2 with 4-plex ancillary kit was used to label Arc, Homer1a, Cfos, and Pvalb transcripts (Figure S2). Prior to probe incubation, slices were pretreated with hydrogen peroxide (10 min, room temperature), Target Retrieval Reagent (5 min 99°C), and RNscope Protease III (30 min, 40°C). Slices were incubated with custom-synthesized Arc (20 bp, Target Region: 23-1066, 316911-C3, Advanced Cell Diagnostics), Cfos (20 bp, Target Region: 407-1427, 316921-C1, Advanced Cell Diagnostics), Homer1a (6 bp, Target Region: 1301-1887m 433941-C2, Advanced Cell Diagnostics), and Pvalb 16 (16 bp, Target RegionL 2-885, 421931-C4, Advanced Cell Diagnostics). Probes were chosen so as to overlap with regions amplified by qPCR primer pairs. Arc, Cfos, Homer1a, and Pvalb were hybridized to Opal Dyes 620 (FP1495001KT, Akoya Biosciences), 570 (FP1488001KT, Akoya Biosciences), 690 (FP1497001KT, Akoya Biosciences), and 520 (FP1487001, Akoya Biosciences), respectively, for visualization. Positive and negative control probes were used in parallel experiments to confirm specificity of hybridization.

Immunohistochemistry

For immunohistochemical validation of appropriately cell targeted HA expression in RiboTag-expressing mice, Camk2a::RiboTag and PV::RiboTag mice from Sleep (n = 6) and SD (n = 6) groups were sacrificed and perfused with PBS followed by 4% paraformaldehyde. 50-µm brain sections were blocked with normal goat serum for 2 h and incubated overnight using biotin-conjugated anti-HA (Biolegend 901505, 1:500) and anti-parvalbumin (Synaptic Systems 195 004, 1:500) antibodies at 4°C. The following day, sections were stained with Streptavidin-Alexa Fluor® 647 (Biolegend 405237) and Alexa Fluor® 555 Goat Anti-Guinea pig IgG H&L (Abcam ab150186). Stained sections were coverslipped in ProLong Gold Antifade Reagent (ThermoFisher, P36930). Fluorescence intensity was used to identify HA -expressing (HA⁺) cells, PV-expressing (PV⁺) cells, and overlapping cells within the DG, CA1, CA3, and neocortex. To account for differences in localization and spread of antibody staining, both PV⁺ HA-expressing cells and HA⁺ PVexpressing cells were identified, and overlap was quantified in terms of both cell count and cell area (Figure 2.1). Quantification was performed using the semi-automated protocol detailed below.

Imaging and quantification

RNAScope probe fluorescence signals were captured and stitched using a 40× objective lens on a Leica 3D STED SP8. Immunostained brain sections were imaged on a Leica SP5 laser scanning confocal microscope. Settings were fixed for each imaging session. Fluorescence images were analyzed using MIPAR image analysis software in their raw grayscale format (Sosa et al., 2014). Two images per region (one per

hemisphere) were quantified for each animal. Total fluorescence dot number and average intensity of a single dot calculated as described here (ACDBio, 2017), for PV+ and non-PV+ regions of interest (ROIs) within granule (dentate gyrus), pyramidal (CA1, CA3), and cortical layers 1-6 (layers were manually isolated using a freehand tool by a scorer blind to experimental condition). Fluorescence intensity and expression overlap were calculated using a semi-automated protocol curated by blinded scorer. Briefly, a non-local means filter was used to reduce image noise, and an adaptive threshold was used to identify areas > 30 μ m whose mean pixel intensity was 200% of its surroundings. Identified areas were labeled as IEG or PV and manually edited to refine labeling, select for representative dots, and remove artifacts (manual editing was not used to label any additional IEG expression). Finalized labeling was used to delineate PV+ and non-PV+ ROIs, select for background area (area in the ROI minus areas of labeled expression), and identify IEG+ PV+ cells (Figure S3). Intensity values from ROIs, background, and selected dots were used to calculate fluorescence dots/area. Average background intensity was calculated as the fluorescence intensity of the selected background area per unit area. The average intensity of a single fluorescent dot was calculated for each transcript as the intensity of manually selected representative dots within the ROI, minus the average background intensity multiplied by the area, divided by the total number of selected dots. Dot intensity values did not differ between Sleep and SD mice for specific transcripts. The total fluorescent dot number within each ROI was calculated by subtracting average background intensity from total ROI fluorescence intensity, multiplied by total area, divided by average dot intensity.

2.4 Results: TRAP-based characterization of ribosome-associated transcripts in Camk2a+ and PV+ neuronal populations

To quantify how ribosome-associated transcripts in different neuronal populations within the hippocampus and neocortex are affected by sleep loss, we crossed RiboTag transgenic mice (with Cre recombinase-dependent expression of HA-tagged Rpl22 protein) to either Camk2a-Cre or PV-Cre transgenic lines (Sanz et al., 2019) (**Figure 2.1A**). Appropriate cell type-specific expression of Rpl22^{HA} in *Camk2a::RiboTag* and *PV::RiboTag* mice was verified using immunohistochemistry (**Figure 2.1B-F**). HA expression was largely circumscribed to the intended cell type. For example, 86.7 ± 1.5% and 79.4 ± 1.8% of HA+ neurons within the hippocampus and neocortex of *PV::RiboTag* mice, expression of HA in non-targeted cell types of the hippocampus (based on lack of co-immunostaining for Camk2a or PV) was minimal (3.6 ± 0.2% and 13.3 ± 1.5%, respectively; **Figure 2.1D-F**).

We next validated cell type-specificity of ribosome-associated transcripts isolated from transgenic mouse lines. Following a period of *ad lib* sleep of sleep deprivation (SD) starting at lights on (ZT0), hippocampi and neocortex were dissected, and ribosomeassociated mRNAs were isolated (Sanz et al., 2019). We compared abundance of cell type-specific transcripts between RiboTag affinity purified mRNA and Input mRNA from whole hippocampus or neocortex homogenate using qPCR. Enrichment or de-enrichment of these cell markers was compared with a null hypothetical value of 0 using one-sample t-tests. We found that ribosomal-associated transcripts from both the neocortex and

hippocampus of *Camk2a::RiboTag* mice de-enriched for markers of glial cell types (*Mbp*, *Gfap*), non-PV+ inhibitory neurons (*Npy*, *Sst*), PV interneurons (*Gad67*, *Pvalb*), and *Vglut1* relative to Input (**Figure 2.1G-H**). Hippocampal enrichment patterns mirrored those of the neocortex with the exception of *Vglut2*, which was significantly enriched relative to Input. Ribosome-associated transcripts from *PV::RiboTag* mice de-enriched for markers of glial (*Mbp*, *Gfap*), non-PV+ inhibitory (*Npy*, *Sst*), and excitatory neurons (*Vglut1*, *Vglut2*, *Camk2a*) while enriching for PV+ interneuron markers (*Pvalb*, *Gad67*) relative to Input. We made comparisons of cell type-specific transcript enrichment separately for mice which were either allowed *ad lib* sleep or sleep deprived (SD) over the first 3 or 6 h after lights on (i.e., from ZT0-3, or ZT0-6; **Figure S1A**). No substantial differences in enrichment patterns were observed between Sleep and SD mice (*N.S.*, Holm-Sidak *post hoc* test). These data confirm the high degree of specificity of TRAP-based profiling for ribosomal transcripts from Camk2a+ principal neurons and PV+ interneurons.

2.5 Results: SD-driven changes in ribosome-associated plasticity-related mRNAs vary with cell type and brain structure

We first quantified a subset of transcripts encoding for proteins involved in synaptic plasticity (i.e., plasticity effectors) whose expression levels have been reported previously as altered by SD - *Arc, Homer1a, Narp, and Bdnf* (Cirelli et al., 2004; Maret et al., 2008). Ribosome-associated transcript abundance was first quantified in Camk2a+ neocortical and hippocampal neuron populations after 3 h of *ad lib* sleep (Sleep; n = 4) or SD (n = 5), starting at lights on (ZT0). Consistent with previous findings (Cirelli et al., 2004), 3-h SD significantly increased neocortical *Arc* (p < 0.001, Holm–Sidak *post hoc* test) and



Figure 2.1. Experimental design and validation of TRAP. (A) Camk2a::RiboTag (blue) and PV::RiboTag (magenta) transgenic mice were sacrificed after a 3- or 6-h period of ad lib sleep (Sleep) or sleep deprivation (SD) starting at lights on (ZT0). Ribosome-associated mRNAs were affinity purified from hippocampus and neocortex. (B) HA expression in PV+ interneurons was validated with immunohistochemistry in PV::RiboTag mice, with automated detection of HA (green fluorescence, labeled in yellow) and PV (red fluorescence, labeled in purple) expression. Areas of overlapping fluorescence were then identified; to account for differences in antibody staining, both PV⁺ HA-expressing areas (green) and HA⁺ PV-expressing areas (red) were identified. Scale bars = 50 µm. (C) Example of automated protocol used in Camk2a:: RiboTag mice to quantify non-specific expression. (D-E) HA expression presented as proportion of overlapping cells vs. total cell count (D) and total area (E) in PV:: RiboTag sections. (F) PV⁺ HA-expressing areas over total HA⁺ area in Camk2a::RiboTag sections. (G) Enrichment of markers for glia (Mbp, Gfap), non-PV+ inhibitory neurons (NPY, SOM), PV+ neurons (Griar4, Gad67, PV), and excitatory neurons (Vglut1, Vglut2, Camk2a) calculated as ΔΔCT between affinity purified (RiboTag) mRNA and Input mRNA from neocortex. Data presented as log(2) transformed fold changes. (H) Enrichment values for Camk2a::RiboTag and PV:: RiboTag hippocampi. Gene expression was normalized to housekeeping gene pairs according to their respective condition (see **Table 1**). Values indicate mean ± SEM with propagated error; *, **, ***, and indicate p < 0.05, p < 0.01, p < 0.001, and p < 0.0001, respectively, one sample t-test against hypothetical value of 0.

Homer1a (p < 0.01) (Maret et al., 2008) ribosome-associated mRNA (**Figure 2.2A**). In contrast, and consistent with recent data (Delorme et al., 2019), 3-h SD significantly increased *Homer1a* abundance on hippocampal ribosomes (p < 0.01), but did not significantly affect *Arc* abundance (*N.S.*, Holm–Sidak *post hoc* test). Overall patterns of transcript abundance for the plasticity-regulating proteins *Bdnf* and *Narp* followed a similar trend, with unchanged levels in hippocampal Camk2a+ neurons (*N.S.*, Holm–Sidak *post hoc* test), and modestly (but not significantly) increased levels in neocortical neurons (*Narp* and *Bdnf*, *N.S.*). After more prolonged (6-h) SD (n = 6 mice/group), ribosome-associated *Arc* (p < 0.0001), *Homer1a* (p < 0.0001), and *Bdnf* (p < 0.01) and *Homer1a* (p < 0.0001) were increased in hippocampal Camk2a+ neurons (**Figure 2.2B**).

We next quantified ribosome-associated transcript abundance in PV+ interneuron populations from the neocortex (n = 4 mice/group) and hippocampus (n = 4 and n = 5 mice for Sleep and SD). 3-h SD significantly increased *Arc* (p < 0.001, Holm–Sidak *post hoc* test) abundance in neocortical PV+ interneurons, but had no effect on transcript abundance for plasticity-related proteins in hippocampal PV+ interneurons (*N.S.*, Holm–Sidak *post hoc* test). 6-h SD increased abundance of these transcripts in the neocortical PV+ interneuron population (n = 5 and n = 6 mice for Sleep and SD) in a manner similar to the Camk2a+ neuronal population (*Arc*, p < 0.0001; *Homer1a*, p < 0.0001; *Narp*, p < 0.05; *Bdnf*, p < 0.01). In contrast, 6-h SD caused no significant change in any of the ribosome-associated transcripts' abundance in hippocampal PV+ interneurons (n = 6 mice/group).



<u>Figure 2.2.</u> SD increases ribosome-associated plasticity effector transcripts in a cell type- and region-specific manner. (A) 3-h SD significantly increased *Arc* and Homer1alevels on ribosomes from Camk2a+ neocortical (solid) neurons; only *Homer1a* increased in hippocampal (dashed) neurons. 3-h SD significantly increased *Arc* on ribosomes from PV+ interneurons in neocortex; no significant change was observed in the hippocampal PV+ interneuron population. (B) *Arc*, *Homer1a*, and *Bdnf* significantly increased after 6-h SD in Camk2a+ neocortical neurons; *Arc* and *Homer1a* were increased within the Camk2a+ hippocampal population. All effector transcript levels were significantly elevated after 6-h SD in PV+ interneurons in neocortex; no significant change was observed in the hippocampal PV+ population. Transcript level changes are presented as a log₂ fold change between SD and *ad lib* sleep mice. All statistical tests were done on Δ CT values. Values indicate mean ± SEM with propagated error from *ad lib* sleep and SD groups; *, **, ***, and **** indicate *p* < 0.05, *p* < 0.01, *p* < 0.001, and *p* < 0.0001, respectively, Holm–Sidak *post hoc* test vs. Sleep.

2.6 Results: SD differentially affects abundance of ribosome-associated mRNAs encoding activity-dependent transcription regulators based on cell type in hippocampus vs. neocortex

To better characterize how SD affects activity-regulated pathways in Camk2a+ and PV+ populations, we quantified ribosome-associated transcript abundance for IEGs encoding transcription regulatory factors - *Npas4*, *Cfos*, and *Fosb*. We first quantified transcript abundance in Camk2a+ neocortical and hippocampal neuronal populations after 3-h of *ad lib* sleep (Sleep; n = 4) or SD (n = 5), starting at lights on (ZT0). 3-h SD produced no significant change in ribosome-associated transcript abundance in Camk2a+ neocortical cells (*N.S.* for all transcripts, Holm–Sidak *post hoc* test) while significantly increasing *Cfos* abundance in the hippocampus (p < 0.05; **Figure 2.3A**). After prolonged (6-h) SD (n = 6 mice/group; **Figure 2.3B**), neocortical *Npas4* (p < 0.01), *Cfos* (p < 0.0001) and *Fosb* (p < 0.01) abundance increased on ribosomes in Camk2a+ neurons. In the hippocampus, ribosome-associated *Npas4* (p < 0.001), *Cfos* (p < 0.0001) all increased in abundance in Camk2a+ neurons after 6-h SD.

2.7 Results: Subregion- and layer-specific effects of SD on mRNA abundance in PV+ and non-PV+ neurons

Recent findings suggest that effects of SD on transcription and translation may be more region- and subregion-specific than previously thought (Delorme et al., 2019; Havekes and Aton, 2020). To more precisely characterize region-specific changes in mRNA abundance after SD, we used fluorescence *in situ* hybridization to visualize *Pvalb*,

Figure 2.3. SD increases ribosome-associated transcripts encoding immediate-early transcription regulators in a cell type- and region-specific manner. (A) 3-h SD had no significant effect on IEG transcript levels on ribosomes from Camk2a+ neocortical (solid) neurons; only *Cfos* increased in hippocampal (dashed) neurons. 3-h SD significantly increased *Npas4* and *Cfos* on ribosomes from PV+ interneurons in neocortex, but did not affect IEG abundance on ribosomes from hippocampal PV+ neurons. (B) 6-h SD significantly increased *Npas4*, *Cfos*, and *Fosb* levels in Camk2a+ neocortical neurons, Camk2a+ hippocampal neurons, and PV+ neocortical interneurons. Only *Cfos* significantly increased in the PV+ hippocampal population with 6-h SD. Transcript level changes are presented as a log₂ fold change between SD and *ad lib* sleep mice. All statistical tests were done on Δ CT values. Values indicate mean ± SEM with propagated error from *ad lib* sleep and SD groups; *, ***, ****, and **** indicate *p* < 0.05, *p* < 0.01, *p* < 0.001, and *p* < 0.0001, respectively, Holm–Sidak *post hoc* test vs. Sleep.

Arc, Homer1a, and Cfos transcripts in C57Bl6/J mice after 6-h SD (n = 6) or ad lib sleep (n = 5)(Figure 2.4A, Figure 2.5A-B, Figure S1B, Figure S2). Transcripts were quantified separately in neocortical layers 1-6 and DG, CA3, and CA1 hippocampal subregions. Pvalb expression was used to discriminate expression in PV+ interneurons from that in non-PV+ (mainly pyramidal) neurons. Regions of interest (ROIs) for PV+ interneurons and non-PV+ regions were identified separately and total transcript expression (total fluorescence dot number) was normalized to the area of their respective ROI. We first quantified mRNA abundance after Sleep vs. SD among non-PV+ cells in neocortical regions overlying dorsal hippocampus (including S1)(Figure 2.4B). Across neocortex as a whole, SD significantly increased Arc in non-PV+ neurons (Sleep = 24.8 ± 10.3 vs. SD = 79.2 \pm 10.1 dots/mm², p < 0.05, Holm–Sidak post hoc test), and showed a tendency for increasing Cfos (Sleep = 8.6 ± 3.9 vs. SD = 26.2 ± 5.1 dots/mm², p = 0.053) and Homer1a (Sleep = 1.4 ± 0.5 vs. SD = 7.8 ± 2.6 dots/mm², p = 0.056). Expression was also quantified in individual neocortical layers. The largest effects of SD were seen for Homer1a and Cfos in layers 4 (Homer1a: Sleep = 1.6 ± 0.6 vs. SD = 7.8 ± 2.2 dots/mm², Cfos: Sleep = 13.5 ± 6.4 vs. SD = 40.5 ± 7.1 dots/mm²) and 5 (*Homer1a*: Sleep = 1.5 ± 0.4 vs SD=9.5 ± 2.8 dots/mm², Cfos: Sleep = 8.8 \pm 3.8 vs. SD = 34.5 \pm 6.9 dots/mm², p < 0.05). SD increased Arc dots/mm² significantly across layers 2/3 (Sleep = 15.2 ± 5.8 vs. SD = 45.8 \pm 3.7 dots/mm², p < 0.01, unpaired *t*-test), 4 (Sleep = 36.3 \pm 14.3 vs. SD=137.5 \pm 17.7 dots/mm², p < 0.01), and 5 (Sleep = 21.7 ± 8.2 vs. SD = 81.7 ± 12.8 dots/mm², p < 0.05) (Figure 2.4B). No changes in expression were observed with SD in layer 6, and layer 1 expression was not analyzed due to low overall expression and cell density. In dramatic contrast to the relatively large changes in non-PV+ transcript abundance with

S SD В

Arc

cFos

Homer1a

Figure 2.4. Layer-specific induction of IEG expression increases in neocortex after SD. (A) Representative images show neocortical IEG expression after 6 h of ad lib sleep (n = 5 mice) or SD (n= 6 mice). Inset regions are shown at higher magnification on right. Scale bars indicate 100 µm and 10 µm respectively. (B) 6-h SD significantly increased Arc dots/mm² among non-PV+ cells in whole cortex and layers 2/3, 4 and 5, and Cfos and Homer1a dots/mm² in layers 4 and 5. (C) 6-h SD significantly increased Cfos dots/µm² among Pvalb+ cells (magenta) in layer 2/3; no other significant changes were observed. (D) When analysis was restricted to IEG+ Pvalb+ cells (magenta, box pattern), SD significantly increased Homer1a dots/µm² among Homer1a+ Pvalb+ cells in whole cortex; no other significant changes were observed. Analysis circumscribed to non-PV ROI (without Pvalb expression) and PV ROI (with Pvalb expression). Violin plots show distribution of values for individual mice; * and ** indicates p < 0.05 and p < 0.01, Holm–Sidak *post hoc* test vs. Sleep. 75

SD in neocortex, neither Arc nor Homer1a (N.S., Holm-Sidak post hoc test) levels were significantly altered by SD in any region of dorsal hippocampus (Figure 2.5C). Cfos was increased significantly with SD in CA3 only (Sleep = 2.8 ± 0.5 vs. SD = 10.7 ± 1.4 dots/mm², p < 0.01) with no significant changes in CA1 or DG (N.S., Student's t-test). We then quantified transcript abundance within PV+ interneurons, using Pvalb mRNA expression to define the PV+ ROI (Figure 2.4C). Overall IEG expression in PV+ interneurons was relatively low. SD caused no significant changes in Arc or Homer1a in any layer of the neocortex, although Cfos dots/µm² increased selectively in PV+ interneurons in layer 2/3 (Sleep = 0.014 ± 0.002 vs. SD = $0.043 \pm .009$ dots/µm², p < 0.01). Because many PV+ interneurons expressed no detectable IEGs, we also quantified expression within the subpopulation of PV+ interneurons which had detectable levels of mRNA expression. Using a semi-automated protocol for this more circumscribed analysis, we found that SD did not affect expression levels for Arc or Cfos, but did increase Homer1a dots/µm² when measured across the entire neocortex (Figure 2.4C). Consistent with limited ribosome-associated transcript changes in hippocampus with SD (Figures 2.2 and 2.3), no significant changes in IEG expression were observed in PV+ interneurons any region of dorsal hippocampus with SD, regardless of method for quantification (Figure 2.5D-E).

One possibility is that the relative proportion of IEG+ PV+ interneurons varied as a function of SD. Because PV+ interneurons varied substantially in terms of ROI size, we quantified the IEG+ proportion of PV+ interneurons in Sleep and SD mice, as a function of both cell count and ROI area (**Figure 2.6**). We found the SD significantly increased the

Figure 2.5. Cell type- and region-specific changes in hippocampal IEG expression after SD. (A) Representative images show IEG expression in DG, CA1, and CA3 after 6 h of *ad lib* sleep (n = 5 mice) or SD (n = 6 mice). Inset regions are shown at higher magnification on right. Scale bars indicate 100 µm and 10 µm respectively. (B) 6-h SD significantly increased *Cfos* dots/mm² among non-PV+ (blue) cells in CA3; no other significant changes observed. (C-D) No significant changes were observed within DG, CA3, or CA1 in *Pvalb*+ cells (magenta) (C) or IEG+ *Pvalb*+ cells (magenta, box pattern) (D). Analysis circumscribed to non-PV ROI (without *Pvalb* expression) and PV ROI (with *Pvalb* expression). Violin plots show distribution of individual subjects; ** indicates p < 0.01, Holm–Sidak *post hoc* test vs. Sleep.

proportion of *Arc*+ and *Cfos*+ PV+ interneurons in the neocortex, across all layers quantified (**Figure 2.6B**). No significant differences were observed in the proportion of *Homer1a*+ PV+ interneurons. Similarly, we found significant increases in the proportion of *Arc*+ and *Cfos*+ PV+ area after SD for all neocortical layers, with the exception of layer 5 (**Figure 2.6C**). No differences were observed for *Homer1a*+ area with PV+ interneurons using this measure. No significant changes in any of the mRNAs' expression were observed after SD in PV+ interneurons in any region of the hippocampus after SD, regardless of the method of quantification (**Figure 2.6D-F**).

Critically, *Pvalb* expression itself can be regulated as a function of synaptic plasticity (Donato et al., 2013). We found that when expression values were calculated cell by cell, *Pvalb* levels did vary in both DG and neocortex as a function of SD (values plotted as cumulative distributions in **Figure 2.7**). These changes moved in opposite directions, with DG neurons showing SD-driven decreases in *Pvalb* labeling intensity (**Figure 2.7A**), and neocortex showing SD-driven increases in *Pvalb* (**Figure2.7D**). However, mean *Pvalb* intensity values (calculated per area) were not affected by SD in either IEG+ PV+ interneurons or IEG- PV+ interneurons, in any structure (**Figure S3**).

Together these data suggest that SD drives relatively modest changes in *Homer1a*, *Arc*, and *Cfos* in neocortical PV+ interneurons, but does not affect these transcripts in hippocampal PV+ interneurons, and that SD drives differential hippocampal vs. neocortical changes in expression of *Pvalb*.

Figure 2.6. SD increases the proportion of IEG+ PV+ interneurons in neocortex, but not hippocampus. (A) An automated protocol identified *Pvalb* (green) and IEG (red) *in situ* fluorescence; cells with overlapping fluorescence were marked as IEG+ (magenta). Total IEG+ *Pvalb*+ area was then calculated as the proportion of total *Pvalb*+ area. (B-C) 6-h SD increased the proportion (B) and area (C) of *Pvalb*+ cells expressing *Arc* or *Cfos*, but not *Homer1a*, across most neocortical layers. Values indicate mean \pm SEM; *, **, ***, and **** indicate p < 0.05, p < 0.01, p < 0.001, and p < 0.0001, respectively, Holm–Sidak post hoc test vs sleep. (D) The same method identified IEG+ *Pvalb*+ cells within hippocampal subregions DG, CA1, and CA3. (E-F) SD had no effect on the proportion (E) or area (F) of *Pvalb*+ hippocampal cells expressing *Arc*, *Cfos*, or *Homer1a*, Values indicate mean \pm SEM; *N.S.*, Holm–Sidak *post hoc* test vs. Sleep.

Figure 2.7. SD alters neuronal *Pvalb* mean fluorescence intensity in a region- and subregionspecific manner. Cumulative frequency distributions showing the impact of 6-h SD on *Pvalb* mean fluorescence intensity in individual *Pvalb*+ cells of the hippocampus and neocortex. (A) 6-h SD significantly decreased mean fluorescence intensity of *Pvalb* within *Pvalb*+ cells of the DG while having no significant effect on (B) CA1 or (C) CA3 intensity. (D) 6-h SD significantly increased mean fluorescence intensity of *Pvalb* within *Pvalb*+ cells of the neocortex. Hippocampal (DG, CA1, CA3) and neocortical bin widths for cumulative frequency distributions set at 0.5 and 2 respectively; **** indicates p < 0.0001, Holm–Sidak post hoc test vs. Sleep.

2.8 Results: Cell type- and region-specific effects of SD on ribosome-associated transcripts involved in circadian timekeeping

SD has previously been implicated in regulating core molecular clock genes' expression. As is true for IEG expression, the extent to which SD differentially impacts core clock gene expression as a function of cell type and regions is unclear. Consequently, we quantified ribosome-associated transcript abundance for core clock genes- Clock, Per1, Per2, Cry1, Cry1, and Bmal1- after SD in Camk2a+ neurons and PV+ interneurons of the neocortex and hippocampus (Figure 2.8). Consistent with findings from whole neocortical tissue (Franken et al., 2007; Hoekstra et al., 2019), we found that 3-h SD significantly increased Per2 expression in neocortical Camk2a+ neurons and PV+ interneurons (Figure 2.8A). In contrast, SD had no significant impact on transcript abundance in the hippocampus of either population. Longer-duration (6-h) SD resulted in no further changes in neocortical transcript abundance (with Per2 levels tending to remain elevated in both Camk2a+ neurons and PV+ interneurons) (Figure **2.8B**). Within the hippocampus, 6-h SD significantly altered abundance of ribosomeassociated Per2, Cry1, and Cry2 transcripts in Camk2a+ neurons (increasing Per2 and Cry1, decreasing Cry2), while having no significant effect on transcript abundance in PV+ We also quantified (after SD vs Sleep) the abundance of ribosome-associated mRNAs encoding other cellular timekeeping components: Rev-Erbα, Dbp, Ted, Nfil3, and Dec1 (Figure 2.9). We found significant heterogeneity in how these auxiliary clock genes responded to SD in different cell types and regions. None of the transcripts were significantly altered in either cell type in the hippocampus, with either 3-h or 6-h SD

Figure 2.8. SD alters ribosome-associated transcripts encoding core clock genes in a cell type and region-specific manner. (A) 3-h SD significantly increased *Per2* abundance on ribosomes in Camk2a+ (blue) and PV+ (magenta) neocortical neurons; no significant changes in core clock transcripts were observed in hippocampal neurons. (B) After 6-h SD, *Per2* abundance remained significantly elevated in neocortical PV+ interneurons. Ribosome-associated *Cry1*, *Cry2*, and *Per2* were all altered after 6-h SD in the hippocampal Camk2a+ neuron population. No significant change observed among PV+ interneurons. Transcript level changes are presented as a log₂ fold change between SD and *ad lib* sleep mice. All statistical tests were done on Δ CT values. Values indicate mean ± SEM with propagated error from *ad lib* sleep and SD groups ; * and ** indicate *p* < 0.05 and *p* < 0.01, respectively, Holm–Sidak *post hoc* test vs. Sleep.

Figure 2.9. SD differentially alters circadian clock modifiers in Camk2a+ and PV+ neocortical **populations.** (A) 3-h SD had no significant effect on ribosome-associated circadian clock modifier transcripts among Camk2a+ (blue) neurons in neocortex, but increased *Nfil3* and *Dec1* expression among neocortical PV+ interneurons (magenta). (B) 6-h SD significantly decreased *Rev-Erb* abundance on ribosomes in Camk2a+ neocortical neurons. No transcripts were significantly altered by SD in either neuron population in hippocampus. Transcript level changes are presented as a log₂ fold change between SD and *ad lib* sleep mice. All statistical tests were done on Δ CT values. Values indicate mean ± SEM with propagated error from *ad lib* sleep and SD groups; * and ** indicate *p* < 0.05 and *p* < 0.01, respectively, Holm–Sidak *post hoc* test vs. Sleep.

(**Figure 2.9A-B**). However, within the neocortex, both 3-h and 6-h SD significantly increased cortical *Nfil3* and *Dec1* abundance in PV+ interneurons. While these transcripts were not significantly altered in neocortical Camk2a+ neurons, 6-h SD significantly decreased *Rev-Erb* α expression in Camk2a+ neocortical neurons (**Figure 2.9B**).

2.9 Discussion:

Here, using TRAP, we have identified SD-driven molecular changes unique to specific cell populations in hippocampus and neocortex. Numerous studies have used transcriptome (Cirelli et al., 2004; Vecsey et al., 2012) or proteome (Noya et al., 2019; Poirrier et al., 2008) profiling of these structures following sleep vs. SD as a way of clarifying the functions of sleep in the brain. We find that comparing across structures, there are large differences in SD effects on ribosome-associated transcripts. For example, while even brief (3-h) SD increases abundance of plasticity-mediating transcripts in neocortical Camk2a+ neurons and PV+ interneurons (Figure 2) few of these transcripts are altered in hippocampus even after longer SD. This is particularly true for hippocampal PV+ interneurons, for which none of the transcripts are significantly altered by SD. SD-driven changes in abundance for IEG transcription regulators follow a similar pattern (Figure 2.3), with hippocampal PV+ interneurons in particular being refractory to SD. Our *in situ* analysis of mRNA abundance in PV+ and PV- neurons (Figures 2.4-2.6) is consistent with this interpretation, and suggests that even within neocortex, SD-driven changes in these transcripts' abundance are relatively modest in PV+ interneurons (Figure 2.4).

While IEGs are generally assumed to reflect specific patterns of recent neuronal activity (Tyssowski and Gray, 2019), there are brain region- and microcircuit-specific differences in IEG expression which reflect neurons' network connectivity patterns (Gonzalez et al., 2019; Tyssowski et al., 2018). Moreover, IEG expression in PV+ interneurons is regulated by distinct cellular pathways and is differentially gated by neuronal activation (Cohen et al., 2016). Indeed, some studies have failed to detect IEGs in PV+ interneurons altogether (Imamura et al., 2011; Vazdarjanova et al., 2006), and our present results showing relatively low expression in the PV+ interneuron population (**Figures 2.4-2.6**). However, insofar as abundance of all of these transcripts is regulated by neuronal activity to some degree (Donato et al., 2013; Yap and Greenberg, 2018), our present data support two broad conclusions. First, neuronal activation in the hippocampus is reduced relative to neocortex during SD. Second, PV+ interneuron activity may vary less as a function of SD than Camk2a+ neuron activity.

The former conclusion has major implications for the field of learning and memory, where pronounced and selective effects of sleep disruption on hippocampal processes (e.g., episodic and spatial memory consolidation) have been well described (Havekes and Abel, 2017; Puentes-Mestril et al., 2019; Saletin and Walker, 2012). In hippocampal structures such as the DG and CA1, available data suggest that both markers of neuronal activity and synaptic plasticity are disrupted after SD (Delorme et al., 2019; Havekes et al., 2016; Ognjanovski et al., 2018; Raven et al., 2019; Tudor et al., 2016). Our present data largely confirm these findings, and suggest that particularly in DG and CA1 (**Figure 2.5**), there is little evidence of neuronal activation during SD. Indeed, we find that DG

neurons show decreased *Pvalb* expression after SD, while neocortical neurons simultaneously show increased expression (**Figure 2.7**). Critically, *Pvalb* expression levels have been shown to correlate with both PV+ interneuron activity level and the relative amounts of excitatory to inhibitory input PV+ interneurons receive (Donato et al., 2013). Thus we conclude that SD increases excitatory input to PV+ interneurons in neocortex, while simultaneously decreasing excitatory input to DG. This conclusion parallels our recent work showing differential effects of SD on another activity marker, *Arc*, in DG vs. neocortex, and suggests that SD may have a uniquely disruptive effect on network activity in DG.

The latter conclusion also has important implications for maintenance of excitatoryinhibitory (E-I) balance during SD. Recent data suggest that E-I balance normally varies over the course of the day, in a sleep-dependent manner (Bridi et al., 2020). Furthermore, prior evidence from both whole-tissue transcriptome profiling and immunohistochemistry has suggested that SD may differentially affect connections from excitatory to inhibitory neurons (and vice versa) in structures like the neocortex (Del Cid-Pellitero et al., 2017; Puentes-Mestril and Aton, 2017). Because sleep loss is one of the major risk factors for triggering seizure onset in epilepsy (Frucht et al., 2000; Lawn et al., 2014), an underlying mechanism might be differential activation of, or plasticity in, interneurons vs. principal neurons with SD. Interactions between PV+ interneurons and principal neurons are particularly important in both regulation of attention (Aton, 2013) and in generating network oscillations important for memory consolidation (Ognjanovski et al., 2018; Ognjanovski et al., 2017). Insofar as SD may disrupt both attention and memory

consolidation, differential effects on activity of PV+ and Camk2a+ neurons in the hippocampus and neocortex may be an important underlying mechanism.

Because many of the transcripts quantified here (e.g., *Arc*, *Homer1a*, *Narp*, and *Bdnf*) play a critical role in activity-regulated synaptic plasticity, the fact that their abundance on translating ribosomes in Camk2+ and PV+ neurons is differentially altered by SD (**Figure 2.2**) also has intriguing implications. For example, it suggests that SD could lead to long-lasting changes in the E-I balance and information processing capacity of neocortical and hippocampal circuits. This may be a plausible mechanism for some of the reported longer-lasting brain metabolic (Wu et al., 2006) and cognitive (Belenky et al., 2003; Chai et al., 2020; Dinges et al., 1997) effects of SD (i.e., those that do not normalize with recovery sleep).

Alterations in brain clock gene expression with SD has been widely reported (Franken et al., 2007; Mongrain et al., 2011; Wisor et al., 2002; Wisor et al., 2008). Along with transcripts such as *Homer1a* (Maret et al., 2008; Zhu et al., 2020), SD-driven increases in transcripts such as *Per2* are hypothesized to play a role in homeostatic aspects of sleep regulation (Franken et al., 2007; Mang and Franken, 2015). Our data suggest that similar to plasticity-regulating transcripts (including *Homer1a*), SD-mediated changes in clock gene transcripts on ribosomes are cell type- and brain region-specific (**Figures 8** and **9**). For example, while *Per2* increases on both Camk2a+ and PV+ neocortical neuron-derived ribosomes with as little as 3 h SD, no clock gene transcripts are altered in the hippocampus with 3-h SD (**Figure 2.8A**, **Figure 2.9A**). Another example

is *Rev-erb* α , which is significantly reduced after 6-h SD, but only in neocortical Camk2a+ neurons. An interesting and important issue, raised by our findings, is that SD-driven changes in particular core clock transcripts' abundance do not move in the same direction, as they normally would during a 24-h cycle (e.g., *Cry1*, *Cry2*, and *Per2*; **Figure 2.8**). This suggests that SD-driven changes in these transcripts may not be driven by canonical E-box elements, consistent with recent findings (Mongrain et al., 2011). However, because changes in these transcripts may have numerous downstream effects on transcription of other clock-control genes (Chiou et al., 2016; Schmutz et al., 2010), these SD-driven changes may have even more numerous downstream effects that changes in plasticity effectors' transcripts. Future studies will be needed to quantify longer-term cell type-specific changes to physiology and structure initiated during SD, and the molecular events responsible for these changes.

Together our data suggest that effects of SD on plasticity, timekeeping, and homeostatic regulation of brain circuitry is heterogeneous, and likely involves subtle modifications to microcircuits (e.g., those in hippocampal subregions and neocortical layers) critical for appropriate brain function.

Tables:

mRNA Population	Condition	Region	Gene Pair	SD(2 ^{-CT})/S(2 ^{-CT}) ¹	Fold Change ²
	- 3h#c	Cortex	Actg1/Hprt1	0.98	-1.02
Cambla	Shrs	Hippocampus	Gapdh/Tuba4a	0.90	-1.11
Camkza	Chro	Cortex	Pgk1/Tbp	0.87	-1.15
	OIIIS	Hippocampus	Gapdh/Tuba4a	0.92	-1.08
	Three	Cortex	Actg1/Hprt1	0.82	-1.22
Paqualhumin	SHIS	Hippocampus	Gapdh/Tuba4a	1.02	1.02
ParvaiDumin	Chro	Cortex	Pgk1/Tbp	0.97	-1.03
	onrs	Hippocampus	Gapdh/Tuba4a	1.02	1.02

Table 2.1. Housekeeping pairs used for RiboTag conditions. Change in gene expression presented as ratio¹ and fold change².

		Slee	ρ, ΔCT	SD,	SD, ΔCT		qPCR p-value (Sleep vs. SD)		Sleep,n), n
Gene Name	Region	3-h	6-h	3-h	6-h	3-h	6-h	3-h	6-h	3-h	6-h
Arc	СТХ	5.16 ± 0.37	2.20 ± 0.26	3.9 ± 0.19	0.93 ±0.17	0.0003	<0.0001	4	6	5	6
	HP	4.29 ± 0.07	5.05 ± 0.09	3.98±.15	4.53 ± 0.12	0.4663	0.0036	4	6	5	6
	СТХ	5.11 ± 0.29	2.25 ± 0.16	4.053 ± 0.18	0.44 ± 0.04	0.0017	<0.0001	4	6	5	6
Homeriu	HP	5.97 ± 0.09	5.33 ± 0.74	5.12 ±.232	3.76 ± 0.04	0.0036	<0.0001	4	6	5	6
N	СТХ	5.34 ± 0.05	2.00 ± 0.10	4.861 ± 0.08	1.66±.12	0.1688	0.0902	4	6	5	6
Narp	HP	6.09 ± 0.13	4.932 ± 0.16	5.98 ±.21	4.86 ± 0.15	0.8637	0.7475	4	6	5	6
Odaf	СТХ	5.02 ± 0.12	1.54 ± 0.06	4.542 ± .10	.90 ± 0.07	0.1688	0.0049	4	6	5	6
Banj	HP	3.94 ± 0.03	4.09 ± 0.10	3.92 ± .16	3.99 ± 0.07	0.9288	0.7475	4	6	5	6
N	СТХ	8.42 ± 0.23	4.34 ± 0.12	7.64 ± 0.20	3.50 ± 0.10	0.1370	0.0031	4	6	5	6
Npas4	HP	8.61 ± 0.38	8.58 ± 0.18	8.87 ± 0.14	7.80 ± 0.12	0.4478	0.0005	4	6	5	6
	СТХ	6.17 ± 0.42	3.11 ± 0.31	5.68 ± 0.24	1.81 ± 0.17	0.2664	<0.0001	4	6	5	6
CFOS	нр	7.64 ± 0.15	8.32 ± 0.13	6.74 ± 0.20	6.52 ± 0.18	0.0209	<0.0001	4	6	5	6
60	стх	5.99 ± 0.12	2.87 ± 0.21	5.42 ± 0.26	1.98 ± 0.10	0.2664	0.0031	4	6	5	6
FosB	HP	6.45 ± 0.09	6.69 ± 0.13	6.10 ± 0.22	5.71 ± 0.07	0.4478	<0.0001	4	6	5	6
	СТХ	3.95 ± 0.07	0.97 ± 0.08	3.76 ± 0.02	0.93 ± 0.04	0.6176	0.9770	4	6	5	6
Clock Bmal1	нр	3.45 ± 0.07	3.63 ± 0.06	3.35 ± 0.05	3.56 ± 0.06	0.8666	0.6647	4	6	5	6
D	СТХ	4.68 ± 0.11	1.34 ± 0.10	4.71 ± 0.09	1.27 ± 0.07	0.8745	0.9770	4	6	5	6
Bmal1	HP	4.35 ± 0.09	4.37 ± 0.05	4.39 ± 0.08	4.38 ± 0.06	0.9378	0.9028	4	6	5	6
	СТХ	5.90 ± 0.09	2.33 ± 0.08	5.78 ± 0.10	2.24 ± 0.07	0.8434	0.9592	4	6	5	6
Cry1	нр	5.88 ± 0.10	6.34 ± 0.10	6.07 ± 0.11	6.10 ± 0.05	0.5022	0.0138	4	6	5	6
Gene Name Arc Arc Arc Homer1a Arc Narp Bdnf Bdnf Arc CFos Arc Cross Arc Clock Arc Bmal1 Arc Cry2 Arc Per1 Arc Per2 Arc Dbp Tef Nfil3 Dec1	СТХ	4.23 ± 0.03	0.36 ± 0.05	4.36 ± 0.11	0.42 ± 0.04	0.8434	0.977	4	6	5	6
	HP	3.80 ± 0.02	3.75 ± 0.04	4.10 ± 0.11	3.95 ± 0.01	0.1126	0.0493	4	6	5	6
	СТХ	3.90 ± 0.16	0.23 ± 0.10	3.97 ± 0.13	0.19 ± 0.11	0.8745	0.9770	4	6	5	6
Per1	нр	3.62 ± 0.05	3.31 ± 0.03	3.73 ± 0.11	3.34 ± 0.05	0.8666	0.9028	4	6	5	6
	СТХ	7.43 ± 0.08	3.71±0.18	6.87 ± 0.10	3.38 ± 0.06	0.0012	0.0654	4	6	5	6
Per2	нр	6.62 ± 0.07	6.80 ± 0.07	6.62 ± 0.10	6.56 ± 0.04	0.9744	0.0138	4	6	5	6
Cry1 Cry2 Per1 Per2	СТХ	3.32 ± 0.16	-0.50 ± .14	3.48 ± 0.09	0.02 ± 0.06	0.7553	0.0066	4	6	5	6
Kev-Erba	нр	4.05 ± 0.09	1.92 ± 0.05	3.91 ± 0.05	2.13 ± 0.03	0.3593	0.7601	3-h 6-h 3-h 6-h 4 6 5 6 4 6			
	СТХ	5.29 ± 0.15	2.47 ± 0.08	5.54 ± 0.13	2.85 ± 0.07	0.5635	0.0570	4	6	5	6
Dbp	HP	5.33 ± 0.07	4.05 ± 0.24	5.61 ± 0.09	4.03 ± 0.37	0.0583	0.9171	4	6	5	6
	СТХ	3.47 ± 0.02	0.62 ± 0.07	3.58 ± 0.07	0.74 ± 0.04	0.7553	0.4556	4	6	5	6
Tef	нр	3.14 ± 0.02	2.54 ± 0.05	3.14 ± 0.08	2.33 ± 0.04	0.9679	0.7601	4	6	5	6
	СТХ	6.34 ± 0.14	3.80 ± 0.19	6.29 ± 0.07	3.62 ± 0.07	0.7553	0.4310	4	6	5	6
Nfil3	HP	6.19 ± 0.07	5.45 ± 0.05	5.94 ± 0.04	4.94 ± 0.07	0.0997	0.083	4	6	5	6
	СТХ	3.36 ± 0.16	-0.43 ± 0.15	3.18 ± 0.15	-0.77 ± 0.08	0.7553	0.0754	4	6	5	6
Dec1	НР	2.74 ± 0.06	1.37 ± 0.05	2.55 ± 0.11	1.21 ± 0.05	0.2666	0.7601	4	6	5	6

Table 2.2. SD induced changes in ribosome-associated transcript abundance within Camk2a:RiboTag mice.

		Slee	р, ΔСТ	SD,	∆CT	qPCR p-valu	qPCR p-value (Sleep vs. SD)			SD, n		
Gene Name	Region	3-h	6-h	3-h	6-h	3-h	6-h	3-h	6-h	3-h	6-h	
Arc	CTX	6.64 ± 0.23	6.87 ± 0.07	5.25 ± 0.43	5.40 ± 0.07	0.0002	<0.0001	4	5	4	6	
740	HP	6.67 ± 0.09	5.46 ± 0.14	6.58 ± 0.11	5.29 ± .19	0.9758	0.8837	4	6	5	6	
Homer1a	CTX	7.49 ± 0.08	6.71 ± 0.13	7.03 ± 0.10	5.27 ± 0.12	0.3025	<0.0001	4	5	4	6	
Homeria	HP	9.02 ± 0.23	7.32 ± 0.35	9.00 ± 0.23	7.04 ± 0.27	0.9758	0.8673	4	6	5	6	
Narn	CTX	8.22 ± 0.08	7.39 ± 0.07	7.77 ± 0.13	7.01 ± 0.09	0.3025	0.0196	4	5	4	6	
Marp	HP	8.60 ± 0.15	8.58 ± 0.47	8.71 ± 0.19	8.22 ± 0.21	0.9758	0.8383	4	6	5	6	
Bdnf	CTX	8.03 ± 0.12	7.36 ± 0.19	7.89 ± 0.14	6.79 ± 0.09	0.6257	0.0014	4	5	4	6	
bung	HP	0.60 ± 0.21	5.38 ± 0.26	1.17 ± 0.27	5.44 ± 0.20	0.2158	0.8907	4	6	5	6	
NpgsA	CTX	9.14 ± 0.43	7.97±0.13	7.96 ± 0.14	7.11 ± 0.10	0.0143	0.0008	4	5	4	6	
Npus4	HP	9.15 ± 0.20	5.21 ± 0.31	9.36 ± 0.13	5.40 ± 0.12	0.2737	0.6749	4	6	5	6	
cFos	CTX	7.81 ± 0.10	7.04 ± 0.13	6.85 ± 0.38	5.21 ± 0.13	0.0336	<0.0001	4	5	4	6	
cros	HP	9.81 ± 0.13	7.56 ± 0.32	9.51 ± 0.10	5.98 ± 0.18	0.2081	0.0042	4	6	5	6	
ForR	CTX	7.93 ± 0.16	7.05 ± 0.17	7.68 ± 0.15	6.22 ± 0.20	0.5072	0.0008	4	5	4	6	
FUSD	HP	10.86 ± 0.12	6.65 ± 0.45	10.42 ± 0.11	7.10 ± 0.40	0.0814	0.5437	4	6	5	6	
Clock	CTX	3.58 ± 0.07	3.29 ± 0.09	3.47 ± 0.04	3.04 ± 0.06	0.8513	0.2076	4	5	4	6	
CIOCK	HP	4.11 ± 0.05	4.06 ± 0.58	4.02 ± 0.05	2.68 ± 0.08	0.9716	0.9770	4	6	5	6	
Bmal1	CTX	5.42 ± 0.09	4.51 ± 0.08	5.25 ± 0.07	4.51 ± 0.04	0.6893	0.9848	4	5	4	6	
Diridia	HP	5.86 ± 0.09	3.71 ± 0.56	5.93 ± 0.09	5.59 ± 0.12	0.9716	0.9770	4	6	5	6	
Crv1	CTX	8.57 ± 0.08	4.45 ± 0.03	8.63 ± 0.13	4.51 ± 0.05	0.8942	0.9436	4	5	4	6	
0.72	HP	6.24 ± 0.04	3.98 ± 0.60	6.15 ± 0.07	4.22 ± 0.23	0.9716	0.9099	4	6	5	6	
Crv2	CTX	6.37 ± 0.05	3.12 ± 0.07	6.42 ± 0.09	3.09 ± 0.06	0.8942	0.979	4	5	4	6	
0,72	HP	5.18 ± 0.05	3.63 ± 0.61	5.09 ± 0.04	2.82 ± 0.07	0.9716	0.9994	4	6	5	6	
Per1	HP Clock HP Clock HP mal1 CTX HP Cry1 CTX HP Cry2 HP Per1 CTX HP Per2 CTX HP Per2 HP CTX HP	4.16 ± 0.12	2.61 ± 0.10	3.92 ± 0.09	2.45 ± 0.04	0.4605	0.5214	4	5	4	6	
	HP	4.66 ± 0.11	3.57 ± 0.53	4.56 ± 0.05	2.17 ± 0.08	0.9716	0.9994	4	6	5	6	
Per2	CTX	7.70 ± 0.23	6.34 ± 0.15	7.21 ± 0.03	QPCR p-value (Sleep vs. SD) Sleep,n 6-h 3-h 6-h 3-h 6-h 5.40±0.07 0.0002 <0.0001	5	4	6				
	HP	6.98 ± 0.23	4.46 ± 0.89	6.88 ± 0.11	5.05 ± 0.24	0.9716	0.6197	4	6	5	6	
Rev-Frba	CTX	3.89 ± 0.03	2.51 ± 0.06	3.91 ± 0.02	2.47 ± 0.07	0.9536	0.9276	4	5	4	6	
her crou	HP	4.97 ± 0.07	2.34 ± 0.09	4.96 ± 0.06	2.26 ± 0.11	0.9993	0.9805	4	6	5	6	
Dho	CTX	6.42 ± 0.07	5.47 ± 0.10	6.35 ± 0.09	5.49 ± 0.07	0.7058	0.9276	4	5	4	6	
200	HP	7.62 ± 0.08	6.12 ± 0.23	7.63 ± 0.10	6.10 ± 0.25	0.9993	0.9805	4	6	5	6	
Tef	CTX	3.98 ± 0.02	3.35 ± 0.06	3.96 ± 0.02	3.24 ± 0.05	0.9536	0.7245	4	5	4	6	
163	HP	4.80 ± 0.09	3.23 ± 0.05	4.80 ± 0.02	2.94 ± 0.07	0.9993	0.7872	4	6	5	6	
Nfil3	CTX	7.11 ± 0.05	6.46 ± 0.17	6.88 ± 0.06	6.13 ± 0.07	0.0102	0.0206	4	5	4	6	
Njilo	HP	7.86 ± 0.10	8.58 ± 0.47	7.71 ± 0.13	8.22 ± 0.21	0.6950	0.713	4	6	5	6	
Dec1	CTX	4.88 ± 0.04	3.62 ± 0.09	4.66 ± 0.02	3.27 ± 0.04	0.0102	0.0143	4	5	4	6	
Dec1	HP	5.54 ± 0.11	3.92 ± 0.11	5.49 ± 0.07	3.82 ± 0.07	0.9951	0.9805	4	6	5	6	

Table 2.3. SD induced changes in ribosome-associated transcript abundance within PV:RiboTag mice.

2.10 Supplementary material:

Table 2.4. Primer Designs

Gene Name	Forward Primer	Reverse Primer
Actg1	ACTCTTCCAGCCTTCCTTC	ATCTCCTTCTGCATCCTGTC
Hprt	CGTGATTAGCGATGATGAACCA	CTTTCAGTCCTGTCCATAATCAGT
Gapdh	GTGTTTCCTCGTCCCGTAGA	AATCCGTTCACACCGACCTT
Pgk1	TCGTGATGAGGGTGGACTTC	ACAGCAGCCTTGATCCTTTG
Сура	CCACCGTGTTCTTCGACATC	AGGAACCCTTATAGCCAAATCCT
Tuba4a	ATGCGCGAGTGCATTTCAG	CACCAATGGTCTTATCGCTGG
Tbp	GCAGCCTCAGTACAGCAATC	GGTGCAGTGGTCAGAGTTTG
Arc	CCAGATCCAGAACCACATGAA	GAGAGTGTACCCTCACTGTATTG
Homer1a	GCATTGCCATTTCCACATAGG	ATGAACTTCCATATTTATCCACCTTACTT
Narp	TGCTGATAGAGTGGGGGCAAT	CAGCTGTGCGACCTTGTC
Bdnf	GGTCACAGCGGCAGATAAA	TCAGTTGGCCTTTGGATACC
Npas4	CTTCTCAACACTACCGCCTG	TGCTTGGCTTGAAGTCTCAC
cFos	GAAGAGGAAGAGAAACGGAGAAT	CTTGGAGTGTATCTGTCAGCTC
FosB	AGAAGACCCCGAGAAGAGAC	TCTTCGTAGGGGATCTTGCA
Clock	CCAAAGGCCAGCAGTGGATA	TTGTCAGCAGCTGTCTCAGG
Bmal1	CCCATACACAGAAGCAAACT	ACAGACTCGGAGACAAAGAG
Cry1	ТССССТССССТТТСТСТТТА	TTGTCCCAAGGGATCTGAAC
Cry2	AAGCTGAATTCGCGTCTGTT	AACAGCCTTGGGAACACATC
Per1	CCAGGATGTGGGTGTCTTCT	TTTCCTGGGTGAAGTCCTTG
Per2	AAGAACGCGGATATGTTTGC	CAGGATCTTCCCAGAAACCA
Rev-Erba	CGACCCTGGACTCCAATAACA	AACCTTGAGTCAGGGACTGG
Dbp	GCCAGCTGCTTGACATCTAGG	GCATCTCTCGACCTCTTGGC
Tef	CCTTCCCTCTGGTCCTGAAGA	CAGAGACGGCCATGGTACTG
Nfil3	GAGGGTGTAGTGGGCAAGTC	ATCCGAAGCTTGTGCGGTAA
Dec1	TGGCGAAGCATGAGAACACT	CTTTGGGAGCCGAGTCCAAT
Mbp	CCTTGACTCCATCGGGCGCT	CTTCTGGGGCAGGGAGCCAT
Gfap	TCCTGGAACAGCAAAACAAG	CAGCCTCAGGTTGGTTTCAT
NPY	CAAGAGATCCAGCCCTGAGA	ACATGGAAGGGTCTTCAAGC
SOM	CTCGGACCCCAGACTCCGTC	CTCGGGCTCCAGGGCATCAT
Griar4	GTTTTCCCTGGGTGCCTTTA	GAAGAACCACCATACGCCTC
Gad67	GACACCGGGGACAAGGCGAT	TCCCACGGTGCCCTTTGCTT
Parvalbumin	GTCGATGACAGACGTGCTCA	TTGTGGTCGAAGGAGTCTGC
Vglut2	ATACTAGAGGGGTGGCCATC	GTGCAGCAATGAGGAAGACA
Vglut1	CCAGCATCTCTGAGGAGGAG	GGCTGAGAGATGAGGAGCAG
Camk2a	GCCTGTACCAGCAGATCATCAAA	GGGTTGATGGTCAGCATCTTA

Gene name			Compre	ehensive	Gen	orm*	Norm	Finder	Intergroup	Variation	Intragroup Variation	
	Condition	Region	Stability	Ranking	Stability	Ranking	Stability	Ranking	S	SD	S	SD
	2 k	СТХ	4.95	6	0.066	3	0.025	6	-0.005	0.005	0.003	0.00
Acta1	5-0	HIP	5.18	6	0.112	5	0.060	4	0.026	-0.026	0.003	0.00
Aligi	C h	СТХ	7	7	0.158	6	0.102	7	0.066	-0.066	0.038	0.00
	6-1	HIP	7	7	0.147	6	0.053	7	0.010	-0.010	0.020	0.01
	2.1	СТХ	2.45	2	0.057	2	0.012	2	0.009	-0.009	0.000	0.00
11	3-0	HIP	7	7	0.183	6	0.151	6	-0.119	0.119	0.085	0.01
Hprt		СТХ	2.66	3	0.081	1	0.061	4	-0.028	0.028	0.009	0.00
	6-h	HIP	1	1	0.055	1	0.012	1	0.013	-0.013	0.000	0.00
	2 6	СТХ	1.41	1	0.048	1	0.009	1	0.010	-0.010	0.000	0.00
Candh	3-N	HIP	1	1	0.049	1	0.037	1	0.012	-0.012	0.002	0.00
Gupun	<u>, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , </u>	СТХ	6	6	0.127	5	0.078	6	0.060	-0.060	0.003	0.00
	6-N	HIP	4.56	5	0.126	5	0.037	6	0.013	-0.013	0.008	0.00
	2.1	CTX	2.82	3	0.048	1	0.020	4	0.006	-0.006	0.002	0.00
	5-0	HIP	3.46	4	0.060	2	0.069	5	0.025	-0.025	0.011	0.0
ГУКІ	C h	СТХ	1.73	1	0.081	1	0.052	2	-0.016	0.016	0.009	0.0
	6-N	HIP	5.23	6	0.111	4	0.031	5	0.003	-0.003	0.004	0.00
	2 h	CTX	3.56	4	0.072	4	0.019	3	0.015	-0.015	0.001	0.00
Oung	5-11	HIP	3.22	3	0.084	3	0.052	3	0.030	-0.030	0.000	0.00
сура	C h	СТХ	3.46	5	0.088	2	0.067	5	-0.038	0.038	0.006	0.00
	6-N	HIP	2	2	0.055	1	0.021	3	0.009	-0.009	0.005	0.00
	2.6	СТХ	5.73	7	0.081	5	0.022	5	-0.025	0.025	0.002	0.00
Tubada	3-0	HIP	2.11	2	0.049	1	0.045	2	0.013	-0.013	0.004	0.00
100040	C h	СТХ	2.24	2	0.105	4	0.022	1	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.00
	6-h	HIP	4.23	4	0.089	3	0.024	4	-0.018	0.018	0.001	0.00
	2.5	СТХ	4.3	5	0.085	6	0.027	7	-0.011	0.011	0.003	0.00
The	3-n	HIP	4.95	5	0.099	4	0.045	2	0.013	-0.013	0.001	0.00
IDP		СТХ	2.83	4	0.096	3	0.060	3	-0.044	0.044	0.001	0.00
	6-h	HIP	3	3	0.078	2	0.020	2	-0.030	0.030	0.003	0.00

Table 2.5 Housekeeping stability analysis for Camk2a::RiboTag samples.
			Comprehensive		Genorm*		NormFinder		Intergroup Variation		Intragroup Variation	
Gene name	Condition	Region	Stability	Ranking	Stability	Ranking	Stability	Ranking	s	SD	S	SD
Actg1	3-h	CTX	5.12	5	0.089	6	0.033	5	-0.007	0.007	0.003	0.003
		HIP	3.76	5	0.189	5	0.046	4	-0.032	0.032	0.028	0.001
	6-h	СТХ	7	7	0.142	6	0.063	7	-0.032	0.032	0.019	0.010
		HIP	3.56	4	0.144	5	0.033	3	0.025	-0.025	0.003	0.012
Hprt	3-h	СТХ	5.44	6	0.080	4	0.035	7	0.030	-0.030	0.000	0.001
		HIP	6.74	7	0.246	7	0.100	7	-0.046	0.046	0.031	0.059
	6-h	СТХ	1.19	1	0.077	1	0.033	3	0.020	-0.020	0.002	0.001
		HIP	1.57	1	0.106	1	0.030	2	0.022	-0.022	0.005	0.005
Gapdh	3-h	СТХ	1.68	1	0.041	1	0.032	4	-0.020	0.020	0.001	0.002
		HIP	3.46	4	0.166	4	0.040	3	-0.015	0.015	0.010	0.005
	6-h	СТХ	2.51	3	0.099	3	0.032	2	0.023	-0.023	0.001	0.001
		HIP	2.34	3	0.106	1	0.019	1	0.039	-0.039	0.000	0.008
Pgk1	3-h	СТХ	2.28	3	0.041	1	0.031	3	-0.019	0.019	0.001	0.003
		HIP	1.32	1	0.143	1	0.014	1	-0.015	0.015	0.002	0.000
	6-h	СТХ	2.28	2	0.077	1	0.031	1	-0.001	0.001	0.008	0.002
		HIP	4.16	5	0.135	3	0.042	4	-0.012	0.012	0.016	0.007
Сура	3-h	СТХ	6	7	0.085	5	0.034	6	0.021	-0.021	0.002	0.003
		HIP	6.24	6	0.215	5	0.068	6	0.027	-0.027	0.056	0.004
	6-h	СТХ	4.56	5	0.12	5	0.045	5	-0.025	0.025	0.003	0.009
		HIP	7	7	0.242	6	0.085	6	-0.070	0.070	0.002	0.138
Tuba4a	3-h	СТХ	1.86	2	0.059	2	0.016	1	-0.003	0.003	0.000	0.000
		HIP	2.78	3	0.152	2	0.061	5	0.045	-0.045	0.010	0.024
	6-h	CTX	5.23	6	0.112	4	0.047	6	0.036	-0.036	0.004	0.006
		HIP	6	6	0.177	5	0.052	5	-0.008	0.008	0.043	0.002
ТЬр	3-h	СТХ	3.56	4	0.07	3	0.025	2	-0.003	0.003	0.005	0.000
		HIP	1.86	2	0.143	1	0.019	1	0.004	-0.004	0.012	0.000
	6-h	СТХ	3.72	4	0.091	2	0.039	4	-0.020	0.020	0.002	0.005
		HIP	1.86	2	0.124	2	0.019	1	0.004	-0.004	0.003	0.001

Table 2.6 Housekeeping stability analysis for PV::RiboTag samples.

Supplementary figures:



Figure S1. Total sleep time in freely-sleeping mice. Proportion of time spent in *ad lib* sleep between ZT0 and ZT3 or ZT6 for mice used in RT-qPCR experiments (A) and *in situ hybridization* experiments (B). Sleep behavior (during which mice were observed to be inactive and in stereotyped sleep posture) was quantified in 5-min or 2-min intervals across the *ad lib* sleep period (for 6-h and 3-h experiments, respectively). Values expressed as a mean percentage of total time spent in sleep (± SEM), in 60-min intervals.



Figure S2. Strategy for quantification of fluorescence *in situ* signals. (A) Anatomical regions for quantification were demarcated manually (shown in orange). Within these anatomical regions, *Pvalb* (green) fluorescence delineated PV+ and non-PV+ ROIs. Background was defined as any area not expressing IEG (red) fluorescence. An automated protocol then calculated the total fluorescence intensity and area of each ROI and background area. These values were used to estimate the number of IEG fluorescence dots within each ROI. (B) Example of IEG and *Pvalb* fluorescence and identification. (C) Cumulative frequency distribution of A/P coordinates (relative to Bregma) for brain sections used in analysis.



<u>Figure S3.</u> Mean *Pvalb* mRNA expression is similar between freelysleeping and SD mice. (A) Mean *Pvalb* expression levels were similar in sleeping and SD mice, in all, IEG+, and IEG- PV+ interneurons. (B-D) Neither the total *Pvalb*+ cell count nor the *Pvalb*+ area differed between sleeping and SD mice, for either (B) hippocampal areas DG, CA1, or CA3, (C) whole neocortex, (D) or cortical layers 1-6. Values indicate mean ± SEM; *N.S.*, Holm–Sidak *post hoc* test vs. Sleep.

2.11 References:

ACDBio (2017). Technical Note: Guideline on how to quantify RNAscope® Fluorescent Assay Results.

Andersen, C.L., Ledet-Jensen, J., and Orntoft, T. (2004). Normalization of real-time quantitative RT-PCR data: a model based variance estimation approach to identify genes suited for normalization - applied to bladder- and colon-cancer data-sets. Cancer Research *64*, 5425-5250.

Aton, S.J. (2013). Set and setting: How behavioral state regulates sensory function and plasticity. Neurobiol Learn Mem *106*, 1-10.

Aton, S.J., Broussard, C., Dumoulin, M., Seibt, J., Watson, A., Coleman, T., and Frank, M.G. (2013). Visual experience and subsequent sleep induce sequential plastic changes in putative inhibitory and excitatory cortical neurons. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *110*, 3101-3106.

Belenky, F., Wesenstern, N.J., Thorne, D.R., Thomas, M.L., Sing, H.C., Redmond, D.P., Russo, M.B., and Balkin, T.J. (2003). Patterns of performance degradation and restoration during sleep restriction and subsequent recovery: a sleep dose-response study J Sleep Res *12*, 1-12.

Bridi, M.C.D., Zong, F.-J., Min, X., Luo, N., Tran, T., Qiu, J., Severin, D., Zhang, X.-T., Wang, G., Zhu, Z.-J., *et al.* (2020). Daily Oscillation of the Excitation-Inhibition Balance in Visual Cortical Circuits. Neuron *105*, 621-629.

Chai, Y., Fang, Z., Yang, F.N., Xu, S., Deng, Y., Raine, A., Wang, J., Yu, M., Basner, M., Goel, N., *et al.* (2020). Two nights of recovery sleep restores hippocampal connectivity but not episodic memory after total sleep deprivation. Sci Rep *10*.

Chiou, Y.-Y., Yang, Y., Rashid, N., Ye, R., Selby, C.P., and Sancar, A. (2016). Mammalian Period represses and de-represses transcription by displacing CLOCK–BMAL1 from promoters in a Cryptochrome-dependent manner. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA *113*, E6072-6079.

Cirelli, C., Gutierrez, C.M., and Tononi, G. (2004). Extensive and divergent effects of sleep and wakefulness on brain gene expression. Neuron *41*, 35-43.

Cirelli, C., Pompeiano, M., and Tononi, G. (1996). Neuronal gene expression in the waking state: a role for the locus coeruleus. Science *274*, 1211-1215.

Cirelli, C., and Tononi, G. (2000). Differential expression of plasticity-related genes in waking and sleep and their regulation by the noradrenergic system. JNeurosci *20*, 9187-9194.

Clawson, B.C., Durkin, J., Suresh, A.K., Pickup, E.J., Broussard, C.G., and Aton, S.J. (2018). Sleep Promotes, and Sleep Loss Inhibits, Selective Changes in Firing Rate, Response Properties and Functional Connectivity of Primary Visual Cortex Neurons. Frontiers in Systems Neuroscience *12*, 40.

Cohen, S.M., Ma, H., Kuchibhotla, K.V., Watson, B.O., Buzsaki, G., Froemke, R.C., and Tsien, R.W. (2016). Excitation-Transcription Coupling in Parvalbumin-Positive Interneurons Employs a Novel CaM Kinase-Dependent Pathway Distinct from Excitatory Neurons. . Neuron *90*, 292-307.

de Vivo, L., Bellesi, M., Marshall, W., Bushong, E.A., Ellisman, H., Tononi, G., and Cirelli, C. (2017). Ultrastructural evidence for synaptic scaling across the wake/sleep cycle. Science *355*, 507-510.

Del Cid-Pellitero, E., Plavski, A., Mainville, L., and Jones, B.E. (2017). Homeostatic Changes in GABA and Glutamate Receptors on Excitatory Cortical Neurons during Sleep Deprivation and Recovery. Front Syst Neurosci *11*, 17.

Delorme, J.E., Kodoth, V., and Aton, S.J. (2019). Sleep loss disrupts Arc expression in dentate gyrus neurons. Neurobiol Learn Mem *160*, 73-82.

Dinges, D.F., Pack, F., Williams, K., Gillen, K.A., Powell, J.W., Ott, G.E., Aptowicz, C., and Pack, A.I. (1997). Cumulative sleepiness, mood disturbance, and psychomotor vigilance performance decrements during a week of sleep restricted to 4-5 hours per night Sleep *20*, 267-277.

Donato, F., Rompani, S.B., and Caroni, P. (2013). Parvalbumin-expressing basket-cell network plasticity induced by experience regulates adult learning. Nature *504*, 272-276.

Durkin, J., and Aton, S.J. (2016). Sleep-Dependent Potentiation in the Visual System Is at Odds with the Synaptic Homeostasis Hypothesis. Sleep *39*, 155-159.

Durkin, J., Suresh, A.K., Colbath, J., Broussard, C., Wu, J., Zochowski, M., and Aton, S.J. (2017). Cortically coordinated NREM thalamocortical oscillations play an essential, instructive role in visual system plasticity. Proceedings National Academy of Sciences *114*, 10485-10490.

Franken, P., Thomason, R., Heller, H.C., and O'Hara, B.F. (2007). A non-circadian role for clock-genes in sleep homeostasis:a strain comparison. BMC Neurosci 8.

Frucht, M.M., Quigg, M., and Fountain, N.B. (2000). Distribution of seizure precipitants among epilepsy syndromes Epilepsia *41*, 1534-1539.

Gerashchenko, D., Wisor, J.P., Burns, D., Reh, R.K., Shiromani, P.J., Sakurai, T., de la Iglesia, H.O., and Kilduff, T.S. (2008). Identification of a population of sleep-active cerebral cortex neurons Proc Natl Acad Sci USA *105*, 10227-10232.

Gonzalez, B.J., Mukherjee, D., Ashwal-Fluss, R., Loewenstein, Y., and Citri, A. (2019). Subregion-specific rules govern the distribution of neuronal immediate-early gene induction. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA.

Havekes, R., and Abel, T. (2017). The tired hippocampus: the molecular impact of sleep deprivation on hippocampal function. Curr Opin Neurobiol *44*, 13-19.

Havekes, R., and Aton, S.J. (2020). Impacts of Sleep Loss Versus Waking Experience on Brain Plasticity: Parallel or Orthogonal? Trends in Neuroscience *43*, 385-393.

Havekes, R., Park, A.J., Tudor, J.C., Luczak, V.G., Hansen, R.T., Ferri, S.L., Bruinenberg, V.M., Poplawski, S.G., Day, J.P., Aton, S.J., *et al.* (2016). Sleep deprivation causes memory deficits by negatively impacting neuronal connectivity in hippocampal area CA1. eLife *5*, pii: e13424.

Hoekstra, M.M.B., Emmenegger, Y., Hubbard, J., and Franken, P. (2019). Cold-inducible RNA-binding protein (CIRBP) adjusts clock-gene expression and REM-sleep recovery following sleep deprivation. eLife *8*.

Imamura, N., Nonaka, A., Yamamoto, H., Matsuki, N., and Nomura, H. (2011). Experience-dependent Homer1a expression in excitatory and inhibitory neurons. Neuroreport *22*, 353-357.

Jiang, Y., Gong, N.N., Hu, X.S., Ni, M.J., Pasi, R., and Matsunami, H. (2015). Molecular profiling of activated olfactory neurons identifies odorant receptors for odors in vivo. Nat Neurosci *18*, 1446-1454.

Kuhlman, S.J., Olivas, N.D., Tring, E., Ikrar, T., Xu, X., and Trachtenberg, J.T. (2013). A disinhibitory microcircuit initiates critical period plasticity in visual cortex. Nature *501*, 543-546.

Lawn, N., Lieblich, S., Lee, J., and Dunne, J. (2014). Are seizures in the setting of sleep deprivation provoked? Epilepsy and Behavior 33.

Mackiewicz, M., Shockley, K.R., Romer, M.A., Galante, R.J., Zimmerman, J.E., Naidoo, N., Baldwin, D.A., Jensen, S.T., Churchill, G.A., and Pack, A.I. (2007). Macromolecule biosynthesis - a key function of sleep. Physiol Genomics *31*, 441-457.

Mang, G.M., and Franken, P. (2015). Genetic dissection of sleep homeostasis Curr Top Behav Neurosci *25*, 25-53.

Maret, S., Dorsaz, S., Gurcel, L., Pradervand, S., Petit, B., Pfister, C., Hagenbuchle, O., O'Hara, B.F., Franken, P., and Tafti, M. (2008). Homer1a is a core brain molecular correlate of sleep loss. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA *104*, 20090-20095.

McDermott, C.M., LaHoste, G.J., Chen, C., Musto, A., Bazan, N.G., and Magee, J.C. (2003). Sleep deprivation causes behavioral, synaptic, and membrane excitability alterations in hippocampal neurons. JNeurosci *23*, 9687-9695.

Mednick, S., Nakayama, K., and Stickgold, R. (2003). Sleep-dependent learning: a nap is as good as a night. Nat Neurosci *6*, 697-698.

Mikhail, C., Vaucher, A., Jimenez, S., and Tafti, M. (2017). ERK signaling pathway regulates sleep duration through activity-induced gene expression during wakefulness. Science Signaling *10*.

Mongrain, V., La Spada, F., Curie, T., and Franken, P. (2011). Sleep Loss Reduces the DNA-Binding of BMAL1, CLOCK, and NPAS2 to Specific Clock Genes in the Mouse Cerebral Cortex. PLoS One *6*.

Noya, S.B., Colamea, D., Bruning, F., Spinnler, A., Mircsof, D., Opitz, L., Mann, M., Tuagarajen, S.K., Robles, M.S., and Brown, S.A. (2019). The Forebrain Synaptic Transcriptome Is Organized by Clocks but Its Proteome Is Driven by Sleep Science *366*.

Ognjanovski, N., Broussard, C., Zochowski, M., and Aton, S.J. (2018). Hippocampal Network Oscillations Rescue Memory Consolidation Deficits Caused by Sleep Loss. Cereb Cortex *28*, 3711-3723.

Ognjanovski, N., Schaeffer, S., Mofakham, S., Wu, J., Maruyama, D., Zochowski, M., and Aton, S.J. (2017). Parvalbumin-expressing interneurons coordinate hippocampal network dynamics required for memory consolidation. Nature Communications *8*, 15039.

Poirrier, J.-E., Guillonneu, F., Renaut, J., Sergeant, K., Luxen, A., Maquet, P., and Leprince, P. (2008). Proteomic changes in rat hippocampus and adrenals following short-term sleep deprivation. Proteome Science *6*.

Puentes-Mestril, C., and Aton, S.J. (2017). Linking network activity to synaptic plasticity during sleep: hypotheses and recent data. Frontiers in Neural Circuits *11*, doi: 10.3389/fncir.2017.00061.

Puentes-Mestril, C., Roach, J., Niethard, N., Zochowski, M., and Aton, S.J. (2019). How rhythms of the sleeping brain tune memory and synaptic plasticity. Sleep *42*, pii: zsz095.

Raven, F., Meerlo, P., Van der Zee, E.A., Abel, T., and Havekes, R. (2019). A brief period of sleep deprivation causes spine loss in the dentate gyrus of mice. Neurobiol Learn Mem *160*, 83-90.

Saletin, J.M., and Walker, M.P. (2012). Nocturnal mnemonics: sleep and hippocampal memory processing. Front Neurol 3.

Sanz, E., Bean, J.C., Carey, D.P., Quintana, A., and McKnight, G.S. (2019). RiboTag: Ribosomal Tagging Strategy to Analyze Cell-Type-Specific mRNA Expression In Vivo. Curr Protoc Neurosci *88*, e77.

Sanz, E., Yang, L., Su, T., Morris, D.R., McKnight, G.S., and Amieux, P.S. (2009). Celltype-specific isolation of ribosome-associated mRNA from complex tissues. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *106*, 13939-13944.

Schmutz, I., Ripperger, J.A., Baeriswyl-Aebischer, S., and Albrecht, U. (2010). The mammalian clock component PERIOD2 coordinates circadian output by interaction with nuclear receptors. Genes Development *24*, 345-357

Shigeoka, T., Jung, J., Holt, C.E., and Jung, H. (2018). Axon-TRAP-RiboTag: Affinity Purification of Translated mRNAs from Neuronal Axons in Mouse In Vivo. In RNA Detection (Methods in Molecular Biology) (New York: Humana Press), pp. 85-94.

Sosa, J.M., Huber, D.E., Welk, B., and H.L., F. (2014). Development and application of MIPAR[™]: a novel software package for two- and three-dimensional microstructural characterization. Integrating Materials and Manufacturing Innovation *3*, 123-140.

Stickgold, R. (2005). Sleep-dependent memory consolidation. Nature 437, 1272-1278.

Terao, A., Wisor, J.P., Peyron, C., Apte-Deshpande, A., Wurts, S.W., Edgar, D.M., and Kilduff, T.S. (2006). Gene expression in the rat brain during sleep deprivation and recovery sleep: an Affymetrix GeneChip(R) study. Neuroscience *137*, 593-605.

Tononi, G., and Cirelli, C. (2006). Sleep function and synaptic homeostasis. Sleep Medicine Reviews *10*, 49-62.

Tudor, J.C., Davis, E.J., Peixoto, L., Wimmer, M.E., van Tilborg, E., Park, A.J., Poplawski, S.G., Chung, C.W., Havekes, R., Huang, J., *et al.* (2016). Sleep deprivation impairs memory by attenuating mTORC1-dependent protein synthesis. Sci Signal *9*, ra41.

Tyssowski, K.M., DeStefino, N.R., Cho, J.-H., Dunn, C.J., Poston, R.G., Carty, C.E., Jones, R.D., Chang, S.M., Romeo, R., Wurzelmann, M.K., *et al.* (2018). Different Neuronal Activity Patterns Induce Different Gene Expression Programs. Neuron *98*, 530-546.

Tyssowski, K.M., and Gray, J.M. (2019). The neuronal stimulation–transcription coupling map. Curr Opin Neurobiol.

Vazdarjanova, A., Ramirez-Amaya, V., Insel, N., Plummer, T.K., Rosi, S., Chowdhury, S., Mikhael, D., Worley, P.F., Guzowski, J.F., and Barnes, C.A. (2006). Spatial Exploration Induces ARC, a Plasticity-Related Immediate-Early Gene, Only in Calcium/Calmodulin-Dependent Protein Kinase II-Positive Principal Excitatory and Inhibitory Neurons of the Rat Forebrain. 498 3.

Vecsey, C.G., Peixoto, L., Choi, J.H., Wimmer, M., Jaganath, D., Hernandez, P.J., Blackwell, J., Meda, K., Park, A.J., Hannenhalli, S., *et al.* (2012). Genomic analysis of sleep deprivation reveals translational regulation in the hippocampus. Physiol Genomics *44*, 981-991.

Vyazovskiy, V.V., Olscese, U., Lazimy, Y.M., Faraguna, U., Esser, S.K., Williams, J.C., Cirelli, C., and Tononi, G. (2009). Cortical firing and sleep homeostasis. Neuron *63*, 865-878.

Wisor, J.P., O'Hara, B.F., Terao, A., Selby, C.P., Kilduff, T.S., Sancar, A., Edgar, D.M., and Franken, P. (2002). A role for cryptochromes in sleep regulation BMC Neurosci *3*.

Wisor, J.P., Pasumarthi, R.K., Gerashchenko, D., Thompson, C.L., Pathak, S., Sancar, A., Franken, P., Lein, E.S., and Kilduff, T.S. (2008). Sleep deprivation effects on circadian clock gene expression in the cerebral cortex parallel electroencephalographic differences among mouse strains J Neurosci *28*, 7193-7201.

Wu, J.C., Gillin, J.C., Buchsbaum, M.S., Chen, P., Keator, D.B., Kohsla Wu, N., Darnall, L.A., Fallon, J.H., and Bunney, W.E. (2006). Frontal lobe metabolic decreases with sleep deprivation not totally reversed by recovery sleep. Neuropsychopharmacology *31*, 2783-2792.

Xie, F., Peng, X., Chen, D., Lei, X., and Zhang, B. (2012). miRDeepFinder: a miRNA analysis tool for deep sequencing of plant small RNAs. . Plant Mol Biol *80*, 75-84.

Yap, E.-L., and Greenberg, M.E. (2018). Activity-Regulated Transcription: Bridging the Gapbetween Neural Activity and Behavior. Neuron *100*, 330-348.

Zhu, J., Hafycz, J., Keenan, B.T., Guo, X., Pack, A.I., and Naidoo, N. (2020). Acute Sleep Loss Upregulates the Synaptic Scaffolding Protein, Homer1a, in Non-canonical Sleep/Wake Brain Regions, Claustrum, Piriform and Cingulate Cortices. Front Neurosci *14*.

CHAPTER III

How Rhythms of the Sleeping Brain Tune Memory and Synaptic Plasticity

<u>This chapter includes the publication</u>: **Puentes-Mestril C**, Roach J, Niethard N, Zochowski M, Aton SJ (2019) *How rhythms of the sleeping brain tune memory and synaptic plasticity.* SLEEP, 11(61): zsz095, DOI: 10.1093/sleep/zsz095

3.1 Abstract

Decades of neurobehavioral research has linked sleep-associated rhythms in various brain areas to improvements in cognitive performance. However, it remains unclear what synaptic changes might underlie sleep-dependent declarative memory consolidation and procedural task improvement, and why these same changes appear not to occur across a similar interval of wake. Here we describe recent research on how one specific feature of sleep - network rhythms characteristic of REM and NREM - could drive synaptic strengthening or weakening in specific brain circuits. We provide an overview of how these rhythms could affect synaptic plasticity individually and in concert. We also present an overarching hypothesis for how all network rhythms occurring across sleep could aid in encoding new information in brain circuits.

3.2 Introduction: Crescendo or diminuendo? The role of sleep in tuning synaptic strength in the brain

More than a century of study has made clear that sleep promotes both declarative memory storage and skill learning. Such processes are now known to be associated with changes in the strength of connections between neurons in the brain - so-called "synaptic plasticity". Over the past two decades, evidence has accumulated that sleep directly promotes synaptic plasticity. This evidence suggests that sleep can have differing effects on synaptic strength, depending on the specific brain circuit under study and the animal's prior experience (**Figure 3.1**).

For example, proponents of the synaptic homeostasis hypothesis (SHY) cite a number of studies indicating that when animals remain awake for several hours, expression of a number of genes involved in synaptic plasticity (e.g., immediate early genes, neurotrophic factor genes) and synaptic localization of glutamatergic receptors are elevated in the neocortex ¹. When animals are allowed to sleep, levels of these indicators of synaptic strength decline. In support of the idea that glutamatergic synapses are strengthened during wake, firing rates in some neocortical neurons can also increase after a period of extended wake ². Recent microanatomical evidence (based on serial transmission electron microscopy) supports the idea that at least some neocortical synapses increase in size during a period of wake, relative to a period of sleep ³ (Figure **3.1b, middle**). Taken together, these data support the idea that neocortical synapses undergo relative strengthening across wake, and relative weakening during sleep. However, a number of lines of evidence (some of which are outlined below) suggest that sleep effects on synaptic strength are more diverse and complex than the synaptic homeostasis hypothesis would predict.

First, recent data characterizing changes in individual neurons' firing rates over time show that sleep has heterogeneous effects within neural circuits (**Figure 3.1a**). Spontaneous firing rates of individual neurons in both cortex and hippocampus vary over several orders of magnitude, and multiple studies have found that across a period of sleep, higher-firing neurons undergo firing rate reductions, while sparsely-firing neurons show increases ⁴⁻⁶. Critically, our recent experiments have shown that firing rate changes in both directions (i.e., increases and decreases) are blocked by a period of sleep loss ⁵.

In addition, a number of recent biochemical and anatomical studies indicate that in brain areas such as the hippocampus, sleep dependent shifts in plasticity related markers often diverge from what SHY would predict. For example, anatomical data in both area CA1 and DG show that sleep loss reduces (rather than increases) the number of dendritic spines in pyramidal neurons ^{7, 8}. Prolonged wake also leads to reduced cAMP levels in the hippocampus, which in turn disrupts the strengthening of glutamatergic synapses through long-term potentiation (LTP) ⁹. Further, expression of the immediate-early gene Arc, which is required for LTP, long-term depression (LTD), and homeostatic plasticity, is simultaneously increased in neocortex *and decreased in hippocampal structures* following a period of extended wake ¹⁰.

Finally, available data suggests that in both hippocampus and neocortex, following a learning experience, synapses can be strengthened in a circuit-specific manner during sleep. In hippocampus, both neuronal firing rates and cellular indicators of synaptic strengthening increase during sleep in the hours following spatial or contextual



Figure 3.1: Overview of observed and hypothetical changes to neurons across sleep. Sleep-associated changes in firing rate (a) are heterogeneous, with highly active neurons (*top left*) undergoing sleep-dependent decreases in rate, and sparsely-firing neurons (*bottom left*) undergoing sleep-dependent firing rate increases. Changes in synaptic structure across sleep (b): as predicted by SHY (global synaptic downscaling; *top row*), as seen in ultrastructural studies in non-learning animals (decreases in size of smaller boutons; *middle row*), and as seen in cortical areas activated during prior learning (increases in synapse number and stability; *bottom row*).

learning ¹¹⁻¹⁷. In the motor cortex of adult mice, dendritic spine growth occurs in a sleepdependent manner immediately following motor learning ¹⁸ (**Figure 3.1b, bottom**). In the visual cortex of juvenile cats and adult mice, biochemical and electrophysiological indicators of synaptic strengthening are present during sleep in the hours following a novel visual experience ¹⁹⁻²⁵.

An unanswered question is how plastic changes to brain circuitry come about during sleep. A plausible hypothesis (and one increasingly discussed among neuroscientists) is that the neuronal and network activity patterns that characterize sleep play a critical role in promoting specific types of synaptic plasticity ²⁶. Here, we review recent evidence that specific rhythms present in the mammalian brain (**Figure 3.2a**) during rapid eye movement (REM) and non-REM (NREM) sleep promote synaptic plasticity underlying the cognitive benefits of sleep.

3.3 A symphony of NREM sleep rhythms, and their role in synaptic plasticity: NREM sleep is a symphony of rhythms (Figure 3.2a). Some of these rhythms, such as slow wave activity (SWA; comprising delta [1-4Hz] and slow oscillation [< 1 Hz]), are continuous and present for prolonged periods throughout much of NREM sleep. Others, such as thalamocortical spindle (7-14 Hz) and hippocampal sharp wave ripple (> 100Hz) oscillations occur in discrete bursts at intervals, and are more prominent in particular phases of NREM. How these rhythms are coordinated with one another, and their function in processes such as memory consolidation, are areas of active investigation. Here we discuss how specific rhythmic patterns of NREM brain activity participate in regulating synaptic plasticity.



Figure 3.2: Rhythms of NREM sleep, and their effects on neural circuits. Sleep associated rhythms are expressed in memory-subserving hippocampal (indigo), cortical (cyan), and thalamic (red) circuits (a, left and middle). Various NREM-associated rhythms affect different subsets of these circuits (a, right). CTX =cortex; HPC = hippocampus; NRT = thalamic reticular nucleus; TC = thalamocortical relay nucleus. During NREM sleep SPWs, sequential replay of activity patterns among neurons activated sequentially during wake has been reported (b), in both hippocampal and cortical circuits. Additional NREM rhythm-specific mechanisms have been proposed to mediate plasticity in intracortical and thalamocortical circuits (c). These include selective depression and potentiation based on phasing of correlated neuronal activity during upstates and downstates of SWA in NREM (c, middle), intracortical changes in inhibitory interneuron activity during NREM spindles (c, right). SOM+ = somatostatin-expressing interneuron; PARV+ = parvalbumin-expressing interneuron; Ca2+ = calcium.

3.4 Adagio: Slow wave activity (SWA): Numerous studies published over the past two decades have linked one of the most prominent NREM sleep rhythms, SWA (used to refer to rhythms \leq 4 Hz; Figure 3.2a), to consolidation of both declarative and procedural memories in human subjects. Often treated as a unified phenomenon, SWA is an amalgamation of two rhythms: a thalamically-generated delta (1-4 Hz) rhythm and the cortically-generated slow (< 1Hz) oscillation. Both total amounts and intensity (i.e., amplitude or temporal density) of SWA across a sleep interval have been positively correlated with some forms of declarative memory retention ²⁷ or improvement on a wide range of procedural (e.g., sensorimotor) tasks ²⁸⁻³¹ . An intriguing feature of SWA is that it in addition to being homeostatically regulated (i.e., augmented across the brain after a period of prolonged wake), it also appears to be regulated by brain activity during cognitive tasks in prior wake. Task-related increases in SWA in turn appear linked to task improvement ³². For example, "local" SWA (where SWA is augmented over a particular region of cortex activated during prior waking experience) has received a great deal of attention, and appears to predict individuals' sleep-associated improvements on some tasks ^{29, 31, 33}. More recently, studies using non-invasive brain stimulation techniques have provided additional evidence for a causal role of SWA in promoting cognitive functions. Enhancing SWA in NREM (through auditory closed-loop stimulation or transcranial direct current stimulation [tDCS]) leads to improvements in declarative verbal memory ³⁴⁻⁴⁰. Furthermore, it was demonstrated that SWA augmentation through tDCS can lead to functional (i.e. motor) improvements during recovery from stroke ⁴¹, and memory consolidation improvements in patients with mild cognitive impairment ⁴². Conversely, disruption of SWA during NREM sleep can interfere with sleep-associated memory

consolidation ⁴³. Together these data suggest a causal role for SWA in promoting neurobiological events underlying cognition.

What are the neurobiological underpinnings of SWA's benefits for cognition? SWA displays numerous phenomenological features that are useful for consolidating plastic changes initiated in neural circuits during wake. Its homeostatic regulation means that slow wave intensity and amplitude are greatest immediately following wake, and particularly following prolonged wake. The local nature of this homeostasis means that areas highly active in wake (e.g. during learning) experience even greater subsequent SWA. Slow waves propagate across the cortex, often along the rostro-caudal axis 44, 45 an ideal scenario for plasticity between neighboring cortical regions, and possibly specifically in the regulation of top-down feedback circuits. Recent data suggest that temporal coordination of activity between adjacent cortical regions may play a critical role in promoting sleep-dependent memory processes. Miyamoto et al. ⁴⁶ found that NREMtargeted optogenetic inhibition of top-down cortical feedback to primary somoatosensory cortex disrupted sleep-dependent consolidation on a texture discrimination task in mice. Moreover, rhythmically stimulating somatosensory and motor cortices synchronously (but not asynchronously) at a delta frequency (2 Hz) was sufficient to rescue memory consolidation deficits associated with sleep loss ⁴⁶. Finally (as we discuss in detail below), SWA coordinates other NREM rhythms to optimally synchronize neuronal activity across a number of brain circuits.

An unanswered question, and one that is vigorously debated in the field, is whether SWA promotes consolidation primarily via synaptic weakening, synaptic strengthening, or both ²⁶. Proponents of SHY have suggested that SWA in particular may lead to overall reductions in synaptic strength due to highly coincident spike timing between neurons, coupled with altered spike timing-dependent plasticity (STDP) rules that bias synapses toward depression during NREM sleep ⁴⁷. However, it is unclear whether invoking the precise alteration proposed in those studies is warranted. As reviewed elsewhere ²⁶, available data suggest that NREM-associated changes in neuromodulation may limit STDP (either potentiation or depression) during SWA. In addition, STDP rules appear to vary substantially based on pre- and postsynaptic neurons' firing frequency and their pattern of firing (i.e., tonic vs. bursting)^{48, 49}. There are limited physiological data addressing STDP rules during SWA (Figure 3.2c). Gonzalez-Rueda et al. optogenetically stimulated (presynaptic) layer 4 cortical neurons and carried out whole-cell current clamp recordings from (postsynaptic) layer 2-3 neurons in the barrel cortex during SWA in urethane anaesthetized mice. The authors found a general lack of STDP-based synaptic strengthening when pre- and postsynaptic neurons' firing was restricted to SWA up states. In contrast, conventional STDP (with both strengthening and weakening occurring depending on the order of pre- and postsynaptic neurons' firing) was present during down states ⁵⁰. The authors also found that, when restricted to up states, presynaptic stimulation alone elicited postsynaptic LTD. Another study carried out by Bartram et al. found weakening of synapses among layer 3 neurons in medial entorhinal cortex slices when subthreshold presynaptic inputs were paired with induced postsynaptic up states. However, this same study also found that during up states, presynaptic inputs paired with

suprathreshold postsynaptic bursts of firing underwent LTP ⁵¹. An important caveat is that, like many studies linking sleep to reduction in synaptic strength (reviewed in ²⁶), these two studies were carried out in juvenile (i.e., 2-3 week old) mice, where rates of synapse elimination are developmentally upregulated. An unresolved question is thus whether the same STDP rules are present in NREM up states later in life.

Several recent studies suggest that under some circumstances, coordinated firing between neurons during SWA induces synaptic potentiation. Optogenetic disruption of SWA during NREM is associated with impaired plasticity in the adult mouse visual cortex ²⁴; this form of plasticity is initiated by experience in prior wake, and is associated with synaptic potentiation ^{25, 52}. Similarly, a recent study found that evoked potentials in the cat cortex were enhanced selectively across periods of NREM sleep (but not across periods of wake or REM). They also found that presynaptic stimulation patterned to mimic that seen in SWA (but not that seen in wake) increased cortical neurons' excitatory postsynaptic potential (EPSP) amplitude ⁵³. Finally Kruskal et al. used *in vivo* imaging of calcium transients to identify neuronal ensembles activated in a stereotyped fashion and consistently recruited during SWA up states ⁵⁴. The authors found that within this ensemble, LTP was consistently induced by canonical STDP rules (i.e., following prebefore-post spike pairings). They also found that the amplitude of LTP reflected the level of neuronal activation over tens of ms prior to the pre-before-post firing, rather than at the moment of pairing. The same pairing protocol outside of the ensemble (and where prior neuronal activation was low) led to LTD ⁵⁴. Together, these studies suggests that subthreshold synaptic inputs to cortical neurons may induce synapse-specific weakening

during SWA up states, while suprathreshold inputs (i.e., those eliciting postsynaptic spiking) are simultaneously preserved or strengthened.

3.5 Messa di voce: Thalamocortical sleep spindles: Another characteristic feature of NREM sleep is the occurrence of discrete waxing-and-waning events (sleep spindles) comprised of 7-15 Hz rhythmic activity (Figure 3.2b). The occurrence of sleep spindles in NREM sleep have been extensively linked to cognitive function in human subjects ⁵⁵. A number of studies have found that post-encoding spindle density increases predict sleep-associated declarative memory consolidation ^{56, 57}. Pharmacological interventions that augment or decrease spindling activity in NREM have enhancing or disruptive effects on the consolidation process, respectively ⁵⁸. Sleep-associated improvements on a number of sensorimotor tasks are also predicted by task-associated increases in spindle density and amplitude ⁵⁹⁻⁶¹. Similar to reports for SWA, spindle activity appears to have topological specificity - increasing specifically over cortical areas previously involved in task acquisition during wake ⁶²⁻⁶⁴. These task-associated increases in "local" spindling is predictive of sleep-dependent task improvement ⁶⁵. As is true for SWA, auditory or tDCS interventions that increase spindling following memory encoding or procedural task acquisition improves subsequent performance ^{35, 36, 38, 39, 42, 66}.

What circuit-specific events might mediate the effects of spindling on cognitive performance? As is true for SWA, *in vivo*, spindles occur as traveling waves, where spindle up-states are present in physically adjacent regions of cortex in close temporal proximity. However, unlike slow wave oscillations which propagate along the rostrocaudal

axis linking frontal, parietal, and occipital cortices, spindles instead tend to progress along a curving path connecting temporal, parietal, and frontal cortex, temporally linking activity between these regions ⁶⁷. In addition, available data from animal models suggests that spindle oscillations induce coherent phase-locked activity in thalamic and cortical neurons, which may be particularly important for sleep-associated plasticity in sensory and motor systems. For example, functional plasticity in neurons of the primary visual cortex (V1) of both developing cats ²¹ and adult mice ²³ is correlated with the strength of phase-locking of individual neurons' firing to spindle oscillations. Both forms of plasticity involve augmentation of neuronal firing rate responses to visual input, and are mediated by the same intracellular pathways involved in LTP at cortical glutamatergic synapses ^{19,} ^{25, 52}. In the latter system, orientation tuning of mouse V1 neurons is altered in a sleepdependent manner following exposure to a visual stimulus of a specific orientation (orientation-specific response potentiation; OSRP)²³⁻²⁵. Available data suggest that potentiation of thalamic (i.e., LGN) input to V1 is an essential mediator of OSRP. Specifically, thalamocortical LTP induced between LGN and V1 occludes OSRP in vivo, and vice versa, suggesting a common underlying cellular mechanism ⁵². Recent data from our lab show that OSRP is initiated during waking sensory experience, leading to orientation-selective response changes in LGN (but not V1) neurons. During subsequent NREM sleep spindles, coherence of activity between LGN neurons and V1 is augmented in an experience-dependent manner ²⁴. Coherence of V1 neurons' spiking with network activity during spindle oscillations predicts the extent of OSRP in individual mice ²³. Because OSRP is measurable across cortical layers in V1, this suggests that plastic

changes throughout the thalamocortical circuit could be driven by spindle frequency activity.

Recent experiments have aimed to test the causal role of sleep spindles in promoting synaptic plasticity. Hypnotic agents that tend to suppress spindle activity (while sparing other rhythms such as SWA) disrupt sleep-dependent V1 plasticity in developing cats, while those that preserve these rhythms support plasticity ^{68, 69}. Similarly, optogenetic manipulations that disrupt coherent firing during thalamocortical rhythms in NREM sleep disrupt sleep-dependent plasticity in the adult mouse visual system ²⁴. In support of the idea that entrainment of neuronal firing patterns by spindles drives synaptic plasticity, repetitive delivery of patterns of neuronal activity recorded from rat cortex during spindles *in vivo* are sufficient to drive LTP between cortical pyramidal neurons *in vitro* ⁷⁰. Pulsatile stimulation delivered to the cortex at a frequency consistent with spindle oscillations (10 Hz), but not at lower frequencies, can also evoke LTP *in vitro* ⁷⁰ and enhanced sensory-evoked potential amplitudes *in vivo* ⁷¹.

How might spindle-frequency activity drive synaptic strengthening in cortical and thalamocortical circuits? Two recent findings suggest potential underlying mechanisms. An *in vivo* imaging study by Seibt et al (2017) recently described high levels of dendritic calcium influx (which occurred in a synchronized manner among neighboring cortical neurons) which was tightly linked to spindle frequency EEG activity ⁷². Insofar as increasing dendritic calcium is a consistent correlate of (and indeed prerequisite for) LTP ⁷³, this finding is completely consistent with other results linking spindle-frequency activity

to synaptic potentiation in thalamocortical circuits. Critically, this increase in dendritic calcium was not associated with a concomitant increase in neuronal spiking during spindle-rich sleep ⁷² - suggesting a non-Hebbian form of EPSP-driven plasticity, dependent on intra-EPSP timing ^{74, 75} during spindling. An explanation of the unique conditions found during spindles in the Seibt et al study (i.e., high dendritic calcium influx without an increase in somatic calcium or neuronal spiking) may be best explained by a second recent study using in vivo calcium imaging to study activity in specific cortical cell populations during NREM sleep. In that study, Niethard et al (2018) found that specifically in the context of spindle oscillations, somatostatin-positive (SOM+) interneurons (which target inhibition to cortical pyramidal neurons' dendrites) show decreases in activity, while parvalbumin-positive (PV+) fast-spiking interneurons (which target inhibition to pyramidal neurons' cell bodies) simultaneous show increased activity ⁷⁶ (Figure 3.2c). The latter finding is intriguing in light of the finding that at least some forms of sleep-dependent cortical plasticity are preceded by cortical column-dependent changes in the activity level of fast-spiking interneurons ²¹. Together these data suggest that a circuit-specific mechanism involving alterations in inhibitory neuronal populations could drive the augmented dendritic calcium influx seen in pyramidal neurons during spindling.

3.6 Molto vivace: Hippocampal sharp wave ripples (SWRs): A third network rhythm occurring characteristically during NREM sleep is the hippocampal sharp wave-ripple (SWR; **Figure 3.2b**). SWRs consist of large, synchronized-onset (i.e., sharp) waves of hippocampal network activity which initiate subsequent high frequency (100-300 Hz) oscillations, or ripples. Work carried out primarily in rodent models has shown that (as is

true for SWA and spindles) the frequency of occurrence and amplitude of SWRs in the hippocampus during NREM increases after a learning experience in wake ^{12, 77-79}. SWRs have also been observed in the temporal lobes of human subjects ⁸⁰ where their frequency of occurrence has been linked to successful memory consolidation ⁸¹. Critically, experimental models that disrupt SWR occurrence - either in genetic models of dementia ^{82, 83} or in animals with experimental disruption of hippocampal circuit activity during SWRs ^{12, 13, 84, 85} - memory consolidation deficits have been reported.

How might these rhythms support memory consolidation? NREM SWRs have received intensive study over the past two decades due to their capacity to induce temporally patterned activity in neuronal ensembles that reflect activity patterns in prior wake ⁸⁶ (Figure 3.2b). This so-called "replay" has been proposed as a critical mechanism of memory consolidation ⁸⁷. Replay events in SWRs have been proposed to reflect sequential spatial information (i.e., transiting through "place fields" which activate specific hippocampal "place cells") ⁸⁸, learned associations ⁸⁹ and emotional valence ⁹⁰, suggesting that these events reflect multiple facets of wake experiences. Available data suggests that replay events are linked to Hebbian plasticity mechanisms occurring during prior wake. O'Neil et al. found that pairs of hippocampal neurons whose place fields overlap more (and thus show more co-firing within 200 ms of one another) during exploration show greater co-firing during subsequent NREM SWRs ⁹¹. As reviewed elsewhere ²⁶, it is unclear whether sequential replay in the hippocampus (i.e. reflecting prior place field transiting in wake) is essential for circuit plasticity underlying sleepdependent consolidation, or is simply a reflection of a well-established memory. Other

features of hippocampal network dynamics during post-training sleep (such as network stabilization, which also correlates with ripple occurrence) might be better indicators of plasticity during consolidation of new memories ¹¹⁻¹³. However, during SWR replay, large hippocampal ensembles are co-activated within compressed time frames that are ideal for STDP ⁹² and the high-frequency bursts occurring during SWRs mimic tetanic stimulation protocols used to induce hippocampal LTP ^{51, 93-95}. Thus it is reasonable to assume that SWRs can and do promote hippocampal circuit plasticity.

SWRs have also been implicated in information transfer from hippocampus to cortex during sleep (**Figure 3.2c**). Evidence in support of this idea has come from simultaneous recordings from the two structures, which demonstrated high levels of time-locked cortical neuronal activity triggered by NREM SWRs ^{92, 96}. Indeed, recent work suggests that SWR-associated hippocampal-cortical communication is a general feature within the association cortices ⁹⁷ and sensory cortices ⁹⁸. There is also data to suggest that co-activation of the two structures could reflect prior experience. For example, reactivation of cortical neuronal ensembles co-activated during prior spatial task learning were triggered by SWRs ⁸⁹. Future studies will be needed to determine whether this SWR-linked communication induces plastic changes in circuits outside the hippocampus, and whether this it is necessary for sleep-dependent memory storage.

3.7 Polymeter: Nested NREM rhythms: A growing body of evidence suggests that SWA coordinates other oscillation to facilitate the cognitive benefits of sleep and underlying synaptic plasticity. Many human-subjects studies in which SWA is augmented through

non-invasive means found that generation of spindles in coordination with slower oscillations (i.e., at a specific and consistent phase relative to up-states) appears to be a consistent correlate of sleep-dependent task improvement ^{39, 66}. This suggests that SWA could act as a "carrier wave", coordinating the timing of other oscillations generated in interconnected circuits (e.g., spindles in thalamocortical circuits, SWRs in the hippocampus) throughout the brain. In support of this idea, dual-site recordings of the hippocampus and prefrontal cortex show that hippocampal sharp waves reliably emerge during the onset and offset of cortical SWA up states ^{99, 100}. Thalamocortical spindles are similarly locked to SWA up states ¹⁰⁰, and rhythmic optogenetic activation of cortical neurons at frequencies associated with SWA leads to phase-locked spindle occurrence ²⁴. This results in fairly ordered temporal relationship of nested rhythms, wherein hippocampal SWRs occur in tight temporal coordination with spindles, with peak spindleand ripple-frequency activity occurring simultaneously between cortex and hippocampus ¹⁰⁰⁻¹⁰², and ripples occurring selectively in spindle troughs ^{101, 103, 104}. This temporal coordination of the three rhythms has been established in human subjects undergoing exploratory invasive recording ^{101, 105} as well as in rodents ^{98, 100, 106}.

It's been hypothesized that the phase-amplitude coupling of these rhythms constitute an interregional dialogue between thalamocortical and hippocampal circuits during which correlated firing drives plasticity and information transfer between brain areas. The precise phase relationship of activity between interconnected brain regions may play an essential role in interregional communication and coordinated sequential replay of neuronal firing patterns coordinated between hippocampal and cortical

ensembles, resembling those occurring during prior experience. For example, Rothschild et al. recently found that neural activity patterns during NREM sleep in the rat auditory cortex predicted CA1 (hippocampal) SWR patterns, and vice versa, following learning of an auditory task ⁹⁸. A similar phenomenon has been reported to occur between rodent hippocampus and visual cortex during NREM sleep following visuo-spatial tasks ¹⁰⁷. This coordination appears to be a reliable correlate of sleep-dependent consolidation. A recent study demonstrated that successful training on a spatial object recognition task (i.e., one that led to consolidation of spatial memory across subsequent sleep) led to increased spindle-delta-ripple coupling during post-training NREM sleep. The authors also found that when brain stimulation triggering delta-spindle sequences was applied in coordination with SWRs (but not when it was applied out of phase with SWRs) consolidation of spatial memory across sleep improved significantly ¹⁰⁸.

Taken together, recent data suggest that coordination of various circuit-specific (e.g., SWR activity generated in the hippocampus, spindling in the thalamus) oscillatory activities between brain regions may play a critical role in promoting brain plasticity. This coordination would not only optimize spike timing between brain areas, thus promoting STDP, it may also optimize information transfer between brain areas - a mechanism that has long been discussed with regard to attentional mechanisms during wake ¹⁰⁹. In other words, adaptive temporal coordination of activity among various oscillating circuits during NREM could provide a basis for *informative* plasticity between neurons in various brain structures, similar to plasticity driven by sensory experience in wake. While this coordination appears to be mediated by SWA, future studies will be needed to better

understand: 1) the precise circuit-level mechanisms involved, 2) how these mechanisms might be affected by learning and by sleep pressure, and 3) whether some of the functions attributed to SWA are mediated by its role in coupling rhythms across brain structures.

3.8 Cambiare: REM: Available data suggests that REM sleep is beneficial for a number of cognitive functions, including consolidation of episodic and emotional memory ^{110, 111}, creative problem solving ¹¹², perceptual learning ^{113, 114}, and restoration of perceptual learning after interference ¹¹⁵. However, the mechanisms through which REM could facilitate these processes are largely unknown. REM is associated with a variety of changes in brain physiology, including unique patterns of neuromodulation and network activity ²⁶. Recent findings suggest that various forms of synaptic plasticity occur throughout the brain during REM sleep. For example, following a novel experience during wake, expression of mRNAs ¹⁵, proteins ¹¹⁶, and phosphoproteins ²² associated with synaptic plasticity are upregulated in hippocampal and neocortical neurons during subsequent REM. Recent studies using continuous in vivo electrophysiological recording have shown that following sensory experience in wake that initiates cortical plasticity, neuronal firing rates are selectively augmented across bouts of REM in sensory cortex ^{5,} ²⁵. This REM-associated increase selectively affects sparsely-firing neurons that encode sensory stimulus features more precisely; in contrast, high firing neurons with low feature selectivity show either no change or reduced activity across periods of REM ⁵. One possibility is that the highly active neuronal population includes fast spiking interneurons - an inhibitory cortical neuron population exhibiting high spontaneous firing rates, and whose firing (compared with pyramidal cells) selectively declines across periods of sleep

^{2, 21}. Thus the phenomenon of augmented firing in sparsely-active neurons across bouts of REM may be related to cell type-specific effects on neurons' overall activity, and/or changes in excitatory/inhibitory balance during REM sleep ¹¹⁷. Long-term calcium imaging has demonstrated that, as is true during NREM spindles, during REM sleep, dendritetargeting SOM+ interneurons show decreases in activity, while cell body-targeting PV+ interneurons' activity is augmented ¹¹⁸. As described above, this alteration may provide an ideal circumstance for non-Hebbian synaptic potentiation (which may selectively affect lower-firing pyramidal neurons) during REM. It might also relate to a seemingly contradictory finding. Structural studies using longitudinal two-photon imaging to characterize layer 5 cortical dendritic spines following learning on a sensory motor task showed synaptic pruning during REM sleep (which selectively affected newly-formed dendritic spines) ¹¹⁹. This may be explained if dendrite-targeted inhibition is significantly reduced during REM, leading to increased dendritic remodeling (e.g., strengthening of stronger and pruning of weaker synapses). Interestingly, and in contrast to studies of firing rate changes occurring across REM in the cortex, studies of firing in the hippocampus have shown that mean firing rates in that circuit are selectively decreased across REM bouts ¹²⁰. Thus one possibility is that REM may have circuit-specific effects on different brain areas.

Clearly, REM has the potential to alter synaptic strength, although debate about REM sleep's role in regulating synaptic strength is ongoing ^{117, 121, 122}. Resolving this issue will ultimately come down to a better understanding of causal mechanisms - i.e., what features unique to the REM sleep state contribute to specific types of plasticity. Recent

studies have approached this question by focusing on the role played by rhythms prominent in the brain during REM sleep (including the hippocampal theta rhythm and pontine-geniculate-occipital [PGO] waves) in promoting long-term memory formation.

3.9 Alla marcia: Hippocampal theta rhythm: The hippocampal theta rhythm (which depending on the study is either defined as a relatively broad [4-12 Hz] or narrow [e.g., 6-8 Hz] frequency band) is one of the most consistent and pronounced features of REM sleep (**Figure 3.3**). Driven by medial septal input to the hippocampus¹²³⁻¹²⁶, this rhythm is mediated intrahippocampally by parvalbumin-expressing (PV+) fast spiking interneurons.^{12, 13, 127}

While the relationship of hippocampal theta activity to waking functions (e.g., for encoding spatial information during navigation) has received extensive study, there is a growing body of evidence that REM theta may play a role in sleep-associated cognitive functions. Early reports from napping human subjects indicated that theta activity recorded over prefrontal cortex during REM was a predictor of emotional memory improvement ¹¹¹. Available data also suggest a link between REM theta and memory consolidation in studies using animal models. Early work suggested that the phase of hippocampal neurons' firing with respect to REM theta rhythms could be modified as a function of their activation during prior waking experience ¹²⁸. More recently, cued fear learning in rats was shown to increase theta coherence between hippocampus and amygdala during subsequent REM sleep, and this increase in coherence predicts the success of associative memory consolidation (i.e., increases in coherence are

proportional to offline associative gains) ¹²⁹. A growing body of data indicates that theta frequency activity is increased for several hours following single-trial contextual fear conditioning (CFC) in hippocampal area CA1, across both REM and NREM sleep ¹¹⁻¹³, and that this increase predicts successful contextual fear memory (CFM) consolidation. Other studies have experimentally tested whether hippocampal theta can itself drive improvements in performance. An early study found that augmentation of theta activity (via medial septal stimulation) immediately following training on a spatial visual discrimination task improved rats' task performance 24 h later ¹³⁰. Consistent with this, a more recent study disrupting septal input to the hippocampus optogenetically in the hours following CFC led to a reduction in REM theta in CA1, and impaired CFM consolidation ¹²³. Two related studies inhibited hippocampal theta activity locally (within CA1), in the hours following CFC, leading to similar deficits in CFM consolidation ^{12, 13}. Conversely, optogenetically generating a theta rhythm in CA1 throughout a period of post-CFC sleep deprivation is sufficient to rescue CFM consolidation (which normally requires uninterrupted sleep) ¹³.

At the cellular level, why might REM theta (or hippocampal theta rhythms in general) support memory storage? Theta is known to support replay of hippocampal place cell sequences, following their sequential activation during experience ¹³¹ (**Figure 3.3**). Computational work suggests that: 1) the precise phasing of neuronal firing during replay can be modified as a function of learning-associated plasticity ^{132, 133}, and 2) replay could emerge naturally from resonance with subsequent network oscillations ¹³². Electrophysiological data suggests that CA1 pyramidal neurons resonate selectively at



Figure 3.3 Rhythms of REM sleep. REM-associated rhythms (including REM sleep theta and PGO waves) are expressed in memory-subserving hippocampal (indigo), cortical (cyan), and thalamic (red) circuits and are modulated by input from the pons and medial septum (MS). CTX = cortex; HPC = hippocampus; NRT = thalamic reticular nucleus; TC = thalamocortical relay nucleus; MS = medial septum.

theta frequency, in response to rhythmic activity in parvalbumin-expressing (PV+) fast spiking interneurons ¹². This resonance is associated with increased consistency of spike timing relationships between neurons, an ideal scenario for driving STDP throughout the CA1 circuit ^{12, 13, 132}. Indeed, recent studies using CFM as a model of sleep-dependent memory consolidation have consistently found that long-term (i.e., over the time scale of several hours) stabilization of spike timing relationships among CA1 neurons is a robust predictor of consolidation ¹¹⁻¹³. Following CFC, pharmacogenetic or optogenetic disruption of theta rhythms leads to destabilization of CA1 spike timing relationships, and disruption of CFM consolidation ^{12, 13}. Optogenetic generation of theta oscillations increases the stability of CA1 spike timing relationships, and preserve memory in the face of sleep loss ^{12, 13}. Thus available evidence suggests that the highly regular theta-frequency activity that paces hippocampal neurons' firing during REM drives network plasticity, and plays a critical role for hippocampally-mediated memory consolidation.

3.10 Bravura: Pontine-geniculate-occipital (PGO) waves: PGO waves, like NREM spindles, occur as discrete biphasic wave events during sleep (as intermittent single waves during certain phases of NREM, and as repeating motifs throughout REM; **Figure 3.3**) ^{134, 135}. These high-waves of activity propagate (as the name implies) through the pons, the lateral geniculate nucleus of the thalamus, and the occipital cortex of species with highly-developed visual systems, and propagate from the pons to apparently communicate with numerous brain structures (and are thus simply called "P waves") in rodents ¹³⁶. A role of this wave in sleep-dependent memory consolidation (particularly for hippocampus- and amygdala-dependent memories) has been extensively investigated in

rodents. These studies have demonstrated an increase in P wave occurrence during REM following training on fear and avoidance memory tasks ^{137, 138}. Studies manipulating the generation of these waves following learning have demonstrated a clear causal role in promoting consolidation ¹³⁹, which may be linked to P wave-dependent upregulation of kinase pathways and transcriptional activation of plasticity-mediating genes in target structures (such as the hippocampus and amygdala) in the hours following learning ^{14, 140,} ¹⁴¹ (Figure 3.3). How these cellular events come about during and after PGO waves occurrence is an unanswered question, although it is clear that these waves can generate massive, highly synchronous depolarization among neurons in the circuits they propagate through. Thus it is not surprising that they tend to act as "carrier waves" that initiate other network rhythms (e.g., beta oscillations in the occipital cortex). In this respect, their behavior is very much analogous to sharp waves, which by virtue of generating synchronous depolarization, kick off ripple oscillations in CA1. During REM, PGO waves also occur with a specific phase relationship to theta rhythms occurring in the hippocampus ¹⁴². Thus as is true in NREM sleep, in REM multiple rhythms harmonize activity across the brain. Such inter-regional synchrony, comprising rhythms of different cadences, may play a critical role in REM-associated plasticity and the cognitive benefits of REM sleep.

3.11 How the brain listens to sleep's symphony of rhythms - toward a unifying theory for sleep's role in synaptic plasticity: Numerous hypotheses have been proposed for the function of sleep-associated rhythms in mediating the cognitive benefits of sleep ^{26, 47, 86, 109, 136, 143}. And while oscillations at specific bands are clearly important

for plasticity across brain regions, we hypothesize that they can also influence synaptic plasticity in a broadly universal manner. We argue that during wake, new information is initially encoded in circuits based on experience-dependent changes in their firing rate (Figure 3.4). Rate coding (in which information is encoded based on how rapidly individually neurons fire) is frequently used by neurons during wake, e.g. to encode specific features of sensory stimuli. The idea that new information is encoded in the firing rates of specific neurons during experience has become widely accepted in recent years ¹⁴⁴. However, information encoding based on firing rate alone has several limitations. When neurons fire with a wide range of rates, plasticity based on STDP can be very ineffective. Furthermore, a purely rate-based readout should limit the contribution of sparsely active neurons, which provide important sensory information and are highly plastic ⁵, to an engram. Finally, the limited dynamic range over which individual neurons can vary their firing puts a limit on new information encoding in a purely rate-based system. For optimal information encoding and storage, non-rate-based information encoding strategies must be invoked.

We argue that sleep rhythms allow neurons to switch from a rate-coding mode, in which information is encoded based primarily on how rapidly each neuron in an ensemble fires, to a phase-coding mode, in which spike timing becomes critical for information storage ¹⁴⁵. We hypothesize that as the brain transitions from wake to sleep, it dynamically switches between rate and phase coding schemes (**Figure 3.4**). Sleep is well positioned to promote this switch for several reasons. The lack of incoming information to the brain during sleep leads to internal regulation of network dynamics. Changes in


Figure 3.4 Resonance-based mechanisms for sleep-dependent plasticity. General mechanism for resonance-based plasticity. During wake, ensembles of neurons can encode new information, leading to selective changes in some neurons' firing rate and excitability (**a**). During subsequent network oscillations in sleep, resonance (wherein relative phasing is based on excitability) generates consistent spike-timing relationships between the neurons in the ensemble (**b**). Prominent rhythms present in thalamocortical networks during NREM sleep (**b, right**), and subsequently in the hippocampal network during REM sleep (**b, left**), can selectively bring these circuits into resonance based on circuit wiring and the intrinsic properties of circuit neurons. Spike-timing dependent plasticity among neurons in resonance leads to: (1) relative strengthening of synapses from highly activated neurons to the rest of the network, and (2) renormalization of firing rates (i.e. highly active neurons show reductions in rate, whereas sparsely firing neurons show increases, relative to prior wake). These changes are evident during subsequent wake (**c**).

neuromodulatory milieu simultaneously modifies the excitability of neurons, increasing their capacity for synchronization ¹⁴⁶⁻¹⁴⁸. Finally, in many circuits, oscillatory neuronal activities during sleep drives the phase locking of neuronal activity across the network. This in turn leads to formation of stable spike timing relationships (the basis for phase coding and an ideal mechanism for STDP) across large networks.

Here we focus on one mechanism that relies on resonance, a biophysical property in which neurons have a heightened response to input of a specific frequency ¹⁴⁹⁻¹⁵¹. This mechanism alone can account for instructive plastic changes to network connections, based on prior experience. A neuron's resonant frequency shifts as a function of depolarization ¹⁵²⁻¹⁵⁴, meaning that neurons receiving larger synaptic inputs at higher rates, i.e. those which are more depolarized, will fire at an earlier phase. This general mechanism establishes a reliable input versus phase relationship across the network. During sleep-associated rhythms, neurons receiving more or larger excitatory synaptic inputs (based in part on prior experience during wake) will fire at earlier phases of a driving network oscillation (Figure 3.3a). This patterning can lead to the frequently-reported phenomenon of temporally-compressed replay of activity patterns occurring during prior wake ¹⁴⁵. Because during oscillations, these neurons will consistently fire prior to their postsynaptic partners, their excitatory inputs to other neurons (firing later in the rhythm, with a delayed phase) will be strengthened through STDP. Any reciprocal connections back to the phase-leading neuron will be weakened through STDP. Thus, when neurons within a network resonate with an oscillation, the input versus phase relationship paired with STDP will selectively strengthen connections from recently-activated "engram

neurons" to the rest of the network - an optimal scenario for systems memory consolidation.

A similar resonance-based mechanism would also act in the absence of prior learning. In this case, it would lead to differential phasing of highly active and sparsely firing neurons, with highly active cells leading. Assuming similar STDP-mediated effects, this would act to weaken inputs to neurons with initially high firing rates, and strengthen inputs to neurons with initially sparse firing. This phenomenon could underlie the rescaling of firing rates that appears to happen across neural circuits in a sleep-dependent manner ⁵. This idea is similar to one recently put forth by Levenstein et al., who recently proposed NREM slow oscillations as a mechanism by which STDP rules could be optimized to promote heterogeneous firing rate changes among highly active and sparsely firing neurons in a network ⁶. Critically, however, we argue that resonance is a general feature of neural circuits, not limited to slow oscillations. According to our model, any oscillation can drive synaptic changes so long as neurons resonate with its particular frequency band. Importantly, this resonance-based mechanism could account for instances of both synaptic weakening and synaptic strengthening across sleep, as well as more idiosyncratic phenomena such as forward and reverse replay ¹⁴⁵.

For the reasons outlined above, we anticipate that the state-dependent switch between rate and phase coding would optimize information storage over widelydistributed, heterogeneous circuits across the brain. We predict that any rhythm (in any brain state) can drive synaptic changes so long as neurons' firing can resonate at its

frequency. The wiring of specific neural circuits, and neurons' intrinsic properties, will predispose them to resonance with oscillations of particular frequencies, which are naturally augmented during particular brain states (**Figure 3.4**). Thus, during NREM sleep, thalamic and cortical neurons will naturally resonate with high-amplitude SWA and spindle oscillations generated in thalamocortical circuits. During REM sleep, hippocampal neurons will resonate with regular, high-amplitude hippocampal circuit rhythms at theta frequency. Thus, it may be that the symphony of sleep-associated rhythms acts in concert, sharing a general mechanism by which they can weaken and strengthen synapses throughout the interconnected circuits of the brain.

3.12. References

1. Cirelli C, Gutierrez CM, Tononi G. Extensive and divergent effects of sleep and wakefulness on brain gene expression. Neuron 2004;41:35-43.

2. Vyazovskiy VV, Olscese U, Lazimy YM, et al. Cortical firing and sleep homeostasis. Neuron 2009;63:865-78.

3. de Vivo L, Bellesi M, Marshall W, et al. Ultrastructural evidence for synaptic scaling across the wake/sleep cycle. Science 2017;355:507-10.

4. Watson BO, Levenstein D, Green JP, Gelinas JN, Buzsaki G. Network homeostasis and state dynamics of neocortical sleep. Neuron 2016;90:839-52.

5. Clawson BC, Durkin J, Suresh AK, Pickup EJ, Broussard CG, Aton SJ. Sleep Promotes, and Sleep Loss Inhibits, Selective Changes in Firing Rate, Response Properties and Functional Connectivity of Primary Visual Cortex Neurons. Frontiers in Systems Neuroscience 2018;12:40.

6. Levenstein D, Watson BO, Rinzel J, Buzsaki G. Sleep regulation of the distribution of cortical firing rates. Curr Opin Neurobiol 2017;44:34-42.

7. Havekes R, Park AJ, Tudor JC, et al. Sleep deprivation causes memory deficits by negatively impacting neuronal connectivity in hippocampal area CA1. eLife 2016;5:pii: e13424.

8. Raven F, Meerlo P, Van der Zee EA, Abel T, Havekes R. A brief period of sleep deprivation causes spine loss in the dentate gyrus of mice. Neurobiology of Learning and Memory 2018; pii: S1074-7427:30072-8.

9. Vecsey CG, Baillie GS, Jaganath D, et al. Sleep deprivation impairs cAMP signalling in the hippocampus. Nature 2009;461:1122-5.

10. Delorme J, Kodoth V, Aton SJ. Sleep loss disrupts Arc expression in dentate gyrus neurons. Neurobiol Learn Mem 2018;pii: S1074-7427:30091-1.

11. Ognjanovski N, Maruyama D, Lashner N, Zochowski M, Aton SJ. CA1 hippocampal network activity changes during sleep-dependent memory consolidation. Front Syst Neurosci 2014;8:61.

12. Ognjanovski N, Schaeffer S, Mofakham S, et al. Parvalbumin-expressing interneurons coordinate hippocampal network dynamics required for memory consolidation. Nature Communications 2017;8:15039.

13. Ognjanovski N, Broussard C, Zochowski M, Aton SJ. Hippocampal Network Oscillations Rescue Memory Consolidation Deficits Caused by Sleep Loss. Cereb. Cortex 2018;28:3711-23.

14. Ulloor J, Datta S. Spatio-temporal activation of cyclic AMP response elementbinding protein, activity-regulated cytoskeletal-associated protein and brain-derived nerve growth factor: a mechanism for pontine-wave generator activation-dependent two-way active-avoidance memory processing in the rat. Journal of Neurochemistry 2005;95:418-28.

15. Ribeiro S, Goyal V, Mello CV, Pavlides C. Brain gene expression during REM sleep depends on prior waking experience. Learn Mem. 1999;6:500-8.

16. Ribeiro S, Gervasoni D, Soares ES, et al. Long-Lasting novelty-induced neuronal reverberation during slow-Wave sleep in multiple forebrain areas. PLoS Biol 2004;2:E24.

17. Ribeiro S, Shi X, Engelhard M, et al. Novel experience induces persistent sleepdependent plasticity in the cortex but not in the hippocampus. Front Neurosci 2007;1:43-55.

18. Yang G, Lai CS, Cichon J, Ma L, Li W, Gan WB. Sleep promotes branch-specific formation of dendritic spines after learning. Science 2014;344:1173-8.

19. Aton SJ, Seibt J, Dumoulin M, et al. Mechanisms of sleep-dependent consolidation of cortical plasticity. Neuron 2009;61:454-66.

20. Seibt J, Dumoulin M, Aton SJ, et al. Protein synthesis during sleep consolidates cortical plasticity in vivo. Curr Biol 2012;22:676-82.

21. Aton SJ, Broussard C, Dumoulin M, et al. Visual experience and subsequent sleep induce sequential plastic changes in putative inhibitory and excitatory cortical neurons. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2013;110:3101-6.

22. Bridi MCD, Aton SJ, Seibt J, Renouard L, Coleman T, Frank MG. Rapid eye movement sleep promotes cortical plasticity in the developing brain. Science Advances 2015;1:1-8.

23. Aton SJ, Suresh A, Broussard C, Frank MG. Sleep promotes cortical response potentiation following visual experience. Sleep 2014;37:1163-70.

24. Durkin J, Suresh AK, Colbath J, et al. Cortically coordinated NREM thalamocortical oscillations play an essential, instructive role in visual system plasticity. Proceedings National Academy of Sciences 2017;114:10485-90.

25. Durkin JM, Aton SJ. Sleep-dependent potentiation in the visual system is at odds with the Synaptic Homeostasis Hypothesis. Sleep 2016.

26. Puentes-Mestril C, Aton SJ. Linking network activity to synaptic plasticity during sleep: hypotheses and recent data. Frontiers in Neural Circuits 2017;11:doi: 10.3389/fncir.2017.00061.

27. Backhaus J, Born J, Hoeckesfeld R, Fokuhl S, Hohagen F, Junghanns K. Midlife decline in declarative memory consolidation is correlated with a decline in slow wave sleep. Learn Mem 2007;14:336-41.

28. Gais S, Plihal W, Wagner U, Born J. Early sleep triggers memory for early visual discrimination skills. Nat.Neurosci. 2000;3:1335-9.

29. Tamaki M, Huang TR, Yotsumoto Y, et al. Enhanced spontaneous oscillations in the supplementary motor area are associated with sleep-dependent offline learning of finger-tapping motor-sequence task. J Neurosci 2013;33:13894-902.

30. Moroni F, Nobili L, Iaria G, et al. Hippocampal slow EEG frequencies during NREM sleep are involved in spatial memory consolidation in humans. Hippocampus 2014;24:1157-68.

31. Goder R, Aldenhoff JB, Boigs M, Braun S, Koch J, Fritzer G. Delta power in sleep in relation to neuropsychological performance in healthy subjects and schizophrenia patients. J Neuropsychiatry Clin Neurosci 2006;18:529-35.

32. Heib DP, HoedImoser K, Anderer P, et al. Slow oscillation amplitudes and up-state lengths relate to memory improvement.PloS ONE 2013;8:e82049.

33. Huber R, Ghilardi MF, Massimini M, Tononi G. Local sleep and learning. Nature 2004;430:78-81.

34. Ngo HV, Miedema A, Faude I, Martinetz T, Molle M, Born J. Driving sleep slow oscillations by auditory closed-loop stimulation-a self-limiting process. J Neurosci 2015;35:6630-8.

35. Marshall L, Helgadottir H, Molle M, Born J. Boosting slow oscillations during sleep potentiates memory. Nature 2006.

36. Ong JL, Lo JC, Chee NI, et al. Effects of phase-locked acoustic stimulation during a nap on EEG spectra and declarative memory consolidation. Sleep Med 2016;20.

37. Marshall L, Molle M, Hallschmid M, Born J. Transcranial Direct Current Stimulation during Sleep Improves Declarative Memory. J. Neurosci. 2004;24:9985-92.

38. Leminen MM, Virkkala J, Saure E, et al. Enhanced Memory Consolidation Via Automatic Sound Stimulation During Non-REM Sleep. Sleep 2017;40.

39. Ngo HV, Martinetz T, Born J, Molle M. Auditory closed-loop stimulation of the sleep slow oscillation enhances memory. Neuron 2013;78:545-53.

40. Papalambros NA, Santostasi G, Malkani RG, et al. Acoustic Enhancement of Sleep Slow Oscillations and Concomitant Memory Improvement in Older Adults. Front Hum Neurosci 2017;11:109.

41. Niimi M, Sasaki N, Kimura C, Hara T, Yamada N, Abo M. Sleep during lowfrequency repetitive transcranial magnetic stimulation is associated with functional improvement in upper limb hemiparesis after stroke. Acta Neurol Belg 2018;Epub ahead of print.

42. Ladenbauer J, Ladenbauer J, Kulznow N, et al. Promoting Sleep Oscillations and Their Functional Coupling by Transcranial Stimulation Enhances Memory Consolidation in Mild Cognitive Impairment. J Neurosci 2017;37:7111-24.

43. Garside P, Arizpe J, Lau CI, Goh C, Walsh V. Cross-hemispheric Alternating Current Stimulation During a Nap Disrupts Slow Wave Activity and Associated Memory Consolidation. Brain Stimul 2015;8:520-7.

44. Greenberg A, Abadchi JK, Dickson CT, Mohajerani MH. New waves: Rhythmic electrical field stimulation systematically alters spontaneous slow dynamics across mouse neocortex. NeuroImage 2018;174:328-39.

45. Massimini M, Huber R, Ferrarelli F, Hill S, Tononi G. The sleep slow oscillation as a traveling wave. J.Neurosci. 2004;24:6862-70.

46. Miyamoto D, Hirai D, Fung CC, et al. Top-down cortical input during NREM sleep consolidates perceptual memory. Science 2016;352:1315-8.

47. Nere A, Hashmi A, Cirelli C, Tononi G. Sleep-dependent synaptic down-selection (I): modeling the benefits of sleep on memory consolidation and integration. Front Neurol 2013;4:143.

48. Wittenberg GM, Wang SS-H. Malleability of spike-timing-dependent plasticity at the CA3-CA1 synapse. J Neurosci 2006;26:6610-17.

49. Pfister JP, Gerstner W. Triplets of spikes in a model of spike timing-dependent plasticity. J Neurosci 2006;26:9673-82.

50. Gonzalez-Rueda A, Pedrosa V, Feord RC, Clopath C, Paulsen O. Activity-Dependent Downscaling of Subthreshold Synaptic Inputs during Slow-Wave-Sleep-like Activity In Vivo. Neuron 2018;97:1244-52. 51. Bartram J, Kahn MC, Tuohy S, Paulsen O, Wilson T, Mann EO. Cortical Up states induce the selective weakening of subthreshold synaptic inputs. Nature Communications 2017;8:665.

52. Cooke SF, Bear MF. Visual experience induces long-term potentiation in the primary visual cortex. J Neurosci 2010;30:16304-13.

53. Chauvette S, Seigneur J, Timofeev I. Sleep oscillations in the thalamocortical system induce long-term plasticity. Neuron 2012;75:1105-13.

54. Kruskal PB, Li L, MacLean JN. Circuit reactivation dynamically regulates synaptic plasticity in neocortex. Nat Commun 2013;4:2574.

55. Clawson BC, Durkin J, Aton SJ. Form and function of sleep spindles across the lifespan. Neural Plast. 2016;2016:6936381.

56. Gais S, Molle M, Helms K, Born J. Learning-dependent increases in sleep spindle density. Journal of Neuroscience 2002;22:6830-4.

57. Schabus M, Gruber G, Parapatics S, et al. Sleep spindles and their significance for declarative memory consolidation.. Sleep 2004;27:1479-85.

58. Mednick SC, McDevitt EA, Walsh JK, et al. The critical role of sleep spindles in hippocampal-dependent memory: a pharmacology study. J Neurosci 2013;33:4494-504.

59. Tamaki M, Matsuoka T, Nittono H, Hori T. Fast sleep spindle (13-15 hz) activity correlates with sleep-dependent improvement in visuomotor performance. Sleep 2008;31:204-11.

60. Fogel SM, Smith CT. Learning-dependent changes in sleep spindles and Stage 2 sleep. Journal of Sleep Research 2006;15:250-5.

61. Rasch B, Pommer J, Diekelmann S, Born J. Pharmacological REM sleep suppression paradoxically improves rather than impairs skill memory. Nat Neurosci 2009;12:396-7.

62. Fogel SM, Nader R, Cote KA, Smith CT. Sleep spindles and learning potential. Behav Neurosci 2007;121:1-10.

63. Tamaki M, Matsuoka T, Nittono H, Hori T. Activation of fast sleep spindles at the premotor cortex and parietal areas contributes to motor learning: a study using sLORETA. . Clin Neurophysiol 2009;120.

64. Johnson LA, Blakely T, Hermes D, Hakimian S, Ramsey NF, Ojemann JG. Sleep spindles are locally modulated by training on a brain-computer interface. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2012;109:18583-8.

65. Nishida M, Walker MP. Daytime naps, motor memory consolidation and regionally specific sleep spindles. PloS ONE 2007;2:e341.

66. Lustenberger C, Boyle MR, Alagapan S, Mellin JM, Vaughn BV, Frohlich F. Feedback-Controlled Transcranial Alternating Current Stimulation Reveals a Functional Role of Sleep Spindles in Motor Memory Consolidation. . Curr Biol 2016;26:2127-36.

67. Muller L, Chavane F, Reynolds J, Sejnowski TJ. Cortical travelling waves: mechanisms and computational principles. Nat Rev Neurosci 2018;19:255-68.

68. Aton SJ, Seibt J, Dumoulin MC, Coleman T, Shiraishi M, Frank MG. The sedating antidepressant trazodone impairs sleep-dependent cortical plasticity. PLoS ONE 2009;4:e6078.

69. Seibt J, Aton SJ, Jha SK, Dimoulin M, Coleman C, Frank MG. The nonbenzodiazepine hypnotic Zolpidem impairs sleep-dependent cortical plasticity. SLEEP 2008;31:1381-91.

70. Rosanova M, Ulrich D. Pattern-specific associative long-term potentiation induced by a sleep spindle-related spike train. J Neurosci 2005;25:9398-405.

71. Aydin-Abidin S, Maliadze V, Eysel UT, Funke K. Effects of repetitive TMS on visually evoked potentials and EEG in the anaesthetized cat: dependence on stimulus frequency and train duration. J Physiol 2006;574:443-55.

72. Seibt J, Richard CJ, Sigl-Glockner U, et al. Cortical dendritic activity correlates with spindle-rich oscillations during sleep in rodents. Nat Commun 2017;8:1838.

73. Lisman J. A mechanism for the Hebb and the anti-Hebb processes underlying learning and memory. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1989;86:9574-78.

74. Williams SR, Wozny C, Mitchell SJ. The back and forth of dendritic plasticity. Neuron 2007;56:947-53.

75. Sjostrom PJ, Rancz EA, Roth A, Hausser M. Dendritic excitability and synaptic plasticity. Physiol Rev 2008;88:769-840.

76. Niethard N, Ngo HV, Ehrlich I, Born J. Cortical Circuit Activity Underlying Sleep Slow Oscillations and Spindles. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2018;115:E9220-9.

77. Eschenko O, Ramadan W, Molle M, Born J, Sara SJ. Sustained increase in hippocampal sharp-wave ripple activity during slow-wave sleep after learning. Learn Mem 2008;15:222-8.

78. Ramadan W, Eschenko O, Sara SJ. Hippocampal sharp wave/ripples during sleep for consolidation of associative memory. PLoS ONE 2009;4:e6697.

79. Girardeau G, Cei A, Zugaro M. Learning-induced plasticity regulates hippocampal sharp wave-ripple drive. J Neurosci 2014;34:5176-83.

80. Staba RJ, Wilson CL, Bragin A, Jhung D, Fried I, Engel J, Jr. High-frequency oscillations recorded in human medial temporal lobe during sleep. Ann Neurol 2004;56:108-15.

81. Axmacher N, Elger CE, Fell J. Ripples in the medial temporal lobe are relevant for human memory consolidation. Brain 2008;131:1806-17.

82. Witton J, Staniaszek LE, Bartsch U, Randall AD, Jones MW, Brown JT. Disrupted hippocampal sharp-wave ripple-associated spike dynamics in a transgenic mouse model of dementia. J Physiol 2016;594:4615-30.

83. Stoiljkovic M, Kelley C, Stutz B, Horvath TL, Hajos M. Altered Cortical and Hippocampal Excitability in TgF344-AD Rats Modeling Alzheimer's Disease Pathology. Cereb. Cortex 2018;bhy140.

84. Girardeau G, Benchenane K, Wiener SI, Buzsaki G, Zugaro MB. Selective suppression of hippocampal ripples impairs spatial memory. Nat Neurosci 2009;12:1222-3.

85. Ego-Stengel V, Wilson MA. Disruption of ripple-associated hippocampal activity during rest impairs spatial learning in the rat. Neurosci Res 2011;20:1-10.

86. Buzsaki G. Hippocampal sharp wave-ripple: A cognitive biomarker for episodic memory and planning. Hippocampus 2015;25:1073-188.

87. Dudai Y, Karni A, Born J. The consolidation and transformation of memory. Neuron 2015;88:20-32.

88. Lee AK, Wilson MA. Memory of sequential experience in the hippocampus during slow wave sleep. Neuron 2002;36:1183-94.

89. Peyrache A, Khamassi M, Benchenane K, Wiener SI, Battaglia F. Replay of rulelearning related neural patterns in the prefrontal cortex during sleep. Nat Neurosci 2009;12:919-26.

90. Girardeau G, Inema I, Buzsaki G. Reactivations of emotional memory in the hippocampus-amygdala system during sleep. Nat Neurosci 2017;20:1634-42.

91. O'Neill J, Senior TJ, Allen K, Huxter JR, Csicsvari J. Reactivation of experiencedependent cell assembly patterns in the hippocampus. Nat Neurosci 2008;11:209-15. 92. Wierzynski C, Lubenov E, Gu M, Siapas A. State-dependent spike-timing relationships between hippocampal and prefrontal circuits during sleep. Neuron 2009;61:587-96.

93. Barnes CA, Jung MW, McNaughton BL, Korol DL, Andreasson K, Worley PF. LTP saturation and spatial learning disruption: effects of task variables and saturation levels. J Neurosci 1994;14:5793-806.

94. Buzsaki G. Long-term changes of hippocampal sharp-waves following high frequency afferent activation. Brain Res 1984;300:179-82.

95. Buzsaki G, Haas HL, Anderson EG. Long-term potentiation induced by physiologically relevant stimulus patterns. Brain Res 1987;435:331-3.

96. Buzsaki G. The hippocampo-neocortical dialogue. Cerebral Cortex 1996;6:81-92.

97. Khodagholy D, Gelinas JN, Buzsaki G. Learning-enhanced coupling between ripple oscillations in association cortices and hippocampus. Science 2017;358:369-72.

98. Rothschild G, Eban E, Frank LM. A cortical–hippocampal–cortical loop of information processing during memory consolidation. Nat Neurosci 2017;20:251-9.

99. Sirota A, Csicsvari J, Buhl D, Buzsaki G. Communication between neocortex and hippocampus during sleep in rodents. PNAS 2003;100:2065-9.

100. Molle M, Yeshenko O, Marshall L, Sara SJ, Born J. Hippocampal Sharp Wave-Ripples Linked to Slow Oscillations in Rat Slow-Wave Sleep. J Neurophysiol 2006;96:62-70.

101. Clemens Z, Molle M, Eross L, et al. Fine-tuned coupling between human parahippocampal ripples and sleep spindles. Eur J Neurosci 2011;33:511-20.

102. Latchoumane CV, Ngo HV, Born J, Shin HS. Thalamic Spindles Promote Memory Formation during Sleep through Triple Phase-Locking of Cortical, Thalamic, and Hippocampal Rhythms. Neuron 2017;95:424-35.

103. Kim A, Latchoumane C, Lee SH, et al. Optogenetically induced sleep spindle rhythms alter sleep architectures in mice. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2012;109:20673-8.

104. Siapas AG, Wilson MA. Coordinated interations between hippocampal ripples and cortical spindles during slow-wave sleep. Neuron 1998;21:1123-8.

105. Staresina BP, Bergmann TO, Bonnefond M, et al. Hierarchical nesting of slow oscillations, spindles and ripples in the human hippocampus during sleep. Nat Neurosci 2015;18:1679-86.

106. Xia F, Richards BA, Tran MM, Josselyn SA, Takehara-Nishiuchi K, Frankland PW. Parvalbumin-positive interneurons mediate neocortical-hippocampal interactions that are necessary for memory consolidation. eLife 2017;6:e27868.

107. Ji D, Wilson MA. Coordinated memory replay in the visual cortex and hippocampus during sleep. Nat Neurosci 2007;10:100-7.

108. Maingret N, Girardeau G, Todorova R, Goutierre M, Zugaro M. Hippocampocortical coupling mediates memory consolidation during sleep. Nat Neurosci 2016;19:959-64.

109. Aton SJ. Set and setting: How behavioral state regulates sensory function and plasticity. Neurobiol Learn Mem 2013;106:1-10.

110. Rauchs G, Bertran F, Guillery-Girard B, et al. Consolidation of strictly episodic memories mainly requires rapid eye movement sleep. Sleep 2004;27:395-401.

111. Nishida M, Pearsall J, Buckner RL, Walker MP. REM sleep, prefrontal theta, and the consolidation of human emotional memory. . Cereb. Cortex 2009;19:1158-66.

112. Cai DJ, Mednick SA, Harrison EM, Kanady JC, Mednick SC. REM, not incubation, improves creativity by priming associative networks. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2009;106:10130-4.

113. Mednick S, Nakayama K, Stickgold R. Sleep-dependent learning: a nap is as good as a night. Nat Neurosci 2003;6:697-8.

114. McDevitt EA, Rokem A, Silver MA, Mednick SC. Sex differences in sleepdependent perceptual learning.

. Vision Research 2014;99:172-9.

115. McDevitt EA, Duggan KA, Mednick SC. REM sleep rescues learning from interference.

. Neurobiol Learn Mem 2015;122:51-62.

116. Renouard L, Bridi MCD, Coleman T, Arckens L, Frank MG. Anatomical correlates of rapid eye movement sleep-dependent plasticity in the developing cortex. Sleep 2018;41:zsy124.

117. Niethard N, Burgalossi A, Born J. Plasticity during Sleep Is Linked to Specific Regulation of Cortical Circuit Activity. Front Neural Circuits 2017;11:1-9.

118. Niethard N, Hasegawa M, Itokazu T, Oyanedel CN, Born J, Sato TR. Sleep-Stage-Specific Regulation of Cortical Excitation and Inhibition. Curr Biol 2016;26:2739-49. 119. Li W, Ma L, Yang G, Gan WB. REM sleep selectively prunes and maintains new synapses in development and learning. Nat Neurosci 2017;20:427-37.

120. Grosmark AD, Mizuseki K, Pastalkova E, Diba K, Buzsaki G. REM sleep reorganizes hippocampal excitability. Neuron 2012;75:1001-7.

121. Rasch B, Born J. About sleep's role in memory. Physiol Rev 2013;93:681-766.

122. Born J, Feld GB. Sleep to upscale, sleep to downscale: balancing homeostasis and plasticity. Neuron 2012;75:933-5.

123. Boyce R, Glasgow SD, Williams S, Adamantidis A. Causal evidence for the role of REM sleep theta rhythm in contextual memory consolidation. Science 2016;352:812-6.

124. Zutshi I, Brandon MP, Fu ML, Donegan ML, Leutgeb JK, Leutgeb S. Hippocampal Neural Circuits Respond to Optogenetic Pacing of Theta Frequencies by Generating Accelerated Oscillation Frequencies. Curr Biol 2018;28:1179-88.

125. Partlo LA, Sainsbury RS. Influence of medial septal and entorhinal cortex lesions on theta activity recorded from the hippocampus and median raphe nucleus. . Physiol Behav 1996;59:887-95.

126. Smythe JW, Colom LV, Bland BH. The extrinsic modulation of hippocampal theta depends on the coactivation of cholinergic and GABA-ergic medial septal inputs. . Neurosci Biobehav Rev 1992;16:289-308.

127. Amilhon B, Huh CY, Manseau F, et al. Parvalbumin Interneurons of Hippocampus Tune Population Activity at Theta Frequency. Neuron 2015;86:1277-89.

128. Poe GR, Nitz DA, McNaughton BL, Barnes CA. Experience-dependent phasereversal of hippocampal neuron firing during REM sleep. Brain Research 2000;855:176-80.

129. Popa D, Duvarci S, Popescu AT, Lena C, Pare D. Coherent amygdalocortical theta promotes fear memory consolidation during paradoxical sleep. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2010;107:6516-9.

130. Wetzel W, Ott T, Matthies H. Post-training hippocampal rhythmic slow activity ("theta") elicited by septal stimulation improves memory consolidation in rats. Behav Biology 1977;21:32-40.

131. Louie K, Wilson MA. Temporally structured replay of awake hippocampal ensemble activity during rapid eye movement sleep. Neuron 2001;29:145-56.

132. Roach JP, Pidde O, Katz E, et al. Resonance with subthreshold oscillatory drive organizes activity and optimizes learning in neural networks. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 2018;114:10485-90.

133. Booth V, Poe GR. Input source and strength influences overall firing phase of model hippocampal CA1 pyramidal cells during theta: relevance to REM sleep reactivation and memory consolidation. Hippocampus 2006;16:161-73.

134. Datta S, Hobson JA. Neuronal activity in the caudolateral peribrachial pons: relationship to PGO waves and rapid eye movements. . J Neurophysiol 1994;71:95-109.

135. Amzica F, Steriade M. Progressive cortical synchronization of ponto-geniculooccipital potentials during rapid eye movement sleep. . Neuroscience 1996;72:309-14.

136. Gott JA, Liley DT, Hobson JA. Towards a Functional Understanding of PGO Waves.. Front Hum Neurosci 2017;11:89.

137. Datta S. Avoidance task training potentiates phasic pontine-wave density in the rat: A mechanism for sleep-dependent plasticity. Journal of Neuroscience 2000;20:8607-13.

138. Datta S, O'Malley MW. Fear extinction memory consolidation requires potentiation of pontine-wave activity during REM sleep. J Neurosci 2013;33:4561-9.

139. Mavanji V, Datta S. Activation of the phasic pontine-wave generator enhances improvement of learning performance: a mechanism for sleep-dependent plasticity. Eur J Neurosci 2003;17:359-70.

140. Saha S, Datta S. Two-way active avoidance training-specific increases in phosphorylated cAMP response element-binding protein in the dorsal hippocampus, amygdala, and hypothalamus. Eur J Neurosci 2005;21:3403-14.

141. Datta S, Li G, Auerbach S. Activation of phasic pontine-wave generator in the rat: a mechanism for expression of plasticity-related genes and proteins in the dorsal hippocampus and amygdala. Eur J Neurosci 2008;27:1876-92.

142. Karashima A, Nakao M, Katayama N, Honda K. Instantaneous acceleration and amplification of hippocampal theta wave coincident with phasic pontine activities during REM sleep. Brain Res 2005;1051:50-6.

143. Aton SJ, Seibt J, Frank MG. Sleep and memory. In: Encyclopedia of Life Science. Chichester: John Wiley and Sons, Ltd., 2009.

144. Tonegawa S, Liu X, Ramirez S, Redondo R. Memory engram cells have come of age. Neuron 2015;87:918-31.

145. Roach JP, Pidde A, Katz E, et al. Resonance with sub-treshold oscillatory drive organizes activity and optimizes learning in neural networks. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2018;115:E3017-E25.

146. Stiefel KM, Gutkin BS, Sejnowski TJ. Cholinergic neuromodulation changes phase response curve shape and type in cortical pyramidal neurons. PloS ONE 2008;3:p. e3947.

147. Stiefel K, Gutkin B, Sejnowski T. The effects of cholinergic neuromodulation on neuronal phase-response curves of modeled cortical neurons. Journal of Computational Neurosci 2009;26:289-301.

148. Fink CG, Murphy GG, Zochowski M, Booth V. A dynamical role for acetylcholine in synaptic renormalization. PLoS Computational Biology 2013;9.

149. Hutcheon B, Miura RM, Puil E. Subthreshold membrane resonance in neocortical neurons. J Neurophysiol 1996;76:683-97.

150. Leung LS, Yu HW. Theta-frequency resonance in hippocampal CA1 neurons in vitro demonstrated by sinusoidal current injection. J Neurophysiol 1998;79:1592-6.

151. Sanhueza M, Bacigalupo J. Intrinsic subthreshold oscillations of the membrane potential in pyramidal neurons of the olfactory amygdala. Eur J Neurosci 2005;22:1618-26.

152. Hu H, Vervaeke K, Storm JF. Two forms of electrical resonance at theta frequencies, generated by M-current, h-current and persistent Na +current in rat hippocampal pyramidal cells. J Neurophysiol 2004;545:783-805.

153. Wang XJ. Neurophysiological and Computational Principles of Cortical Rhythms in Cognition. . Physiol Rev 2010;90:1195-268.

154. Yan Z-Q, Liu S-M, Li J, et al. Membrane resonance and its ionic mechanisms in rat subthalamic nucleus neurons. Neurosci Lett 2012;506:160-5.

CHAPTER IV

Effects of NREM Slow Wave Activity on Neocortical Gene Expression and Visual Memory Consolidation

4.1 Abstract

Synaptic weakening across sleep has been hypothesized to be driven by slow wave activity (SWA) - 0.5-4 Hz rhythms prominent in thalamocortical activity during NREM sleep. Here, we used optogenetic manipulations in primary visual cortex (V1) to generate oscillations in the SWA frequency range, using cell type-specific expression of Channelrhodopsin2 (ChR2) in layer 6 corticothalamic (CT) neurons responsible for coordinating these oscillation *in vivo*. We assessed the ability of this manipulation to offset sleep deprivation (SD)-driven changes in neocortical gene expression and memory consolidation.

4.2 Introduction

The synaptic homeostasis hypothesis (SHY) posits that a fundamental sleep function lies in regulating synaptic strengths through net synaptic weakening. According to SHY, synapses undergo net potentiation during waking experiences which, if left unregulated, will lead to synaptic strength saturation, network instability, decreased signal-to-noise ratio, altered excitatory/inhibitory (E/I) balance, and a breakdown of information processing. In response to waking potentiation, the hypothesis proposes that sleep re-normalize synaptic strengths through net synaptic weakening, restoring network E/I balance and preventing synaptic saturation. In support of SHY, multiple studies do show structural alterations to synapses, indicative of synaptic weakening, occurring preferentially after a period of sleep vs. sleep deprivation (SD). These include changes in presynaptic volume, spine density, and receptor composition (de Vivo et al., 2017; Vyazovskiy et al., 2008). Direct electrophysiological measures of neuronal excitability and synaptic strength likewise suggest that synapses experience sleep-dependent weakening (Vyazovskiy et al., 2009). And expression of immediate early genes (IEGs) implicated in synaptic plasticity mechanisms is increased with extended SD (Cirelli et al., 2004; Mackiewicz et al., 2007). Most recently, knockdown of the IEG *Homer1a* was shown to block sleep induced changes in synaptic composition (Diering et al., 2017).

However, these studies come with significant caveats. First, many were conducted with adolescent animals wherein the rate of synapse elimination is much higher than in adult brains (Havekes and Aton, 2020). Thus it remains unclear whether these findings reflect developmentally-regulated biological processes or an inherent function of sleep vs. SD. Second, effects of SD are often methodologically confounded by the use of novel objects or other forms of environmental enrichment. This makes it difficult to determine whether changes in physiology and gene expression are related to SD per se, or experiences during SD that are known to induce brain plasticity. Third, recent data suggests that different waking experiences - and accompanying neuronal activity patterns - may generate distinct transcriptional signatures across regions and cell types. This

complicates interpretation of IEG expression as a uniform measure of synaptic activity, and further complicates interpretation of studies using sensory enrichment for SD. Finally, and most critically, the degree to which these studies support SHY is limited by a lack of detail regarding underlying mechanisms for synaptic weakening.

SHY initially proposed that reduction in synaptic strength during sleep was a homeostatic (i.e. non-associative) plasticity mechanism ("downscaling") which responds globally to network perturbations. At the time of writing, the only example of in vivo homeostatic downscaling found to occur across sleep was found to be highly context dependent - occurring only after a period of monocular deprivation and not extending to both cerebral hemispheres (Torrado Pacheco et al., 2020). Firing rate changes across sleep are also not uniform, but instead differ as a function of baseline firing rates (Clawson et al., 2018; Miyawaki et al., 2019; Watson et al., 2016). And there are numerous examples of synaptic strengthening occurring during sleep (Puentes-Mestril and Aton, 2017). In response to these inconsistencies, an alternative causal mechanism for SHY mechanism was posited, in which sleep alters spike timing-dependent plasticity (STDP), an associated Hebbian mechanism, to bias synapses toward weakening (Hill and Tononi, 2005). Although supported by limited physiological data (Puentes-Mestril et al., 2019), there are again a number of ways in which this mechanism contradicts neurobiological data. Common between these proposed mechanisms is the critical role proposed for slow wave activity (SWA) in NREM sleep. NREM is characterized by low-frequency (0.5-4 Hz), high-amplitude network oscillations (SWA) in thalamocortical circuits. If wakefulness is prolonged, sleep pressure increases and SWA is increased in intensity (with higheramplitude waves). SHY posits that SWA mirrors sleep pressure because it is responsible for renormalizing synaptic strengths. Multiple studies suggest that NREM sleep plays an important role in memory consolidation (Aton et al., 2009; Ognjanovski et al., 2018; Puentes-Mestril and Aton, 2017; Puentes-Mestril et al., 2019).

Although intuitive and based on correlated features of sleep, these putative mechanisms for driving sleep-associated synaptic downscaling lack direct experimental support. To better characterize sleep dependent synaptic weakening mechanisms, and to test the SHY hypothesis, we sought to first manipulate SWA independent of behavioral state (using optogenetics) and characterize how it impacts gene expression correlates of sleep loss in the neocortex. We also used a new behavioral paradigm to demonstrate that sleep deprivation (SD) interferes with consolidation of visual recognition memory. Similar aspects of visual recognition (of familiar visual stimuli) have been linked mechanistically to a form of response plasticity initiated by prolonged visual stimulus presentation in primary visual cortex (V1), referred to as orientation-specific response potentiation (OSRP)(Cooke et al., 2015). This form of plasticity in V1 is dependent on post-stimulus sleep (Aton et al., 2014; Durkin and Aton, 2016) and coherent thalamocortical oscillations during NREM sleep between V1 and lateral geniculate nucleus (LGN) (Durkin et al., 2017). We also tested the effects of sleep vs. SD on consolidation of this form of memory, and also tested effects of optogenetic SWA manipulations on this process.

4.3 Materials and Methods

Mouse handling and husbandry

All animal husbandry and experimental procedures were approved by the University of Michigan Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee (PHS Animal Welfare Assurance number D16-00072 [A3114-01]). Animals were maintained on a 12:12h light/dark cycle (lights on at 9AM) with food and water provided *ad lib*. For all experiments, animals were individually housed (with beneficial enrichment) one week prior to the experiment and habituated by gentle handling five days prior to the experiment. Following habituation, and beginning at lights on, mice were either allowed *ad lib* sleep in their home cage or underwent SD by gentle handling. For freely-sleeping animals, sleep behavior was visually scored at 5-min intervals, based on criteria of immobility and stereotyped sleep posture, as used in prior studies (Delorme et al., 2019; Fisher et al., 2012; Pack et al., 2007).

Optogenetic stimulation of L6 CT neurons

For SWA manipulation experiments, Tg(Ntsr1-cre)GN220Gsat transgenic mice (*Ntsr1-Cre*; Gensat) were crossed to *B6;129S-Gt(ROSA)26Sor^{tm32(CAG-COP4*H134R/EYFP)Hze/J* transgenic mice (ChR2-Cre; Jackson) to generate mice expressing channelrhodopsin 2 (ChR2) in layer 6 corticothalamic neurons(*Ntsr1::Chr2*). A second set of *Nrsr1-Cre* mice were virally transduced to express L6 ChR2 as described below. To assess the effects of CT stimulation on V1 neurons, *Ntsr1::Chr2* mice were anesthetized anesthetized with isoflurane (0.5-0.8%) and 1 mg/kg chlorprothixene (Sigma). A 32-site silicon probe with 250 µm spacing (Cambridge Neurotech) was slowly advanced into right}

hemisphere LGN or V1 until stable recordings were obtained. And optical fiber was placed 0.5 mm below the cortical surface for delivery of laser light to V1 L6 neurons. A 15-min baseline was recorded, followed by 5-min periods of rhythmic optogenetic stimulation with 473 nm laser light (approximately 3 mW/mm²; CrystaLaser) at the following frequencies: 0.5, 1, 2, 3, and 4 Hz. Stimulation periods were separated by 10-min intervals to allow neuronal firing to return to baseline levels. Following all optogenetic experiments, mice were perfused and brains were processed for histological assessment. Transgene expptic fiber and electrode position were validated prior to data analysis.

Surgical procedures

A subset of *Ntsr1-Cre* transgenic mice underwent bilateral viral transduction of V1 with an AAV vector to express either ChR2-GFP or YFP in a Cre-dependent manner, using previously-described methods (Durkin et al., 2017). For biochemical and behavioral optogenetic experiments *Ntsr1::Chr2* mice or AAV-transduced mice received bilateral implants of optical fibers, targeting V1. Mice were allowed 2-4 weeks of postoperative recovery prior to experimental procedures.

Quantitative real-time PCR (qPCR)

Following behavioral and optogenetic manipulations, mice were euthanized with an overdose of pentobarbital (Euthasol) and primary visual cortex (V1) was microdissected for mRNA isolation. For mice with implanted optical fibers, the area taken was approximately 1.5 mm in radius, with the center being the fiber site. Quantitative realtime PCR (qPCR) experiments were performed as previously described (Delorme et al., 2019). mRNA was isolated using an RNeasy Micro kit (Qiagen). Total mRNA was quantified by spectrophotometry (Nanodrop Lite; Thermofisher) and diluted to equal concentrations of RNA. 20-500ng of total mRNA was used to synthesize cDNA using iScript's cDNA Synthesis Kit (Bio-Rad), cDNA diluted 1:10 in RNAse-free H₂O, and measured using a CFX96 Real-Time System, in 96-well reaction plates (Bio-Rad). Three technical replicates were used for each sample. Primer specificity was confirmed using NIH Primer Blast. Relative changes in gene expression were quantified using the $\Delta\Delta$ CT method.

Novel orientation recognition memory testing

Mice were trained for novel orientation recognition memory using a modified version of the task described in (Cooke et al., 2015). Briefly, following habituation to handling at ZT0, mice were placed in a 18" × 18" clear plexiglass arena, surrounded on all 4 sides by LED monitors. Mice were presented with a phase-reversing oriented grating (100% contrast, 0.05 cycles/deg, reversing at 1 Hz) of a single orientation (X°) on one of 4 monitors while the monitor opposite it displayed a solid gray screen. Stimulus presentation lasted 15 min after which they were returned to their home cage. 30-45 min later, mice were returned to the chamber and the same oriented grating-gray screen pairing was presented on the monitors opposite their first, for the same interval of time. Following training, mice were returned to their home cage for *ad lib* sleep or 6 h SD. A subset ChR2-expressing mice received bilateral optogenetic stimulation (3 Hz) throughout SD. On the second day of training, 12 hrs post-stimulus presentation, mice were alternately presented with gratings of the familiar X° orientation opposite a gray

screen and a novel $X^\circ + 90$ orientation opposite a gray screen. Oriented grating-gray screen pairings were presented on monitors opposite their firsts during subsequent presentations for a total of two presentations for each oriented grating. Interaction with the two oriented gratings was quantified as time spent actively moving within the stimulus zone (portion of arena with x°or x°+90oriented grating) relative to the grey screen zone.

4.4 Mice constitutively expressing ChR2 show sleep-like decreases in plasticityrelated gene expression after optogenetic generation of SWA

To test the role of SWA in regulating state-dependent neocortical gene expression, we expressed channelrhodopsin2 (ChR2) in a Cre-dependent manner in layer 6 corticothalamic (CT) neurons in *Ntsr1-Cre* mice (**Figure 4.1**). We used a range of stimulation frequencies (0.5-4 Hz) previously shown to augment SWS oscillations in the delta (0.5-4 Hz) and spindle (7-15 Hz) frequency bands (Durkin et al., 2017). ChR2 expression was achieved either constitutively (by breeding to Chr2 transgenic mice) or via AAV transduction of V1 bilaterally. For comparison of effects of SWA with natural *ad lib* sleep vs. SD, two groups of mice underwent no optogenetic manipulations, but were either allowed *ad lib* sleep (n = 5) or underwent 6-h SD by gentle handling (n = 5), starting at lights on (ZT0). Two additional groups of mice underwent SD, with bilateral light delivery to V1 at either 1 Hz (n = 5) or 3 Hz (n = 5) throughout the SD period. Immediately following these manipulations, the neocortex (primary visual cortex; V1) was microdissected for qPCR quantification of mRNA abundance (**Figure 4.1a**).



Figure 4.1. Experimental design. (**A**) Transgenic mice expressing ChR2 in layer 6 CT neurons were either allowed ad lib sleep starting at ZT0 (lights on), were sleep deprived (SD) for 6 h starting at ZT0, or were sleep deprived with rhythmic optogenetic stimulation of V1 layer 6 neurons. Mice were kept awake with gentle handling and light tapping to the cage and optogenetic fibres were coated in black paint to avoid excessive visual stimulation. Following these manipulations, neocortex containing V1 was microdissected for mRNA extraction and qPCR quantification of transcript abundance. Predicted changes for IEGs *Homer1a* and *Arc* are shown. (**B**) Expression of cFos in V1 and LGN following rhythmic stimulation of layer 6 neurons.

As shown in **Figure 4.2**, SD led to significant increases in V1 expression of *Homer1a* and *Arc* transcripts relative to *ad lib* sleep (p < 0.01 and 0.05, respectively, Holm-Sidak *post hoc* test vs. sleep). Both 1 Hz and 3 Hz stimulation of V1 throughout SD reduced expression back to levels seen in sleeping mice (**Figure 4.2**) (p < 0.05, Holm-Sidak *post hoc* test vs. SD).

4.5 Virally-transduced mice show no changes in gene expression associated with optogenetic generation of SWA

A second cohort of ChR2-expressing or (as a negative control) YFP-expressing mice (with V1 transduced virally) underwent the similar behavioral procedures. Mice expressing both transgenes underwent SD with rhythmic light delivery to V1 bilaterally. For the first experiments we used the lowest frequency in the SWA range, 0.5 Hz, for optogenetic stimulation. As shown in Figure 4.3, ChR2-transduced mice did not show the same decrease (relative to YFP-expressing mice) in Arc and Homer1a expression in V1 during SD (Figure 4.3A, N.S., Holm-Sidak post hoc test). One possibility is that ChR2 expression itself was variable due to differential AAV-mediated transduction in V1, leading to variable changes in SWA. However, the level of expression for Arc and Homer1a transcripts was not significantly correlated with the amount of Chr2 mRNA expressed in the tissue (Figure 4.3C, N.S. Pearson correlation). To further address this issue, we compared the effects of rhythmic light delivery at different frequencies on V1 network (local field potential; LFP) activity in mice expressing ChR2 via viral transduction or constitutively (Figure 4.4A). We found that optogenetically-driven changes in SWA measured by LFP power spectral densities (PSDs) were generally more modest in virally transduced mice than constitutively-expressing mice (Figure 4.4B-C), and were only



Figure 4.2. Optogenetic stimulation of neocortex at SWA frequencies offsets SD-driven changes in gene expression. V1 transcripts known to be upregulated in neocortex during SD and involved in synaptic plasticity were quantified using qPCR. Values indicate mean \pm SEM for fold change vs. sleep for SD + no stim (red), SD + 1 Hz stim (solid blue) and SD + 3 Hz stim (hatched blue). All statistical tests were done on Δ CT values. Values indicate mean \pm SEM with propagated error from ad lib sleep and SD groups. *, and ** indicate p < 0.05 and 0.01 vs. values for sleeping mice, respectively, Holm-Sidak *post hoc* test.



Figure 4.3. Optogenetic stimulation of neocortex at 0.5 Hz does not alter SD-driven changes in gene expression in virally-transduced mice. (A) qPCR-based quantification of V1 *Arc* and *Homer1a* transcripts in V1 of SD mice. Values are expressed as fold change from mean values from YFP-expressing mice. (B) Relative difference in Chr2 transcript abundance between YFP- and ChR2-transduced mice (C) Transcript levels for *Arc* and *Homer1a* did not correlate with expression of *Chr2* within V1.*r* and *p* values from Pearson correlation shown in panels. All statistical tests on qPCR data were done on Δ CT values. Values indicate mean ± SEM with propagated error from ad lib sleep and SD groups. *N.S.* indicate p > 0.05 vs. values for sleeping mice, respectively, Holm-Sidak *post hoc* test.



Figure 4.4. Effects of rhythmic light delivery at SWA frequencies in virally-transduced and constitutively-expressing mice. (A) Transgene reporter expression for ChR2 in a virally-transduced (top) and constitutively-expressing (bottom) Ntsr1-Cre mice. (B-C) power spectral density (PSD) in V1 at baseline (red) and during rhythmic light delivery to V1 at 0.5 (B) and 1 (C) Hz. (D) Mean (±SEM) PSD changes during optogenetic stimulation at 0.5 and 1 Hz (from baseline) within SWA (top) and theta/spindle (bottom) frequency bands for virally-transduced vs. constitutively-expressing mice. ** and **** indicate p < 0.01 and p < 0.0001, Holm-Sidak *post hoc* test.

significant during 1 Hz stimulation (**Figure 4.4C-D**). Constitutively-expressing ChR2 transgenic mice also showed significant increases in spectral power at higher frequencies (in the theta and spindle frequency range, outside of the SWA band).

We conclude from this that differences in gene expression between the first and second cohort could be due to either mode of transduction of ChR2 or to frequency of optogenetic stimulation (0.5 vs. 4 Hz). To test this, a third cohort of virally-transduced mice expressing ChR2 underwent SD with 1 Hz light delivery (**Figure 4.5**). For these mice, SD-driven changes in the expression in V1 of Homer1a and Arc were similar to those seen in SD mice without optogenetic stimulation. Thus differences seen in SD-driven gene expression in constitutively-expressing ChR2 transgenic mice may be due to the mode of transduction, where expression among layer 6 CT neurons is more widespread.

4.6 Optogenetic mimicry of SWA alters visual recognition memory

Because results of qPCR-based studies were somewhat inconclusive, we next assessed effects of sleep, SD, and optogenetically-driven SWA mimicry on a recentlyreported form of visual memory (Cooke et al., 2015) (**Figure 4.6**). To do so we used a variation of the novel object recognition task that uses familiar and novel orientation gratings in lieu of physical objects. In adult mice, brief exposure to phase-reversing, oriented gratings results in enhanced cortical (V1) responses to stimuli of the same orientation. Our lab has shown that changes in the visual cortex related to this form of





learning is disrupted either by SD or by optogenetic attenuation of SWA during SWS (Durkin et al. 2017). Work has also shown that this form of learning is dependent on the same cellular mechanisms underlying long term potentiation (LTP) and can be precluded via application of an inhibitor peptide in V1, suggesting information storage(Cooke et al., 2015). In using our modified task, we are then able to interrogate the role of SWA in a form visual memory dependent on both sleep and synaptic plasticity. We first examined the role of sleep in consolidating this memory, using C57BI/6J mice (Figure 4.7A). We found that after wild type mice were presented with an X° oriented grating at lights on the first day, interaction with repeated presentation of X° (familiar) 1 Hz phase-reversing oriented gratings the following day was significantly reduced compared with interaction with an X+90° (novel) grating. This discrimination between novel and familiar oriented gratings was eliminated in mice that underwent 6-h SD following initial presentation of the X° grating. These experiments were repeated in Ntsr1::ChR2 mice, where sleep and SD groups were compared with SD + 3 Hz mice, which had 3 Hz light delivery to V1 across the SD period (Figure 4.7B). While no significant differences were found between sleeping and SD Ntsr1::ChR2 mice, SD + 3 Hz stimulated mice discriminated between familiar and novel gratings in a manner similar to freely-sleeping wild-type mice.



Figure 4.6. Experimental design for testing effects of SD and SWA on visual recognition memory. Mice were trained by repeated presentation of an X° oriented grating and a grey screen opposite the grating at ZT0. Unused monitors displayed a solid black screen throughout stimulus presentation. Following training, mice were either allowed *ad lib* sleep, or underwent 6-h SD, in their home cage. A subset of *Ntsr1::ChR2* mice received rhythmic light delivery to V1 during SD. 12 h after training, mice were re-presented with the familiar X° grating and a novel X+90° grating opposite their respective grey screens to quantify differences in interaction based on recognition of the familiar stimulus (preference). Preference was quantified as difference in time spent interacting with an oriented grating and its opposite grey screen over total interaction time.



Figure 4.7. Effects of SD and SWA-frequency optogenetic stimulation of V1 on visual recognition memory. (A) C57BL/6J mice show evidence of recognition of the familiar (X°) oriented grating after *ad lib* sleep, but not after SD. (B) While neither sleeping nor sleep deprived *Ntsr1::ChR2* mice showed significant differences in interaction with familiar (X°) or novel (X+90°) oriented gratings, SD with rhythmic (3 Hz) light delivery to V1 during SD increased recognition memory. Symbols indicate orientation preference of individual mice. * indicates *p* < 0.05, Mann-Whitney U test.

4.7 Discussion

Using optogenetic-driven mimicry of SWA, we show that the simulation of slow wave oscillations in SD mice can preclude IEG correlates of sleep loss and rescue visual memory consolidation. Studies looking to clarify the role of SWA in sleep dependent weakening have often found divergent, if not conflicting, mechanisms that differ in critical ways (heterosynaptic vs Hebbian), while failing to account for many of the observed phenomena implicated in sleep dependent weakening (Bartram et al., 2017; Czarnecki et al., 2007; Gonzalez-Rueda et al., 2018; Peigeat et al., 2015; Puentes-Mestril and Aton, 2017). Here, we've focused on establishing whether there exists any causal relationship between SWA and state dependent gene expression. We find that rhythmic stimulation of layer 6 corticothalamic neurons at SWA frequencies (1 Hz and 3 Hz) blocks SD-driven increases in Arc and Homer1a gene expression (Figure 4.2). Paradoxically, optogenetic stimulation induces robust cFos expression in V1 and the LGN (Figure 4.1, not quantified). Given that cFos regulates the transcription of other IEGs, we might expect significant increases in Arc and Homer1a to follow (Hu et al., 2010). Our results show otherwise, suggesting that SWA mimicry may selectively alter gene expression. Arc and Homer1a significantly correlate with sleep loss (Delorme et al., 2019; Maret et al., 2007) and are critical in the expression homeostatic synaptic plasticity (Hu et al., 2010; Shepherd et al., 2006; Siddoway et al., 2014) and sleep homeostasis (Ahnaou et al., 2015; Suzuki et al., 2020). And, as previously mentioned, knockdown of Homer1a was most recently shown to block sleep induced changes in synaptic composition (Diering et al., 2017). The more modest increase in expression in our SWA mimicry group (Figure **4.2**) suggests that our stimulation protocol either disrupted homeostatic responses to

sleep loss or was able to mimic the effects of sleep (i.e. induce weakening). Although prior studies have shown that rhythmic stimulation of neurons at 1-3 Hz can induce homeostatic downscaling(Goold & Nicoll, 2010) in excitatory cells, until changes in glutamatergic receptor expression and firing activity can be assayed, we cannot say whether our mimicry blocked sleep homeostatic or weakened cortical networks (Vyazovskiy et al., 2008; Vyazovskiy et al., 2009). Critically, we were unable to replicate this effect in AAV-transduced mice, finding no discernable change in gene expression at 0.5 Hz (relative to stimulated YFP-expressing mice) or 1 Hz (relative to non-stimulated ChR2-expressing mice). This may stem from two critical differences in our cohorts. First, our initial Ntsr1::ChR2 cohort constitutively expressed ChR2 in all regions of the neocortex at high levels (not quantified) whereas our AAV-transduced cohorts showed more localized expression (not quantified, **Figure 4.4**). Greater ChR2 expression may have allowed for larger increases in SWA power. Indeed, we found that optogenetic stimulation of anesthetized mice produced more robust, albeit non-specific, changes in LFP power when done in constitutively expressing mice. Given that our power was set to relatively low levels (3 mW/mm²) at 40 ms pulses, the lack of expression may have contributed to lower peak and steady state photocurrents (Mattis et al., 2012). Secondly, higher frequencies may be more effective at mimicking the effects of SWA. This is in part supported by our anesthetized recordings, wherein we found that 1Hz stimulation regardless of cohort - produced significant differences in LFP power within the SWA band while 0.5Hz failed to produce any significant change. These differences among experimental cohorts may have limited our ability to replicate the initial findings.
In addition to precluding significant changes in gene expression, we showed that SWA mimicry in sleep deprived Ntsr1::ChR2 mice improved visual memory consolidation. Expression of SWA correlates with retention of declarative memories and performance in procedural tasks and its manipulation (via augmentation or disruption) reliably alters performance in various memory tasks (Puentes-Mestril et al., 2019). How SWA mediates memory consolidation is unclear. One line of research suggests that SWA coordinates interregional dialogue by coupling oscillating circuits. In other words, the temporal coupling of neocortical (SWA), hippocampal (theta, sharp wave ripples), and thalamic (spindle) oscillations allows for the transfer and subsequent storage of informationincluding visual information- between brain regions (Durkin et al., 2017; Maingret et al., 2016; Miyamoto et al., 2016; Rothschild et al., 2017; Wei et al., 2016). This dialogue may involve multiple forms of plasticity, including STDP, and it remains unclear how SWA's purported role in sleep dependent weakening would be expressed during coupling. Here we looked to establish whether SWA alone was enough to rescue behavior in a visual recognition task shown to be sleep dependent (Figure 4.7). Although we found that SWA mimicry improved visual recognition memory in sleep deprived Ntsr1:: ChR2 mice to wildtype control levels, we found no difference in performance between sleep and SD *Ntsr1::ChR2* mice. Subsequently, although SWA appeared to improve visual recognition, we cannot say that it rescued an SD-driven deficit.

There are important caveats in interpreting our results. Firstly, we found that a subset of mice underwent tonic-clonic seizures while undergoing optogenetic stimulation during SD (specifically at 3 Hz). These mice were not included in our final analysis. We did, however, include mice that had been subjected to different stimulation protocols (0.5-

3 Hz) at a previous time point, some of which underwent seizures. These mice were not statistically discernable from their counterparts (Table 4.4) and underwent no seizure on experiment day. Frequencies < 3Hz were found to be progressively less epileptogenic, with protocols at \leq 1Hz producing no discernible seizures in naive mice. Consequently, we lowered our stimulation frequencies to either 0.5 Hz or 1 Hz. Because constitutively expressed Chr2 was found in all regions of the neocortex, we began virally transducing ChR2 in *Ntsr1-Cre* mice. Doing so allowed us to localize expression to V1, lessening the possibility of runaway excitation. No seizures were noted in these cohorts. Secondly, housekeeping instability may have inflated or reduced the changes in fold expression. Although we chose those housekeeping genes with relatively high stability rankings and low intergroup variance (according to our normfinder results), their expressions between conditions (Table 4.1) suggests some instability. Future studies may need to revisit housekeeping selection. Thirdly, our data is preliminary in nature. Although our initial results are promising, the lack of a YFP control group complicates interpretation, and our inability to replicate these results necessitates further investigation. Finally, some of the underlying assumptions in our experiments require further investigation. Whether rhythmic stimulation of layer 6 CT neurons drives true mimicry or simply alters cortical and thalamic firing is unclear. This is further complicated by the organizing properties of SWA. SWA, although largely characterized by delta, is known to coordinate the expression of other NREM rhythms including spindles and sharp wave ripples (SWRs) (Puentes-Mestril et al., 2019). Thus, only driving delta SWA may not truly mimic endogenous SWA. Moreover, it's unclear whether our visual recognition task reflects visual memory consolidation or is instead solely a measure of shifted tuning properties.

Changes in behavior may only reflect shifts in firing rate responses within V1 cells to specific oriented gratings (Aton et al., 2014). Consequently, they may reflect visual cortical firing properties and not necessarily memory consolidation. In addition, how or if this information is then relayed to the hippocampus is unknown. To address these ambiguities, future studies should limit mimicry of SWA to higher-order cortical regions critical to recognition memory, such as the perirhinal cortex (Murray et al., 1999). Studies should also supplement our oriented grating task with additional, better characterized, behaviors such as novel object recognition. Multi-unit recordings of targeted regions would also clarify the network effects of our optogenetic manipulation. A final issue, as underlined by our visual recognition task, is that constitutive expression of ChR2 in layer 6 CT neurons likely alters neuronal properties in unintended ways (Allen et al., 2015). Disaggregating the unintended effects of ChR2 expression from our results will be important in correctly interpreting our data. And future studies should use virally transduced mice when possible to lessen developmental effects of ChR2 expression. Nevertheless, we show that some components of sleep may be isolated and manipulated to better understand how sleep-dependent effects are realized.

ChR2 Expression	Gene Set	Stimulation Frequency	SD(2-CT)/S(2-CT) ¹	Fold Change ²
		No Stimulation	0.60	-1.65
Constitutive	Acta1+GusB+Pak1	.5hz	N/A	N/A
Constitutive	Adgriddad i'r gri	1Hz	0.98	-1.03
		3Hz	1.05	1.05
	Pgk1+Tbp	No Stimulation	1.23	1.23
AAV Transduction	GusB+Actg1	.5hz	0.97*	-1.03
	Pgk1+Tbp	1Hz	1.16	1.16

Table 4.1 Housekooping pairs used for all condit	tions Change in gone expressio	n presented as ratio ¹ and fold change ²
Table 4.1. Housekeeping pairs used for all condit	lions. Change in gene expressio	ni presenteu as ratio anu iolu change

Table 4.2. Effect of SWA mimicry on IEG expression in constitutively expressing and AAV transduced Ntsr1-ChR2 mice

	Stimulated Hemisphere		Non-Stimulated Hemisphere		qPCR p-value (Stimulated vs. Not Stimulated)	
Gene Name	1Hz, ΔCT	3Hz, ΔCT	1Hz, ΔCT	3Hz, ∆CT	1Hz	3Hz
Arc	0.73 ± 0.31	0.65 ± 0.22	0.23 ± 0.09	0.20 ± 0.20	0.2139	0.2139
Homer1a	2.18 ± 0.14	2.21 ± 0.21	1.91 ± 0.11	2.03 ± 0.19	0.3977	0.4434

					qPCR p-value (vs. Sleep)		qPCR p-value (vs. SD)		
Gene Name	Sleep, ∆CT	SD, ΔCT	1Hz, ΔCT	3Hz, ΔCT	SD	1Hz	3Hz	1Hz	3Hz
Arc	1.65 ± 0.37	-0.26 ± 0.34	0.76 ± 0.31	0.65 ± 0.22	0.0094	0.1573	0.1573	0.1333	0.1573
Homer1a	2.22 ± 0.45	1.15 ± 0. 14	2.18 ± 0.14	2.21 ± 0.21	0.0398	0.9886	0.9886	0.0398	0.0398
Plk2	-0.32 ± 0.1	-0.17 ± 0.08	-0.27 ± 0.09	-0.4 ± 0.09	0.7659	0.8396	0.8396	0.8396	0.3805
Narp	3.20 ± 0.45	3.17 ± 0.39	3.25 ± 0.12	2.97 ± 0.47	0.9986	0.9986	0.9960	0.9986	0.9960
Gephyrin	2.47 ± 0.05	2.50 ± 0.04	2.66 ± 0.07	2.64 ± 0.08	0.7622	0.3155	0.3483	0.3483	0.3483
Gria1	0.44 ± 0.13	0.49 ± 0.08	-0.13 ± 0.23	0.31 ± 0.25	0.9079	0.2426	0.9079	0.2190	0.9079
Gria2	-2.36 ± 0.12	-2.23 ± 0.03	-2.10 ± 0.16	-2.03 ± 0.08	0.7376	0.5095	0.3804	0.7376	0.6545
Arc	1.15 ± 0.10	-0.63 ± 0.23	-0.49 ± 0.15	N/A	<0.0001	<0.0001	N/A	0.5568	N/A
Homer1a	1.73 ± 0.11	0.58 ± 0.16	0.59 ± 0.10	N/A	<0.0001	<0.0001	N/A	0.9515	N/A

Table 4.3. Effect of SWA mimicry on IEG expression in stimulated and non-stimulated hemispheres

	History of Seizure, ΔCT		No History of Seizure, ΔCT		qPCR p-value (Seizure vs. No Seizure)	
Gene Name	Stimulated Hemisphere	Non-Stimulated Hemisphere	Stimulated Hemisphere	Non-Stimulated Hemisphere	Stimulated	Non-Stimulated
Arc	1.07 ± .03	0.27 ± 0.15	0.38 ± 0.48	0.19 ± 0.12	0.2985	0.8628
Homer1a	2.15 ± .29	2.08 ± 0.07	2.20 ± 0.13	1.73 ± 0.14	0.8360	0.3508

Table 4.4. Effect of SWA mimicry on IEG expression in mice with and without a history of seizures

Table 4.5. Primer Designs

	colgilio	
Gene Name	Forward Primer	Reverse Primer
Actg1	ACTCTTCCAGCCTTCCTTC	ATCTCCTTCTGCATCCTGTC
Pgk1	TCGTGATGAGGGTGGACTTC	ACAGCAGCCTTGATCCTTTG
Тbp	GCAGCCTCAGTACAGCAATC	GGTGCAGTGGTCAGAGTTTG
Gusb	TGGACCCAAGATACCGACAT	ATCCCATTCACCCACACAAC
Arc	CCAGATCCAGAACCACATGAA	GAGAGTGTACCCTCACTGTATTG
Homer1a	GCATTGCCATTTCCACATAGG	ATGAACTTCCATATTTATCCACCTTACTT
Plk2	AGATATAACGACACACAATAAGGT	TTGCTAGGCTGCTGGGTTAT
Narp	TGCTGATAGAGTGGGGCAAT	CAGCTGTGCGACCTTGTC
Gephyrin	CAACAGGGAATGAGCTGCTA	CGATTGCTGTCCCGAATCTT
cFos	GAAGAGGAAGAGAAACGGAGAAT	CTTGGAGTGTATCTGTCAGCTC
Gria1	GGCCAGATTGTGAAGCTAGAA	ATGTCCATGAAGCCCAGGTT
Gria2	GATGCGACCTGACCTCAAAG	TGATAAGCCTCTGTCACTGTCA

4.8 References

Ahnaou, A., Raeymaekers, L., Steckler, T., and Drinkenbrug, W.H.I.M. (2015). Relevance of the metabotropic glutamate receptor (mGluR5) in the regulation of NREM-REM sleep cycle and homeostasis: evidence from mGluR5 (-/-) mice Behav Brain Res 282.

Allen, B. D., Singer, A. C., & Boyden, E. S. (2015). Principles of designing interpretable optogenetic behavior experiments. Learning and Memory, 22(4), 232–238. https://doi.org/10.1101/lm.038026.114

Aton, S.J., Seibt, J., and Frank , M.G. (2009). Sleep and memory. In Encyclopedia of Life Science (Chichester: John Wiley and Sons, Ltd.).

Aton, S.J., Suresh, A., Broussard, C., and Frank, M.G. (2014). Sleep promotes cortical response potentiation following visual experience. Sleep *37*, 1163-1170.

Bartram, J., Kahn, M.C., Tuohy, S., Paulsen, O., Wilson, T., and Mann, E.O. (2017). Cortical Up states induce the selective weakening of subthreshold synaptic inputs. Nature Communications *8*, 665.

Cirelli, C., Gutierrez, C.M., and Tononi, G. (2004). Extensive and divergent effects of sleep and wakefulness on brain gene expression. Neuron *41*, 35-43.

Clawson, B.C., Durkin, J., Suresh, A.K., Pickup, E.J., Broussard, C.G., and Aton, S.J. (2018). Sleep Promotes, and Sleep Loss Inhibits, Selective Changes in Firing Rate, Response Properties and Functional Connectivity of Primary Visual Cortex Neurons. Frontiers in Systems Neuroscience *12*, 40.

Cooke, S.F., Komorowski, R.W., Kaplan, E.S., Gavornik, J.P., and Bear, M.F. (2015). Visual recognition memory, manifested as long-term habituation, requires synaptic plasticity in V1. Nat Neurosci *18*, 262-271.

Czarnecki, A., Birtoli, B., and Ulrich, D. (2007). Cellular mechanisms of burst firingmediated long-term depression in rat neocortical pyramidal cells. J Physiol *578*, 471-479.

de Vivo, L., Bellesi, M., Marshall, W., Bushong, E.A., Ellisman, H., Tononi, G., and Cirelli, C. (2017). Ultrastructural evidence for synaptic scaling across the wake/sleep cycle. Science *355*, 507-510.

Delorme, J.E., Kodoth, V., and Aton, S.J. (2019). Sleep loss disrupts Arc expression in dentate gyrus neurons. Neurobiol Learn Mem *160*, 73-82.

Diering, G.H., Nirujogi, R.S., Roth, R.H., Worley, P.F., Pandey, A., and Huganir, R.L. (2017). Homer1a drives homeostatic scaling-down of excitatory synapses during sleep. Science *355*, 511-515.

Durkin, J., and Aton, S.J. (2016). Sleep-Dependent Potentiation in the Visual System Is at Odds with the Synaptic Homeostasis Hypothesis. Sleep *39*, 155-159.

Durkin, J., Suresh, A.K., Colbath, J., Broussard, C., Wu, J., Zochowski, M., and Aton, S.J. (2017). Cortically coordinated NREM thalamocortical oscillations play an essential, instructive role in visual system plasticity. Proceedings National Academy of Sciences *114*, 10485-10490.

Fisher, S.P., Godinho, S.I.H., Pothecary, C.A., Hankins, M.W., Foster, R.G., and Peirson, S.N. (2012). Rapid assessment of sleep/wake behaviour in mice. J Biol Rhythms *27*, 48-58.

Gonzalez-Rueda, A., Pedrosa, V., Feord, R.C., Clopath, C., and Paulsen, O. (2018). Activity-Dependent Downscaling of Subthreshold Synaptic Inputs during Slow-Wave-Sleep-like Activity In Vivo. Neuron 97, 1244-1252.

Havekes, R., and Aton, S.J. (2020). Impacts of Sleep Loss Versus Waking Experience on Brain Plasticity: Parallel or Orthogonal? Trends in Neuroscience *43*, 385-393.

Hill, S., and Tononi, G. (2005). Modeling sleep and wakefulness in the thalamocortical system. J Neurophysiol 93, 1671-1698.

Hu, J.H., Park, J.M., Park, S., Xiao, B., Dehoff, M.H., Kim, S., Hayashi, T., Schwarz, M.K., Huganir, R.L., Seeburg, P.H., *et al.* (2010). Homeostatic scaling requires group I mGluR activation mediated by Homer1a. Neuron *68*, 1128-1142.

Mackiewicz, M., Shockley, K.R., Romer, M.A., Galante, R.J., Zimmerman, J.E., Naidoo, N., Baldwin, D.A., Jensen, S.T., Churchill, G.A., and Pack, A.I. (2007). Macromolecule biosynthesis - a key function of sleep. Physiol Genomics *31*, 441-457.

Maingret, N., Girardeau, G., Todorova, R., Goutierre, M., and Zugaro, M. (2016). Hippocampo-cortical coupling mediates memory consolidation during sleep. Nat Neurosci *19*, 959-964.

Maret, S., Dorsaz, S., Gurcel, L., Pradervand, S., Petit, B., Pfister, C., Hagenbuchle, O., O'Hara, B.F., Franken, P., and Tafti, M. (2007). Homer1 is a core brain molecular correlate of sleep loss. PNAS *104*, 20090-20095.

Mattis, J., Tye, K.M., Ferenczi, E.A., Ramakrishnan, C., O'Shea, D.J., Prakash, R., Gunaydin, L.A., Hyun, M., Fenno, L.E., Gradinaru, V., *et al.* (2012). Principles for applying optogenetic tools derived from direct comparative analysis of microbial opsins. Nat Methods *9*, 159-172.

Miyamoto, D., Hirai, D., Fung, C.C., Inutsuka, A., Odagawa, M., Suzuki, T., Boehringer, R., Adaikkan, C., Matsubara, C., Matsuki, N., *et al.* (2016). Top-down cortical input during NREM sleep consolidates perceptual memory. Science *352*, 1315-1318

Miyawaki, H., Watson, B., and Diba, K. (2019). Neuronal firing rates diverge during REM and homogenize during non-REM. Sci Rep *9*, 689.

Ognjanovski, N., Broussard, C., Zochowski, M., and Aton, S.J. (2018). Hippocampal Network Oscillations Rescue Memory Consolidation Deficits Caused by Sleep Loss. Cereb Cortex *28*, 3711-3723.

Murray, E. A., & Bussey, T. J. (1999). Perceptual-mnemonic functions of the perirhinal cortex. Trends in Cognitive Sciences, 3(4), 142–151. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1364-6613(99)01303-0

Pack, A.I., R.J., G., Maislin, G., Cater, J., Metaxas, D., Lu, S., Zhang, L., Von Smith, R., Kay, T., Lian, J., *et al.* (2007). Novel method for high-throughput phenotyping of sleep in mice. Physiol Genomics *28*, 232-238.

Peigeat, R., Chausson, P., Dreyfus, F.M., Leresche, N., and Lambert, R.C. (2015). Sleep slow wave-related homo and heterosynaptic LTD of intrathalamic GABAAergic synapses: involvement of T-type Ca2+ channels and metabotropic glutamate receptors J Neurosci *35*, 64-73.

Puentes-Mestril, C., and Aton, S.J. (2017). Linking network activity to synaptic plasticity during sleep: hypotheses and recent data. Frontiers in Neural Circuits *11*, doi: 10.3389/fncir.2017.00061.

Puentes-Mestril, C., Roach, J., Niethard, N., Zochowski, M., and Aton, S.J. (2019). How rhythms of the sleeping brain tune memory and synaptic plasticity. Sleep *42*, pii: zsz095. Rothschild, G., Eban, E., and Frank, L.M. (2017). A cortical–hippocampal–cortical loop of information processing during memory consolidation. Nat Neurosci *20*, 251-259.

Shepherd, J.D., Rumbaugh, G., Wu, J., Chowdhury, S., Plath, N., Kuhl, D., Huganir, R.L., and Worley, P.F. (2006). Arc/Arg3.1 mediates homeostatic synaptic scaling of AMPA receptors. Neuron *52*, 475-484.

Siddoway, B., Hou, H., and Xia, H. (2014). Molecular mechanisms of homeostatic synaptic downscaling. Neuropharmacology *78*, 38-44.

Suzuki, A., Yanagisawa, M., and Greene, R.W. (2020). Loss of Arc attenuates the behavioral and molecular responses for sleep homeostasis in mice. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA *117*, 10547-10553.

Torrado Pacheco, A., Bottorff, J., and Turrigiano, G.G. (2020). Sleep promotes downward firing rate homeostasis. bioRxiv.

Vyazovskiy, V.V., Cirelli, C., Pfister-Genskow, M., Faraguna, U., and Tononi, G. (2008). Molecular and electrophysiological evidence for net synaptic potentiation in wake and depression in sleep. Nature Neuroscience *11*, 200-208.

Vyazovskiy, V.V., Olscese, U., Lazimy, Y.M., Faraguna, U., Esser, S.K., Williams, J.C., Cirelli, C., and Tononi, G. (2009). Cortical firing and sleep homeostasis. Neuron *63*, 865-878.

Watson, B.O., Levenstein, D., Green, J.P., Gelinas, J.N., and Buzsaki, G. (2016). Network homeostasis and state dynamics of neocortical sleep. Neuron *90*, 839-852. Wei, Y., Krishnan, G.P., and Bazhenov, M. (2016). Synaptic Mechanisms of Memory Consolidation during Sleep Slow Oscillations. J Neurosci *36*, 4231-4247.

CHAPTER V

Conclusion and Future Directions

There were four objectives in this thesis. First, to characterize how sleep loss differentially alters the expression of genes involved in synaptic plasticity and circadian time keepers in a cell type- and region-specific manner. Second, to begin establishing a unifying theory for sleep's role in synaptic plasticity from commonalities shared by sleep oscillations. Third, to begin testing the relationship between SWA and sleep-dependent synaptic weakening through SWA mimicry. And lastly, to begin determining the functional relationship between SWA and visual memory consolidation. The summaries of our findings and future directions are discussed in the following sections.

5.1 Cell type- and region-specific variation in SD transcript regulation

Although sleep is known to play a critical role in learning and memory, the mechanism by which it does so remains largely unclear (Diekelmann and Born, 2010; Puentes-Mestril and Aton, 2017). Most hypotheses posit that sleep promotes synaptic plasticity mechanisms that stabilize acquired memories while readying the brain for further learning (Klinzing et al., 2019). To test these hypotheses, researchers have taken advantage of activity-dependent genes (IEG) and their relation to sleep, memory, and plasticity. Many IEGs are thought to mediate synaptic plasticity through increases in their expression following sleep loss

(Cirelli et al., 2004; Maret et al., 2007; Taishi et al., 2001; Terao et al., 2006; Tononi and Cirelli, 2006) and have been associated with memory consolidation (Fleischmann et al., 2003; Jaubert et al., 2007; Novkovic et al., 2015; Plath et al., 2006). In bridging sleep and synaptic plasticity, IEGs then offer a means of interrogating how sleep can facilitate memory through synaptic plasticity. However, researchers must consider the functional heterogeneity, cell-type specificity, and interplay of these IEGS. Most studies investigating sleep dependent gene expression have tended to focus on pyramidal cells or have circumscribed their analysis to single brain regions (Elliot et al., 2004). Recent data suggest that sleep dependent changes in gene expression do vary as a function of brain region and subregion (Calais et al., 2015; Delorme et al., 2019; Thompson et al., 2010), suggesting some heterogeneity in underlying mechanisms. In chapter II we looked to characterize how SD differentially impacts expression of commonly studied IEGs and circadian time keepers as a function of brain region and cell type.

In Chapter II, we used translating ribosome affinity purification (TRAP) to characterize changes in the abundance of ribosome-associated transcripts in Camk2a-expressing (Camk2a+) and parvalbumin-expressing (PV+) of the mouse hippocampus and neocortex after a brief period of sleep or sleep loss. We focused our analysis on sleep responsive IEGs implicated in various forms of synaptic plasticity. To better understand how IEG pathways may differ as a function of region and cell type, we looked at both effectors (*Arc, Homer1a, Narp, Bdnf*) and transcriptional regulators (*Cfos, FosB, Npas4*). In addition to these IEGs, we looked at core (*Clock, Per1, Per2, Cry1, Cry1, and Bmal*) and auxiliary (*Rev-Erba, Dbp, Ted, Nfil3, Dec1*) clock genes. We demonstrated that shorter (3-h SD) and more prolonged (6-h SD) sleep loss promoted distinct abundance

patterns in Camk2a+ and PV+ cells of the hippocampus and neocortex. Consistent with previous findings, 3-h SD significantly increased neocortical *Arc*(*Cirelli et al., 2004*), and *Homer1a* (Maret et al., 2008) abundance in Camk2a+ cells but only increased *Homer1a* abundance in the hippocampus. Transcript abundance for *Bdnf* and *Narp* followed a similar trend, with unchanged levels in hippocampal Camk2a+ neurons, and modest (but not significantly) increased levels in neocortical neurons. Prolonging SD to 6 h significantly increased ribosome-associated *Arc* and *Homer1a* abundance in Camk2a+ neurons of both regions, suggesting that hippocampal cells required additional SD before undergoing significant increases in IEG transcript abundance. Indeed, while both *Narp* and *BDNF* abundance significantly increased in the neocortex, only *BDNF* significantly changed in the hippocampal population. These results, circumscribed largely to excitatory cells of the hippocampal cells undergoing more modest increases in transcript abundance as a function of sleep loss.

When repeated these experiments in PV+ cells, we found that hippocampal PV+ interneurons were particularly refractory to SD-driven changes in transcript abundance while neocortical cells largely resembled their Camk2a+ counterparts. In the neocortex, short SD significantly increased *Arc* transcript abundance, while prolonged SD significantly increased *Arc*, *Homer1a*, *Narp*, and *BDNF* abundance. In contrast, we observed no significant changes in the hippocampus. Transcriptional regulators show cell type specific differences in expression (Hu et al., 2017; Hvratin et al., 2018; Lacar et al., 2016) and downstream targets (Lin et al., 2008). Regional differences in their expression would partially account for some of the differences observed. Subsequently, we repeated

our analysis with Npas4, Cfos, and FosB. We found that Camk2a+ neurons in the hippocampus underwent significant increases in Npas4, Cfos, and FosB. transcript abundance following prolonged SD. In contrast, only Cfos abundance increased in PV+ interneurons. These differences did not extend to neocortical populations, wherein all transcripts underwent significant increases in abundance. This suggests that hippocampal PV+ interneurons may have a higher induction threshold for IEG expression. This is supported in part by a recent study that found that the upregulation of CREB target genes (such as Arc and Cfos) in PV+ interneurons depended on the slower CaV1-CaMK-CaM pathway (Cohen et al., 2016). PV+ interneurons were generally found to be substantially less responsive to stimulation frequency and calcium influxes, resulting in slower overall kinetics. This is further supported by our short SD results, where we observed no significant change in transcript abundance within hippocampal PV+ interneurons but did find a significant increase in Cfos abundance in the Camk2a+ hippocampal population. In addition to slower transcriptional-activity coupling kinetics, lower PV+ interneuron activation may likewise account for differences in transcript abundance. Critically, we also found regional differences in transcript abundance within cell types, suggesting that region specific differences may be altering SD-driven abundance across cell types. Our data suggests that this may stem from lower overall hippocampal activity. We then shifted our analysis to core and auxiliary clock genes, we found similar (albeit more modest) variation in SD driven transcript abundance. 3-h SD significantly increased Per2 transcript abundance in both Camk2a+ and PV+ neocortical populations but induced no change in the hippocampal populations. And, while prolonged SD (6-H) largely mirrored neocortical findings, with PER2 levels tending to remain

elevated across populations, it led to fairly divergent alterations in the hippocampus. Here we found that prolonged SD significantly altered abundance of ribosome-associated Per2. Cry1, and Cry2 transcripts in Camk2a+ neurons (increasing Per2 and Cry1, decreasing *Cry2*), while having no significant effect on transcript abundance in PV+ interneurons. Interestingly, our results suggest that SD-driven changes in clock (i.e. Cry1, Cry2, and *Per2*) transcript abundance can be selective, disrupting their usual pattern of expression across the 24-h cycle. Region and cell-type specific differences appeared greater among the auxiliary clock genes Here, we again found substantial heterogeneity in SD driven transcript abundance. Firstly, SD only impacted neocortical populations. Secondly, neocortical neurons responded in a cell-type specific manner. Short and prolonged SD promoted significant increases in neocortical Nfil3 and Dec1 transcript abundance only in PV+ cells and significantly decreased *Rev-Erb □* abundance only in Camk2a+ cells. Recent data suggests that some clock genes and IEGs share common signaling pathways involved sleep-dependent transcriptional regulation (Ingiosi et al., 2019; Sato et al., 2020). If so, regional differences in clock gene and IEG expression may stem from common or interacting pathways.

Built-in redundancy and crosstalk among transcription factors allows for the rapid upregulation of multiple IEGs through overlapping but distinct pathways. Effectors can themselves promote expression of distinct IEGs, further increasing the number of gene programs inducible by a single transcription factor. The potential for a high number of unique but overlapping IEG pathways is borne out by recent RNA single-cell sequencing studies that reveal surprising levels of cell type and subtype IEG variation (Hu et al., 2017; Hvratin et al., 2018; Lacar et al., 2016). This variation also may also serve as powerful

means of responding to network imbalances with tailored gene programs, further supported by recent work suggesting that IEG expressions act as transcriptional signatures of ensemble activity (Sun et al., 2020), reflecting underlying neuronal activity patterns with a high degree of specificity (Tyssowski et al., 2018; Tyssowski and Gray, 2019). Here, using translating ribosome affinity purification (TRAP), we've characterized changes in abundance of ribosome-associated transcripts in excitatory and inhibitory neurons in the mouse hippocampus and neocortex after a brief period of sleep or sleep loss. In doing so, we show that the effect of SD on IEG and clock transcript abundance is not uniform, but is instead more pronounced in excitatory neurons and cortical populations. This may reflect differences in underlying activity, resulting in divergent transcription patterns. Our data suggest that, insofar as abundance of all of these transcripts is regulated by neuronal activity (Yap and Greenberg, 2018), 1) neuronal activation in the hippocampus is reduced relative to neocortex during SD, and 2) PV+ interneuron activity and possibly transcription-activity coupling may vary less as a function of SD than Camk2a+ neuron activity. However, without electrophysiological recordings, we cannot definitively say that differences in overall activity are driving these differences. Future studies should combine FISH, qPCR, and single cell RNA sequencing with chronic in-vivo recordings of hippocampal and neocortical activity across sleep deprivation and ad lib sleep. Attempts should be made recording both putative excitatory and inhibitory cells. We could then correlate region-specific and cell-type specific differences in activity with IEG transcript abundance to find distinct transcriptional signatures driven by sleep loss.

We then interrogated whether total mRNA showed similar region- and cell typespecific differences in SD-driven expression, paralleling the changes in ribosome associated transcript abundance and supporting several recent findings (Delorme et al., 2019; Havekes and Aton, 2020). To do so we used fluorescence in situ hybridization (FISH) to quantify differences in effector (Arc, Homer1a) and transcriptional regulator (Cfos) IEG expression in C57BI6/J mice following 6-h SD or ad lib sleep. This also allowed us to delineate sub regional differences in IEG expression across cortical layers 2/3-6 and hippocampal subregions Dentate Gyrus (DG), CA1, and CA3. To quantify expression among PV+ interneurons, we dichotomized our ROIs into Pvalb expressing (PV+ interneurons) and non-*Pvalb* expressing (all other cells) regions. Our findings largely supported the region- and cell-type specific changes in ribosome-associated transcript abundance. Whereas we found significant increases in Arc, Homer1a, and Cfos expression in non-PV+ cells throughout neocortical layers, neither Arc nor Homer1a levels were significantly altered by SD in any region of the dorsal hippocampus. Only Cfos expression in CA3 of the dorsal hippocampus was significantly altered by SD.In sharp contrast to the IEG expression found among non-PV+ neocortical cells, we observed low overall IEG expression in PV+ interneurons from all areas, suggesting that they were either less activated by SD or that their transcription-activity kinetics were substantially slower relative to their non-PV counterparts. Only Cfos expression in layer 2/3 of the neocortex was found to have increased following SD. Due to less total IEG expression, many PV+ interneurons expressed no detectable IEGs. These non-expressing PV+ interneurons may have hidden SD-driven increases in responsive PV+ interneurons. Consequently, we quantified expression within the subpopulation of PV+ interneurons

which had detectable levels of mRNA expression. We found that SD did not affect expression levels for *Arc* or *Cfos*, but did increase *Homer1a* dots/µm2 when measured across the entire neocortex. Critically, no significant changes in IEG expression were observed in PV+ interneurons in any region of dorsal hippocampus with SD. As a final measure of IEG expression in PV+ interneurons, we quantified the IEG+ proportion of PV+ interneurons in Sleep and SD mice as a function of cell count and ROI area. This would account for variable PV+ cell size. Here we found that the proportion of Arc+ and Cfos+ PV+ interneurons significantly increased for all neocortical layers quantified (with exception of Layer 5) and the whole neocortex. In support of our initial interpretation, no significant changes were found in the dorsal hippocampus.

Prior work has shown that SD can alter IEG expression in ways other than regulating *de novo* transcription. To better understand how sleep and sleep loss differentially impacts IEG expression in various regions and cell types, future studies should combine our experiments with an expanded target list of genes, including their pre-mRNA forms. Moreover, ribosome-associated transcripts are theoretically being prepared for translation. Their protein counterparts would thus offer a closer analog than total mRNA. Future studies should use immunohistochemistry to see if the above differences extend to protein expression.

5.2 Sleep brain rhythm regulation of plasticity-regulated transcripts and memory storage

The Synaptic Homeostasis Hypothesis (SHY) posits that sleep regulates synaptic strength via net synaptic weakening. According to SHY, during wakefulness synapses undergo strengthening that, if unregulated, can attenuate signal to noise ratios and disrupt memory consolidation (Tononi and Cirelli, 2014). During sleep, low frequency network oscillations (slow wave activity; SWA) are proposed to homeostatically weaken synapses to promote memory consolidation. Although partially supported by correlational data, no direct evidence of this function exists. And recent studies looking to characterize SWA's role in sleep dependent weakening have reported conflicting findings (Puentes-Mestril and Aton, 2017; Puentes-Mestril et al., 2019). In chapter IV we began to characterize the relationship between sleep-dependent weakening and SWA by manipulating SWA independently of behavioral state and characterizing subsequent changes in both IEG expression and sleep-associated memory consolidation.

To determine whether SWA is alone sufficient in producing sleep-dependent changes in gene expression, we rhythmically stimulated layer 6 corticothalamic (CT) neurons across 6-h SD in *Ntsr1*::ChR2 mice transgenic lines that constitutively express ChR2 in layer 6 CT neurons. Stimulation frequencies matched those previously shown to augment NREM oscillations in the delta (0.5-4 Hz) and spindle (7-15 Hz) frequency bands (Durkin et al., 2017). By rhythmically activating layer 6 CT neurons in these mice we are able to simulate SWA in a circuit known to coordinate these oscillations during sleep (Chauvette et al., 2010; Contreras et al., 1996; Timofeev and Steriade, 1996). Activating them may then allow us to better mimic natural SWA. We then compared gene expression

in SD stimulated, SD non-stimulated, and *ad lib* sleep mice. We focused our analysis on sleep responsive IEG effectors (Arc, Homer1a, Narp) previously implicated in homeostatic synaptic plasticity. In addition, we quantified the change in Griar1 and Gria2 expression - as additional proxies for synaptic plasticity - and Plk2 and Gephyrin expression - as activity dependent genes likewise implicated in homeostatic synaptic plasticity. We found that rhythmically stimulating Ntsr:: Chr2 mice at 1 or 3 Hz blocked SDdriven increases in Arc and Homer1a. No other gene changed as a function of sleep or was significantly altered by optogenetic stimulation. These results suggest that we were able to mimic SWA and, in doing so, block the effects of sleep loss. That these effects were specific to Arc and Homer1a are important in three ways. Firstly, Arc and Homer1a are critical in the expression of homeostatic synaptic plasticity (Shepherd et al., 2006; Siddoway et al., 2014), with *Homer1a* having been extensively shown to be essential for downscaling (Hu et al., 2010), a phenomenon that closely resembles SHY. Secondly, knocking down either Arc or Homer1a significantly disrupts sleep homeostasis (Ahnaou et al., 2015; Suzuki et al., 2020). SWA is homeostatically regulated (Vyazovskiy et al., 2009), increasing in intensity across prolonged sleep loss and decreasing across a period of sleep. Shy posits that SWA mirrors sleep pressure because it is responsible for normalizing synaptic strengths across sleep (Tononi and Cirelli, 2014). Finally, knocking down Homer1a was recently shown to block sleep induced changes in synaptic composition indicative of synaptic weakening (Diering et al., 2017). If changes in Homer1a and Arc expression reflect homeostatic responses to wake associated potentiation, our data suggests that optogenetic mimicry of SWA was effective in block potentiation.

Unfortunately, our results come with many caveats. Firstly, we were unable to replicate these results when repeated at 0.5 Hz and 1 Hz in Ntsr1-Cre mice virally (AAV)transduced to express ChR2. Electrophysiological recordings from anesthetized mice suggest that 0.5 Hz stimulation is not effective at mimicking SWA. And, while 1 Hz stimulation significantly increased LFP power in the SWA frequency band, we found that these increases were substantially larger in mice constitutively expressing ChR2 as opposed those virally transduced. These differences may explain why AAV-transduced mice were unaffected by optogenetic stimulation. Secondly, we found that a subset of Ntsr1::ChR2 mice underwent seizures while stimulated at 3 Hz. Upon further investigation, it appeared that stimulation of layer 6 CT neurons at 3 Hz was particularly epileptogenic. Although we made efforts to ensure that our results did not include animals that underwent seizures on the day of the experiment, it still brings into question how our stimulation paradigm affects the underlying thalamocortical circuitry. We also found frequencies < 3 Hz to be progressively less epileptogenic, with protocols at \leq 1Hz producing no discernible seizures in naive mice. For this reason, we capped our stimulation frequencies at 1 Hz and began exclusively using AAV-transduced mice. Using AAV transduction allowed us to localize expression of ChR2 to V1, theoretically lessening the possibility of runaway excitation. Finally, these results are still preliminary and need additional control and experimental groups to fully characterize how our manipulation is impacting cortical networks and whether it approximates naturally occurring SWA.

Mimicry of a naturally occurring oscillation presents many challenges and it remains unclear whether boosting cortical activity at SWA frequencies can effectively mimic the firing dynamics present during SWA. This is particularly important given recent findings suggesting that altered firing dynamics during SWA can predispose neurons towards synaptic weakening (Bartram et al., 2017; Gonzalez-Rueda et al., 2018). Future studies should instead optogenetically disrupt SWA to determine whether it's required for sleep-dependent synaptic weakening. Our laboratory has shown that optogenetic inhibition of layer 6 CT neurons during NREM in *Ntsr1*::Arch3 disrupts neocortical SWA (**Figure 5.1**). If disruption of SWA in sleeping mice is found to promote higher *Arc* and *Homer1a* expression relative to non-stimulated mice, it would suggest that SWA is required to sleep dependent weakening and it would help clarify our initial findings.

In this study we also sought to determine if SWA is alone sufficient in rescuing behavior in a visual recognition task shown to be sleep dependent. Adapted from (Cooke et al., 2015), this task resembles a novel object recognition task but uses oriented gratings in lieu of physical objects. We first confirmed that this task was sleep-dependent, finding that SD effectively blocked recognition of the familiar grating, resulting in similar levels of interaction between the familiar and novel oriented gratings. We then rhythmically stimulated SD Ntsr1:: ChR2 mice at 3 Hz and compared their performance to nonstimulated SD and ad lib sleep groups. Our results were inconclusive but promising. Although we found that SWA mimicry improved performance of the sleep deprived Ntsr1::ChR2 mice, increasing novel interaction to wild-type (WT) control levels, we found no significant difference in performance between non-stimulated ad lib sleep and SD Ntsr1::ChR2 mice. Nevertheless, SWA appeared to improve visual recognition to levels parallel with WT control mice while sleeping groups, although not significant, tended to show greater preference for novel oriented gratings. There are two caveats that should be considered when interpreting these results. Firstly, although several studies suggest



Figure 5.1: Optogenetic disruption of SWA. Left: SWS-specific inhibition of layer 6 corticothalamic neurons (green) results in significant attenuation of SWA (.5-4 Hz) during SWS, relative to control conditions shown in red. Right: Following cessation of optogenetic inhibition, SWA returns to baseline levels. p Indicates p < 0.05 in laser versus no laser condition.

that SWA facilitates memory consolidation, how it does remains unclear (Puentes-Mestril et al., 2019). One line of research suggests that SWA coordinates interregional dialogue by coupling oscillating circuits. Temporal coupling between neocortical (SWA), hippocampal (theta/Sharp Wave ripples), and thalamic (spindle) oscillations would allow for the transfer of information-including visual information- between brain regions and their subsequent storage (Durkin et al., 2017; Maingret et al., 2016; Miyamoto et al., 2016; Rothschild et al., 2017). Mimicking SWA may then be insufficient in rescuing visual memory in the absence of other oscillations. Secondly, it's unclear whether our visual recognition task reflects visual memory consolidation or is instead solely a measure of shifted tuning properties. Indeed, OSRP, the basis of our behavior, is measured as the change in firing rates responses to gratings of a specific orientation (Aton et al., 2014). How or if this information is then relayed to the hippocampus is unknown. Future studies should supplement behavior with chronic multi-unit recordings of targeted regions and use additional, better characterized, behaviors such as novel object recognition. This would clarify the effects of SWA mimicry as it relates to visual memory consolidation and network oscillations. Finally, future studies should target higher-order cortical regions, such as the perirhinal cortex, implicated in recognition memory (Murray et al., 1999). Targeted mimicry of SWA in these regions would address the ambiguities present in our novel orientation task.

The goals of this thesis have been to clarify the underlying mechanisms of sleep dependent synaptic weakening and to interrogate the assumption of uniform and global sleep dependent mechanisms. Additional studies should investigate specific examples of



Figure 5.2 Future experimental design. Anesthetized mice expressing hM4Di within layer 6 corticothalamic neurons have LGN and V1 simultaneously recorded while undergoing visual stimulation to induce OSRP. (A) Baseline tuning curves are recorded to determine orientation preference, followed by 30 minute continuous presentation of a novel oriented grating. (B) Tuning curves are then re-measured to confirm successful OSRP induction. (C) Mice are given an intraperitoneal (i.p.) injection of CNO. Thirty minutes following CNO injection, tuning curves are measured again to assess the effect of disrupting V1-to-LGN communication.

sleep-dependent potentiation to better characterize the heterogeneity of sleep dependent mechanisms. A prime example is orientation specific response potentiation (OSRP), a form of sleep-dependent plasticity found within the primary visual cortex (V1) and lateral geniculate nucleus (LGN). As mentioned above, OSRP is elicited by the presentation of a novel visual stimulus (prolonged exposure to an oriented grating of specific orientation) and manifests as an increase in firing rate response to gratings of the same orientation during subsequent hours (Aton et al., 2014; Durkin and Aton, 2016). Critically, consolidation of OSRP in V1 appears to involve sleep-dependent synaptic strengthening, rather than weakening - a counterexample to the predictions of SHY. And its expression in V1 relies on NREM oscillations to relay information regarding orientation tuning from the LGN. Disruption of NREM oscillations, via optogenetic disruption of corticothalamic feedback from V1 to LGN, inhibits sleep-dependent consolidation of OSRP in V1. Using chemogenetics to alter its underlying circuit, future studies should characterize how SWA may mediate this form of sleep dependent plasticity and characterize concomitant changes in IEG expression to better understand how it may relate to other sleepdependent phenomenon (Figure 5.2).

5.3 Conclusion

In conclusion, the studies presented in this thesis advance our understanding of sleep by addressing two overarching questions, namely: 1) to what extent is sleep dependent weakening uniform and global and 2) what feature of sleep promotes synaptic weakening. Our TRAP study reveals significant heterogeneity in how sleep alters gene expression across cells types and regions. And begins to delineate subregional differences in neocortical and hippocampal SD-driven gene expression. Future studies

will need to characterize differences in neocortical and hippocampal activity during SD and correlate these differences to divergent gene expression patterns. Doing so will clarify the transcriptional signature of SD in these regions. As it stands, my thesis work challenges the predominant framework by which most of the sleep field operates: that sleep is a homogenous, global, and uniform process. Instead, sleep is heterogeneous, impacting regions and cell types in fairly divergent ways. Future research should reframe sleep-associated weakening as a heterogenous process with unknown levels of region and cell type specificity. Moreover, our optogenetic study begins delineating the role of SWA from other sleep components in sleep dependent synaptic plasticity and provides an experimental paradigm that can be built on. It is the first preliminary work to suggest that mimicry of SWA can replicate the effects of natural sleep in visual memory consolidation and IEG expression. In doing so, it offers a means of interrogating the mechanism underlying sleep-associated synaptic weakening. Future will need to refine these methods to better isolate SWA from sleep. Finally, in this thesis, we offer a thorough overview of sleep oscillations and their purported functions while presenting a unifying theory on oscillatory mediated synaptic plasticity. Overall, my thesis work significantly contributes to the field by challenging the SHY framework while offering a means of interrogating some it's proposed underlying mechanisms.

5.4 References

Ahnaou, A., Raeymaekers, L., Steckler, T., and Drinkenbrug, W.H.I.M. (2015). Relevance of the metabotropic glutamate receptor (mGluR5) in the regulation of NREM-REM sleep cycle and homeostasis: evidence from mGluR5 (-/-) mice Behav Brain Res 282.

Aton, S.J., Suresh, A., Broussard, C., and Frank, M.G. (2014). Sleep promotes cortical response potentiation following visual experience. Sleep *37*, 1163-1170.

Bartram, J., Kahn, M.C., Tuohy, S., Paulsen, O., Wilson, T., and Mann, E.O. (2017). Cortical Up states induce the selective weakening of subthreshold synaptic inputs. Nature Communications *8*, 665.

Calais, J.B., Ojopi, E.B., Morya, E., Sameshima, K., and Ribeiro, S. (2015). Experiencedependent upregulation of multiple plasticity factors in the hippocampus during early REM sleep. Neurobiol Learn Mem *122*, 19-27.

Chauvette, S., Volgushev, M., and Timofeev, I. (2010). Origin of active states in local neocortical networks during slow sleep oscillation. Cereb Cortex *20*, 2660-2674.

Cirelli, C., Gutierrez, C.M., and Tononi, G. (2004). Extensive and divergent effects of sleep and wakefulness on brain gene expression. Neuron *41*, 35-43.

Cohen, S.M., Ma, H., Kuchibhotla, K.V., Watson, B.O., Buzsaki, G., Froemke, R.C., and Tsien, R.W. (2016). Excitation-Transcription Coupling in Parvalbumin-Positive Interneurons Employs a Novel CaM Kinase-Dependent Pathway Distinct from Excitatory Neurons. . Neuron *90*, 292-307.

Contreras, D., Destexhe, A., Sejnowski, T.J., and Steriade, M. (1996). Control of spatiotemporal coherence of a thalamic oscillation by corticothalamic feedback. Science *274*, 771-774.

Cooke, S.F., Komorowski, R.W., Kaplan, E.S., Gavornik, J.P., and Bear, M.F. (2015). Visual recognition memory, manifested as long-term habituation, requires synaptic plasticity in V1. Nat Neurosci *18*, 262-271.

Delorme, J.E., Kodoth, V., and Aton, S.J. (2019). Sleep loss disrupts Arc expression in dentate gyrus neurons. Neurobiol Learn Mem *160*, 73-82.

Diekelmann, S., and Born, J. (2010). The memory function of sleep. Nat Rev Neurosci *11*, 114-126.

Diering, G.H., Nirujogi, R.S., Roth, R.H., Worley, P.F., Pandey, A., and Huganir, R.L. (2017). Homer1a drives homeostatic scaling-down of excitatory synapses during sleep. Science *355*, 511-515.

Durkin, J., and Aton, S.J. (2016). Sleep-Dependent Potentiation in the Visual System Is at Odds with the Synaptic Homeostasis Hypothesis. Sleep *39*, 155-159.

Durkin, J., Suresh, A.K., Colbath, J., Broussard, C., Wu, J., Zochowski, M., and Aton, S.J. (2017). Cortically coordinated NREM thalamocortical oscillations play an essential, instructive role in visual system plasticity. Proceedings National Academy of Sciences *114*, 10485-10490.

Elliot, A.S., Huber, J.D., O'Callaghan, J.P., Rosen, C.L., and Miller, D.B. (2004). A review of sleep deprivation studies evaluating the brain transcriptome. Springerplus *3*.

Fleischmann, A., Hvalby, O., Jensen, V., Strekalova, T., Zacher, C., Layer, L.E., Kvello, A., Reschke, M., Spanagel, R., Sprengel, R., *et al.* (2003). Impaired long-term memory and NR2A-type NMDA receptor-dependent synaptic plasticity in mice lacking c-Fos in the CNS J Neurosci *23*, 9116-9122.

Gonzalez-Rueda, A., Pedrosa, V., Feord, R.C., Clopath, C., and Paulsen, O. (2018). Activity-Dependent Downscaling of Subthreshold Synaptic Inputs during Slow-Wave-Sleep-like Activity In Vivo. Neuron *97*, 1244-1252.

Havekes, R., and Aton, S.J. (2020). Impacts of Sleep Loss Versus Waking Experience on Brain Plasticity: Parallel or Orthogonal? Trends in Neuroscience *43*, 385-393.

Hu, J.H., Park, J.M., Park, S., Xiao, B., Dehoff, M.H., Kim, S., Hayashi, T., Schwarz, M.K., Huganir, R.L., Seeburg, P.H., *et al.* (2010). Homeostatic scaling requires group I mGluR activation mediated by Homer1a. Neuron *68*, 1128-1142.

Hu, P., Fabyanic, E., Kwon, D.Y., Tang, S., Zhou, Z., and Wu, H. (2017). Dissecting Cell-Type Composition and Activity-Dependent Transcriptional State in Mammalian Brains by Massively Parallel Single-Nucleus RNA-Seq Mol Cell *68*, 1006-1015.

Hvratin, S., Hochbaum, D.R., Nagy, M.A., Cicconet, M., Robertson, K., Cheadle, L., Zilionis, R., Ratner, A., Borges-Monroy, R., Klein, A.M., *et al.* (2018). Single-cell analysis of experience-dependent transcriptomic states in the mouse visual cortex Nat Neurosci *21*, 120-129.

Ingiosi, A.M., Schoch, H., Wintler, T., Singletary, K.G., Righelli, D., Roser, L.G., Medina, E., Risso, D., Frank, M.G., and Peixoto, L. (2019). Shank3 modulates sleep and expression of circadian transcription factors Elife *8*.

Jaubert, P.J., Golub, M.S., Lo, Y.Y., Germann, S.L., Dehoff, M.N., Worley, P.F., Kang, S.H., Schwarz, M.K., Seeburg, P.H., and Berman, R.F. (2007). Complex, multimodal behavioral profile of the Homer1 knockout mouse. Genes Brain Behav *6*, 141-154.

Klinzing, J.G., Niethard, N., and Born, J. (2019). Mechanisms of systems memory consolidation during sleep. Nature Neuroscience *22*, 1598-1610.

Lacar, B., Linker, S.B., Jaeger, B.N., Krishnaswami, S.R., Barron, J.J., Kelder, M.J.E., Parylak, S.L., Panquola, A.C.M., Venepally, P., Novotny, M., *et al.* (2016). Nuclear RNA-seq of single neurons reveals molecular signatures of activation. Nat Communications 7.

Lin, Y., Bloodgood, B.L., Hauser, J.L., Lapan, A.D., Koon, A.C., Kim, T.-K., L.S., H., Malik, A.N., and Greenberg, M.E. (2008). Activity-dependent regulation of inhibitory synapse development by Npas4 Nature *455*, 1198-1204.

Maingret, N., Girardeau, G., Todorova, R., Goutierre, M., and Zugaro, M. (2016). Hippocampo-cortical coupling mediates memory consolidation during sleep. Nat Neurosci *19*, 959-964.

Maret, S., Dorsaz, S., Gurcel, L., Pradervand, S., Petit, B., Pfister, C., Hagenbuchle, O., O'Hara, B.F., Franken, P., and Tafti, M. (2007). Homer1 is a core brain molecular correlate of sleep loss. PNAS *104*, 20090-20095.

Maret, S., Dorsaz, S., Gurcel, L., Pradervand, S., Petit, B., Pfister, C., Hagenbuchle, O., O'Hara, B.F., Franken, P., and Tafti, M. (2008). Homer1a is a core brain molecular correlate of sleep loss. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA *104*, 20090-20095.

Miyamoto, D., Hirai, D., Fung, C.C., Inutsuka, A., Odagawa, M., Suzuki, T., Boehringer, R., Adaikkan, C., Matsubara, C., Matsuki, N., *et al.* (2016). Top-down cortical input during NREM sleep consolidates perceptual memory. Science *352*, 1315-1318.

Murray, E. A., & Bussey, T. J. (1999). Perceptual-mnemonic functions of the perirhinal cortex. Trends in Cognitive Sciences, 3(4), 142–151. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1364-6613(99)01303-0

Novkovic, T., Mittmann, T., and Manahan-Vaughn, D. (2015). BDNF contributes to the facilitation of hippocampal synaptic plasticity and learning enabled by environmental enrichment Hippocampus *25*, 1-15.

Plath, N., Ohana, O., Dammermann, B., Errington, M.L., Schmitz, D., Gross, C., Mao, X., Engelsberg, A., Mahlke, C., Welzl, H., *et al.* (2006). Arc/Arg3.1 is essential for the consolidation of synaptic plasticity and memories. Neuron *52*, 437-444.

Puentes-Mestril, C., and Aton, S.J. (2017). Linking network activity to synaptic plasticity during sleep: hypotheses and recent data. Frontiers in Neural Circuits *11*, doi: 10.3389/fncir.2017.00061.

Puentes-Mestril, C., Roach, J., Niethard, N., Zochowski, M., and Aton, S.J. (2019). How rhythms of the sleeping brain tune memory and synaptic plasticity. Sleep *42*, pii: zsz095. Rothschild, G., Eban, E., and Frank, L.M. (2017). A cortical–hippocampal–cortical loop of information processing during memory consolidation. Nat Neurosci *20*, 251-259.

Sato, S., Bunney, B.G., Vawter, M.P., Bunney, W.E., and Sassone-Corsi, P. (2020). Homer1a Undergoes Bimodal Transcriptional Regulation by CREB and the Circadian Clock. Neuroscience *434*, 161-170.

Shepherd, J.D., Rumbaugh, G., Wu, J., Chowdhury, S., Plath, N., Kuhl, D., Huganir, R.L., and Worley, P.F. (2006). Arc/Arg3.1 mediates homeostatic synaptic scaling of AMPA receptors. Neuron *52*, 475-484.

Siddoway, B., Hou, H., and Xia, H. (2014). Molecular mechanisms of homeostatic synaptic downscaling. Neuropharmacology *78*, 38-44.

Sun, X., Bernstein, M.J., Meng, M., Rao, M., Rao, S., Sorensen, A.T., Yao, L., Zhang, X., Anikeeva, P.O., and Lin, Y. (2020). Functionally Distinct Neuronal Ensembles within the Memory Engram Cell *181*, 410-423.

Suzuki, A., Yanagisawa, M., and Greene, R.W. (2020). Loss of Arc attenuates the behavioral and molecular responses for sleep homeostasis in mice. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA *117*, 10547-10553.

Taishi, P., Sanchez, C., Wang, Y., Fang, J., Harding, J.W., and Krueger, J.M. (2001). Conditions that affect sleep alter the expression of molecules associated with synaptic plasticity. Am J Physiol *281*, R839-R845.

Terao, A., Wisor, J.P., Peyron, C., Apte-Deshpande, A., Wurts, S.W., Edgar, D.M., and Kilduff, T.S. (2006). Gene expression in the rat brain during sleep deprivation and recovery sleep: an Affymetrix GeneChip(R) study. Neuroscience *137*, 593-605.

Thompson, C.L., Wisor, J.P., Lee, C.-K., Pathak, S.D., Gerashchenko, D., Smith, K.A., Fischer, S.R., Kuan, C.L., Sunkin, S.M., Ng, L.L., *et al.* (2010). Molecular and Anatomical Signatures of Sleep Deprivation in the Mouse Brain. Front Neurosci *4*.

Timofeev, I., and Steriade, M. (1996). Low-frequency rhythms in the thalamus of intactcortex and decorticated cats. J Neurophysiol *76*, 4152-4168.

Tononi, G., and Cirelli, C. (2006). Sleep function and synaptic homeostasis. Sleep Medicine Reviews *10*, 49-62.

Tononi, G., and Cirelli, C. (2014). Sleep and the price of plasticity: From synaptic and cellular homeostasis to memory consolidation and integration. Neuron *81*, 12-34.

Tyssowski, K.M., DeStefino, N.R., Cho, J.-H., Dunn, C.J., Poston, R.G., Carty, C.E., Jones, R.D., Chang, S.M., Romeo, R., Wurzelmann, M.K., *et al.* (2018). Different Neuronal Activity Patterns Induce Different Gene Expression Programs. Neuron *98*, 530-546.

Tyssowski, K.M., and Gray, J.M. (2019). The neuronal stimulation–transcription coupling map. Curr Opin Neurobiol.

Vyazovskiy, V.V., Olscese, U., Lazimy, Y.M., Faraguna, U., Esser, S.K., Williams, J.C., Cirelli, C., and Tononi, G. (2009). Cortical firing and sleep homeostasis. Neuron *63*, 865-878.

Yap, E.-L., and Greenberg, M.E. (2018). Activity-Regulated Transcription: Bridging the Gapbetween Neural Activity and Behavior. Neuron *100*, 330-348.